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Western Refining achieved number of significant objectives during the past twelve months and look back at 2010 with

great sense of pride

As mentioned to you in 2008 and 2009 the economy and other factors created unprecedented challenges fur refiners In

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS response we developed an aggressive plan for 2010 to maximize the value and productivity of our assets Our strategy laid

out certain goals with the intent of building foundation to be prepared for healthier economy and more positive

refining environment Today am pleased to
report

that the Company is now reaping some of the benefits of that hard work

One of Westerns major actions during the year was to temporarily suspend refining operations at the Yorktown refinery and

target our efforts on enhancing the value of Yorktowns refined products terminal and storage facility Our expectations

remain high for Yorktown as strategic and valuable east-coast asset for the Company In addition we believe the

connection to the Colonial pipeline scheduled for completion in June 2011 will give us access to more refined product

adding further value to our operations
in

Virginia

In 2010 we also completed the consolidation of operations at the Bloomfield rpJineiy with those of our Gallup refinery

It is important to note that this integration along with other expense reduclina measures implemented throughout the

year contributed to our target of $50 million in annualized cost savings We exceeded that target and expect those

savings to be sustainable

Our retail business continues to be profitable consistent with that groups steady year-to-year performance We believe we

serve our retail markets with respected brand of convenience and value and we are proud of the accomplishments of our

retail stores

As part of our plan to address the challenges created in 08 and 09 our wholesale business underwent broad changes

including significant cost savings measures The business has emerged strongly from these changes and reflected

significant recovery during 2010 Were very proud of the commitment dedication and performance of our Wholesale Group

have mentioned cost-savings measures number of times in this letter because meeting those goals was critical to our

plans During 2010 we were able to reduce our debt by $47 million We concurrently worked closely with our lenders to

amend our credit facilities and favorably adjust certain financial covenants These actions have given us added flexibility in

making decisions and investments that are in the best long-term interest of the Company As the economy continues to

show some gains and refining margins improve we plan to accelerate actions to further address our debt structure and

positively impact our balance sheet

Over the past six years our capital expenditures have been substantial Some of that cost was to enhance our technology

and infrastructure to broaden our refining capabilities But to great degree most of those expenditures were driven by

regulatory requirements The bulk of our regulatory spending is behind us and as result our capital spending forecast for

2011 is $66 million This compares to $116 million in 09 and $222 million in 08 Obviously this is an advantage going

forward in that we can redirect some of our free cash flow to debt service and further strengthen our balance sheet

believe that we have two of the best most profitable refineries in the industry for their size Confirmation of that is the

fact that during the year our refineries in El Paso and Gallup began experiencing an advantage that continues to be
very

positive Over several years we broadened our ability to refine wider range of crude inputs That ability in combination

with our inland locations allows us to favorably purchase and refine crude oil with price based upon West Texas

Intermediate Wil crude which is currently
at

significantly
lower

price
than other like crudes Our El Paso and Gallup

refineries are situated to take full advantage of this opportunity

The people who work at Western Refining continue to be the heroes of our Company Their dedication to excellence is evident

in our outstanding safety and environmental records as well as in their.4ttention to serving our broad customer base and in

ensuring that fuel supplies are available when and where they are needed That dedication was demonstrated in early 2011

when record-breaking cold snap hit El Paso making refining operations extremely difficult am very proud of how our

people handled that situation and the manner in which they dealt with the hardships of forced refinery shutdown

Everyone in the Company was affected by that event and we extend our thanks and appreciation for their excellent

response and hard work

Finally to our shareholders wish to say thank you for remaining steadfast as we worked through two
very

difficult years

and headed into 2010 We faced significant challenges but we believe our plans to meet those challenges provided avery

solid foundation forfuture growth am proud to say that 2010 reflected major achievements in that regard and it is my

belief that today we are stronger better Company Going forward we will continue to build this Company for long-term

value while doing our part
to maintain the respect we have among our customers the industry and in the communities

where we live and work

Paul Foster

Executive Chairman and

Chairman of the Board

Western Refining Inc
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Forward-Looking Statements

As provided by the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 certain

statements included throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in particular under the sections entitled

Item Business Item Legal Proceedings and Item Managements Discussion and Analysis qf Financial

Condition and Resultc of Operations relating to matters that are not historical fact are forward-looking statements

that represent managements beliefs and assumptions based on currently available information These forward-

looking statements relate to matters such as our industry business strategy goals and expectations concerning our

market position future operations including our expected timeframe for restarting refining operations at our

Yorktown refinery margins profitability deferred taxes capital expenditures liquidity and capital resources our

working capital requirements our ability to improve our capital structure through asset sales and/or through certain

financings and other financial and operating information Forward-looking statements also include those regarding

the recommencing of refining operations at our Yorktown facility the timing of completion of certain operational

improvements we are making at our refineries future operational or refinery efficiencies and cost savings future

refining capacity timing of future maintenance turnarounds the amount or sufficiency of future cash flows and

earnings growth future expenditures and future contributions related to pension and postretirement obligations our

ability to manage our inventory price exposure through commodity derivative instruments the impact on our

business of existing and future state and federal regulatory requirements environmental loss contingency accruals

projected remediation costs or requirements and the expected outcomes of legal proceedings in which we are

involved We have used the words anticipate assume believe budget continue could estimate

expect intend may plan potential predict project will future and similarterms and phrases to

identify forward-looking statements in this ieport

Forward looking statements reflect our current expectations regarding future events results or outcomes

These expectations may or may not be realized Some of these expectations may be based upon assumptions or

judgments that
prove to be incorrect In addition our business and operations involve numerous risks and

uncertainties many of which are beyond our control which could result in our expectations not being realized

or otherwise materially affect our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Actual events results and outcomes may differ materially from our expectations due to variety of factors

Although it is not possible to identify all of these factors they include among others the following

worsening of the economic downturn and instability and volatility in the financial markets

changes in the underlying demand for our refined products

availability costs and price volatility of crude oil other refinery feedstocks and refined products

availability of renewable fuels for blending and Renewal Identification Numbers or RINs to meet

Renewable Fuel Standards or RFS obligations

changes in crack spreads

changes in the spread between West Texas Intermediate or WTI crude oil and West Texas Sour or WTS
crude oil also known as the sweet/sour spread

changes in the spread between WTI crude oil and Maya crude oil also known as the light/heavy spread

changes in the spread between WTI crude oil and Dated Brent crude oil

adverse changes in th.e credit ratings assigned to our debt instruments

conditions in the capital markets

construction of new or expansion of existing product pipelines in the areas that we serve

actions of customers and competitors

changes in fuel and utility costs incurred by our refineries

the effect of weather-related problems on our operations



disruptions due to equipment interruption pipeline disruptions or failure at our or third-party facilities

execution of planned capital projects cost overruns relating to those projects and failure to realize the

expected benefits from those projects

effects of and costs relating to compliance with current and future local state and federal environmental

economic climate change safety tax and other laws policies and regulations and enforcement initiatives

rulings judgments or settlements in litigation or other legal or regulatory matters including unexpected

environmental remediation costs in excess of any reserves or insurance coverage

the price availability and acceptance of alternative fuels and alternative fuel vehicles

operating hazards natural disasters casualty losses acts of terrorism and other matters beyond our

control and

other factors discussed in more detail under Part Item IA Risk Factors of this report which are

incorporated herein by this reference

Any one of these factors or combination of these factors could materially affect our results of operations and

could influence whether any forward-looking statements ultimately prove to be accurate You are urged to consider

these factors carefully in evaluating any forward-looking statements and are cautioned not to place undue reliance

on these forward-looking statements

Although we believe that our plans intentions and expectations reflected in or suggested by the forward-

looking statements we make in this report are reasonable we can provide no assurance that such plans intentions or

expectations will be achieved These statements are based on assumptions made by us based on our experience and

perception of historical trends current conditions expected future developments and other factors that we believe

are appropriate in the circumstances Such statements are subject to number of risks and uncertainties many of

which are beyond our control The forward-looking statements included herein are made only as of the date of this

report and we are not required to update any information to reflect events or circumstances that may occur after the

date of this report except as required by applicable law



PART

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K all references to Western Refining the Company Western we
us and our refer to Western Refining Inc or WNR and the entities that became its subsidiaries upon closing of

our initial public offering including Western Refining Company L.P or Western Refining LP and Giant

Industries Inc or Giant and its subsidiaries which became wholly-owned subsidiaries on May 31 2007 unless

the context otherwise requires or where otherwise indicated Any references to the Company prior to this date

exclude the operations of Giant

Item Business

Overview

We are an independent crude oil refiner and marketer of refined products and also operate service stations and

convenience stores We own and operate two refineries with total crude oil throughput capacity of approximately

151000 barrels per day or bpd In addition to our 128000 bpd refinery in El Paso Texas we also own and operate

23000 bpd refinery near Gallup New Mexico Until September 2010 we operated 70000 bpd refinery near

Yorktown Virginia and until November 2009 we operated 17000 bpd refinery near Bloomfield New Mexico We

temporarily suspended refining operations at our Yorktown facility in September 2010 and indefinitely suspended

refining operations at the Bloomfield refinery in November 2009 We continue to operate Yorktown and Bloomfield as

product distribution terminals and supply our refined products to those areas Our primary operating areas encompass

West Texas Arizona New Mexico Utah Colorado and the Mid-Atlantic region In addition to the refineries we also

own and operate stand-alone refined product distribution terminals in Albuquerque New Mexico Yorktown and

Bloomfield as well as asphalt terminals in Phoenix and Tucson Arizona Albuquerque and El Paso At February 25

2011 we also own and operate 150 retail service stations and convenience stores in Arizona Colorado and New

Mexico fleet of crude oil and refined product truck transports and wholesale petroleum products distributor that

operates in Arixona California Colorado Nevada New Mexico Texas and Utah

We were incorporated in September 2005 under Delaware law In January 2006 we completed an initial public

offering and our stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange or NYSE under the symbol WNR Our

principal offices are located in El Paso Texas

On May 31 2007 we completed the acquisition of Giant Under the terms of the merger agreement we

acquired 100% of Giants 14639312 outstanding shares for $77.00 per share in cash for total purchase price of

$1149.2 million funded primarily through $1125.0 million secured term loan In connection with the

acquisition we borrowed an additional $275.0 million in July 2007 when we paid off and retired Giants 8%

and 11% Senior Subordinated Notes Prior to the acquisition of Giant we generated substantially all of our revenues

from our refining operations in El Paso With the acquisition of Giant we also gained diverse mix of

complementary retail and wholesale businesses

Following the acquisition of Giant we began reporting our operating results in three business segments the

refining group the wholesale group and the retail group Our refining group operates the two refineries and related

refined product distribution terminals and asphalt terminals At the refineries we refine crude oil and other

feedstocks into finished products such as gasoline diesel fuel jet fuel and asphalt Our refineries market finished

products to diverse customer base including wholesale distributors and retail chains Our wholesale group

distributes gasoline diesel fuel and lubricant products Our retail group operates service stations and convenience

stores and sells gasoline diesel fuel and merchandise See Note Segment Information in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report for detailed information on our operating results

by segment

Refining Segment

Our refining group currently operates two refineries one in El Paso Texas the EL Paso refinery and one near

Gallup New Mexico the Gallup refinery Both of our refineries have their own refined product distribution

terminals In addition we operate three stand-alone refined product distribution terminals in Albuquerque New



Mexico Yorktown Virginia and Bloomfield New Mexico Our refining group operates crude oil gathering

pipeline system in the Four Corners region of New Mexico and Company-owned pipeline that runs from Southeast

to Northwest New Mexico or Texas-New Mexico pipeline The pipeline can transport crude oil from Southeast

New Mexico to the Four Corners region and south from Lynch New Mexico to Jal New Mexico We do not

currently transport crude via pipeline from Southeast New Mexico We presently use sections of the pipeline to

deliver crude oil to our Gallup refinery and to transport crude oil for unrelated third parties This pipeline provides

us with an alternative method of transportation within New Mexico and an alternative supply of crude oil for our

Gallup refinery Our refining operations also include an asphalt plant in El Paso and four asphalt terminals in

El Paso Phoenix Tucson and Albuquerque

In September 2010 due to the continued effect of unfavorable economic conditions in the refining market

especially in the Mid-Atlantic region and the resulting financial performance of our Yorktown refinery we

temporarily suspended refining operations at the Yorktown facility and will operate Yorktown as refined products

distribution terminal to supply refined products to the region in the near term We anticipate restarting refining

operations in Yorktown during 2013 We will continue to monitor our Yorktown long-lived assets both operating

and idled and capital projects for potential asset impairments or project write-offs until conditions improve

Changes in market conditions as well as changes in assumptions used to test for recoverability and to determine fair

value could result in significant impairment charges or project write-offs in the future thus affecting our earnings

See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis ot Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical

Accounting Policies and Estimates Long-lived Assets

Until November 2009 our operations in Bloomfield included both crude oil refining and product distribution

During the fourth quarter of 2009 we decided to consolidate the refining operations of the Gallup and Bloomfield

refineries into single operation at the Gallup refinery to eliminate certain operating costs while maintaining the

capability to process approximately the same volumes of crude that we had previously processed through the two

refineries We continue to supply refined products to the Four Corners area through ongoing operations at the

Bloomfield product distribution terminal and by utilizing recent pipeline connection and long-term exchange

supply agreement Through the long-term exchange agreement we supply barrels to the Bloomfield product

distribution terminal in exchange for barrels produced at the El Paso refinery In the latter part of the fourth quarter

of 2009 as result of the indefinite suspension of refining activities at the Bloomfield refinery we recorded non

cash asset impairment charge of $52.8 million and incurred approximately $2.2 million in other costs primarily

related to employee severance programs for the Bloomfield refinery During the fourth quarter of 2010 we

performed an analysis of specific assets that we had previously planned to relocate from our Bloomfield facility to

our Gallup refinery As result of this analysis we recorded an additional non cash impairment charge of

$9.1 million See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations Major Influences on Results of Operations Long-lived Asset Impairment Loss

Principal Products Our refineries make various grades of gasoline diesel fuel jet fuel and other products

from crude oil other feedstocks and blending components We also acquire finished products through exchange

agreements and from various third-party suppliers We sell these products through our own wholesale group
and

service stations independent wholesalers and retailers commercial accounts and sales and exchanges with major

oil companies See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations for detail on production by refinery The following table summarizes sales percentage by product

for the years indicated

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Gasoline 54.0% 57.2% 48.Q%

Diesel fuel 32.3 30.2 38.6

Jet fuel 5.6 4.6 5.1

Asphalt 2.5 2.7 1.9

Other 5.6 5.3 5.5

Total sales percentage by type 100.0% 100.0% lOftO%



Customers We sell variety of refined products to our diverse customer base No single customer accounted

for more than 10% of our consolidated net sales for 2010

All of our refining sales were domestic sales in the United States except
for sales of gasoline and diesel fuel for

export into Juarez Mexico The sales for export were to PMI Trading Limited an affiliate of Petroleos Mexicanos

the Mexican state-owned oil company and accounted for approximately 8.3% 8.5% and 8.3% of our consolidated

net sales during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

We also purchase additional refined products from third parties to supplement supply to our customers These

products are similar to the products that we currently manufacture

Competition We operate primarily in West Texas Arizona New Mexico Utah Colorado and the Mid-

Atlantic region We supply refined products to these areas from our refineries from other refineries in these regions

and from refineries located in other regions via interstate pipelines These areas have substantial refining capacity

and we also compete with offshore refiners that deliver product by water transport

Petroleum refining and marketing is highly competitive The principal competitive factors affecting us are

costs of crude oil and other feedstocks refinery efficiency operating costs refinery product mix and costs of

product distribution and transportation Due to their geographic diversity larger and more complex refineries

integrated operations and greater resources some of our competitors may be better able to withstand volatile

market conditions compete on the basis of price obtain crude oil in times of shortage and bear the economic risk

inherent in all phases of the refining industry

In the Southwest the El Paso and Gallup refineries primarily compete with Valero Energy Corp Con

ocoPhillips Company Alon USA Energy Inc Holly Corporation Tesoro Corporation Chevron Products Com

pany or Chevron and Suncor Energy Inc as well as refineries in other regions of the country that serve the regions

we serve through pipelines

The areas where we sell refined products are also supplied by various refined product pipelines Any

expansions or additional product supplied by these third-party pipelines could put downward
pressure on refined

product prices in these areas

When in operation as refinery our Yorktown facility in the Mid-Atlantic region primarily competed with

Sunoco Inc Valero Energy Corp ConocoPhillips Company Hess Corporation and other refineries in the Gulf

Coast via the Colonial Pipeline that runs from the Gulf Coast area to New Jersey We also competed with offshore

refiners that deliver product by water transport to the region

To the extent that climate change legislation is passed imposing greenhouse gas restrictions on domestic

refiners all domestic refiners will be at competitive disadvantage to offshore refineries In November 2010 the

State of New Mexico adopted regulations allowing New Mexico to participate in regional greenhouse

cap-and trade program through the Western Climate Initiative The regulation becomes effective in 2012 unless

the current New Mexico administration reverses the regulations or postpones the effective date Our Gallup refinery

along with other industrial facilities in New Mexico will be required to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions by

2% per year between 2012 and 2020 or obtain emission credits from other regulated facilities The program will not

be initiated unless 100 million tons of emissions are available regionally

Southwest

El Paso Refinery

Our El Paso refinery has crude oil throughput capacity of 128000 bpd with approximately 4.3 million barrels

of storage capacity finished product terminal and an asphalt plant and terminal

This refinery is well situated to serve two separate geographic areas allowing us diversified market pricing

exposure Tucson and Phoenix typically reflect West Coast market pricing structure while El Paso Albuquerque

and Juarez Mexico typically reflect Gulf Coast market pricing structure

Process Summary Our El Paso refinery is nominal 128000 bpd crude oil throughput cracking facility that

has historically run high percentage of WTI crude oil to optimize the yields of higher value refined products that



currently account for over 90% of our production output With the completion of our gasoline desulfurization

project in May 2009 we have the flexibility to process up to 22% WTS crude oil which typically is less expensive

than WTI crude oil

Under sulfuric acid regeneration and sulfur
gas processing agreement with E.I du Pont de Nemours or

DuPont Westem Refining LP has long term commitment to purchase services for use by its El Paso refinery In

exchange for this commitment DuPont agreed to design construct and operate two sulfuric acid regeneration

plants on property we lease to DuPont within our El Paso refinery In November 2008 we began processing all

sulfur gas from the north side of the El Paso refinery at the DuPont facility In January 2009 we began processing all

sulfur gas from the south side of the El Paso refinery at the DuPont facility

Power Supply Electricity is supplied to our refinery by regional electric company via two separate feeders

to both the north and south sides of our refinery We have an electrical power curtailment plan to conserve power in

the event of partial outage

Natural gas is supplied to our refinery via pipeline under two transportation agreements One transportation

agreement is on an interruptible basis while the other is on an uninterruptible basis We purchase our natural gas at

market rates or under fixed-price agreements

Raw Material Supply The primary inputs for our refinery consist of crude oil isobutane and alkylate

Operation of our gasoline desulfurization unit since startup in May 2009 has allowed for higher sour rates

Currently we have the capability to process up to 22% of WTS crude oil at the El Paso refinery Smaller projects that

we have deferred will allow us to incrementally increase our WTS crude oil processing capability at the El Paso

refinery The following table summarizes the historical feedstocks used by our El Paso refinery for the years

indicated

Percentage For

Refinery Feedstocks Year Ended December 31

bpd 2010 200Q 2008 2010

Crude Oils

Sweet crude oil 104119 99680 100130 81.9%

Sour crude oil 14007 17601 16985 11.0

Total Crude Oils 118126 117281 117115 92.9

Other Feedstocks and Blendstoeks

Intermediates and other 4359 3611 4302 3.4

Blendstocks 4692 5573 5152 3.7

Total Other Feedstocks and Blendstocks 9051 9184 9454 7.1

Total Crude Oils and Other Feedstocks and

Blendstocks 127177 126465 126569 100.0%

Crude oil is delivered to our El Paso refinery via 450-mile crude oil pipeline owned and operated by Kinder

Morgan under 30-year crude oil transportation agreement that began in 2004 The system handles both WTI and

WTS crude oil with its main trunkline into El Paso used solely for the supply of crude oil to us on published tariff

The crude oil pipeline has access to the majority of the producing fields in the Permian Basin which gives us access

to plentiful supply of WTI and WTS crude oil from fields with long reserve lives We generally buy our crude oil

under contracts with various crude oil providers including contract with Kinder Morgan that expires in 2020 and

shorter term contracts With other suppliers at market-based rates

We also have access to blendstocks and refined products from the Gulf Coast through pipeline that runs from

the Gulf Coast to El Paso

Refined Products Transportation Outside of the El Paso area which is supplied via our El Paso refinery

product distribution terminal we provide refined products to other areas including Tucson Phoenix Albuquerque

and Juarez Mexico Supply to these areas is achieved through pipeline systems that are linked to our refinery Our

refined products are delivered to Tucson and Phoenix through the Kinder Morgan East Line which was expanded to



over 200000 bpd in the fourth quarter of 2007 and to Albuquerque and Juarez Mexico through pipelines owned by

Plains All American Pipeline L.P or Plains We also sell our refined products at our product distribution terminal

and rail loading facilities in El Paso Another pipeline owned by Kinder Morgan provides diesel fuel to the Union

Pacific railway in El Paso

Both Kinder Morgans East Line and the Plains pipeline to Albuquerque are interstate pipelines regulated by

the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission or FERC The tariff provisions for these pipelines include prorating

policies that grant historical shippers line space that is consistent with their prior activities as well as prorated

portion of any expansions

Four Corners Refineries

Our refining group operates refinery near Gallup New Mexico Our Gallup refinery has crude oil

throughput capacity of 23000 bpd Until November 2009 we also operated refinery near Bloomfield New

Mexico Our Bloomfield refinery had crude oil throughput capacity of 17000 bpd We typically had not operated

these refineries at full capacity and in November 2009 we indefinitely suspended refining operations at Bloom-

field Our Bloomfield facility currently operates as product distribution terminal See Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Major Influences on Results of

Operations Long-lived Asset linpainnent Loss We market refined products from the Gallup refinery primarily in

Arizona Colorado New Mexico and Utah Our primary supply of crude oil and natural gas liquids comes from

Colorado New Mexico and Utah

Process Summary The Gallup refinery produces high percentage of high value products Each barrel of raw

materials processed by our Gallup refinery has resulted in approximately 90% of high value finished products

including gasoline and diesel fuel during the past four years

Power Supply Electrical power is supplied to the Gallup refinery by regional electric cooperative There

are several uninterruptible power supply units throughout the plant to maintain computers and controls in the event

of power outage Natural gas is supplied to our refinery via two different pipelines We purchase our natural gas at

market rates

Raw Material Supply The feedstock for our Gallup refinery is Four Corners Sweet which comes from the

Four Comers area and is delivered by pipelines including pipelines we own connected to our refinery and product

distribution terminal or delivered by our trucks to pipeline injection points or refinery tankage Our pipeline system

reaches into the San Juan Basin located in the Four Comers area and connects with local common carrier pipelines

We currently own approximately 250 miles of pipeline for delivering crude oil to the refinery

We supplement the crude oil used at our Gallup refinery with other feedstocks These other feedstocks

currently include locally produced natural gas liquids and condensate as well as other feedstocks produced outside

of the Four Corners area Our Gallup refinery is capable of processing approximately 6000 bpd of natural gas

liquids An adequate supply of natural gas liquids is available for delivery to our Gallup refinery primarily through

13-mile pipeline we own that connects the refinery to natural gas liquids processing plant



The following table summarizes the historical feedstocks used by our Four Corners refineries for the years

indicated

Percentage For

Refinery Feedstocks Year Ended December 31 December31

byd 2010 20091 2008 2010

Crude Oil

Sweet crude oil 21140 24763 28293 87.6%

Total Crude Oil 21140 24763 28293 87.6

Other Feedstocks and Blendstocks

Intermediates and other 1822 1425 1077 7.6

Blendstocks 1149 429 1393 4.8

Total Other Feedstocks and Blendstocks 2971 1854 2470 12.4

Total Crude Oil and Other Feedstocks and

Blendstocks 24111 26617 30763 100.0%

Includes barrels processed at our Bloomfield facility through November 2009 when Bloomfield refining

operations were indefinitely suspended We calculated total bpd feedstock volumes by dividing by 365 days

We purchase crude oil from number of sources including major oil companies and independent producers

under arrangements that contain market responsive pricing provisions Many of these arrangements are subject to

cancellation by either party or have terms of one year or less In addition these arrangements are subject to periodic

renegotiation which could result in our paying higher or lower relative prices for crude oil

Terminal Operations Our Gallup refinery has its own product distribution terminal We own stand-alone

finished product terminals in Albuquerque and Bloomfield The Bloomfield refinery terminal is permitted to

operate at 19000 bpd This terminal has approximately 251000 barrels of finished product tankage and truck

loading rack with three loading spots We utilize new pipeline connection and long-term exchange agreement to

supply barrels to the Bloomfield refinery terminal Additionally there are approximately 470000 barrels of crude

oil and feedstock tankage available for storage for the Gallup refinery The Albuquerque product distribution

terminal is permitted to operate at 27500 bpd This terminal has approximately 170000 barrels of finished product

tankage and truck loading rack with two loading spots Product deliveries to this terminal are made by truck or by

pipeline including deliveries from our El Paso and Gallup refineries In the third quarter of 2010 we ceased

operating our refined products distribution terminal located in Flagstaff Arizona The Flagstaff terminal was

permitted to operate at 1200Qbpd This terminal had approximately 65000 barrels of finished product tankage and

truck loading rack with three loading spots Product deliveries to this terminal were made by truck from our Gallup

refinery

Refined Products Transportation Our Gallup gasoline and diesel fuel production is distributed in Arizona

Colorado New Mexico and Utah primarily via fleet of finished product trucks operated by our wholesale group

Mid-Atlantic

Yorktown Facility

In September 2010 we temporarily suspended refining operations at our Yorktown facility due primarily to the

continued effect of unfavorable economic conditions in the refining market especially in the Mid-Atlantic region

Through December 2010 we have been making changes we believe are necessary to operate our Yorktown facility

as stand-alone product distribution terminal in the near term We currently operate our Yorktown terminal in

connection with our sales of refined product in the Yorktown area We plan to expand our terminal operations at

Yorktown to provide terminalling and related services to third parties during 2011

Our Yorktown facility is on Goodwins Neck located on the York River in York County Virginia The

Yorktown facility has its own deep-water port on the York River close to the Norfolk military complex and the



Hampton Roads shipyards The Yorktown refinery primarily served Yorktown Virginia Salisbury Maryland

Norfolk Virginia North Carolina and the New York Harbor We anticipate that our product distribution terminal

will serve the Mid-Atlantic region

Process Summary When operating our Yorktown refinery is nominal 70000 hpd heavy crude oil coking

facility that can process wide variety of crude oil including certain lower quality crude oils into high value

finished products including both conventional and reformulated gasoline ultra low sulfur diesel fuel and heating

oil We can also produce liquefied petroleum gases or LPGs fuel oil and petroleum coke

Power Supply The Yorktown facility electrical power is supplied by the regional electric company via two

independent transformers All
process computers and controls are protected by various uninterruptible power

supply systems

Natural gas is supplied to our facility via pipeline The natural gas was used as back-up to refinery produced

fuel gas

Raw Material Supply When operating most of the crude oil for our Yorktown refinery came from South

America Our Yorktown refinerys strategic location on the York River and its own deep water port access allowed it

to receive supply shipments from various regions of the world The refinery received all of its crude supply from

crude oil tankers Its ability to process wide range of crude oils allowed our Yorktown refinery to vary
its crude oil

slate Lower quality crude oils are typically available at lower cost compared to higher quality crude oils The

Yorktown refinery also purchased other fQedstocks and blendstocks to optimize refinery operations and blending

operations

Western Refining Yorktown Inc or Western Yorktown settled lawsuit with Statoil Marketing Trading

US Inc or Statoil related to its crude oil supply agreement in February 2010 when the parties mutually agreed to

dismiss all claims and counterclaims with prejudice

The following table summarizes the historical feedstocks used by our Yorktown refinery for the years

indicated

Percentage For

Refinery Feedstocks Year Ended December 31

bpd 20101 2009 2008 2010

Crude Oil

Sweet crude oil 7713 1885 15291 13.4%

Heavy crude oil 40274 47659 45364 69.7

Total Crude Oils 47987 49544 60655 83.1

Other Feedstocks and Blendstocks

Intermediates and other 4522 5398 3416 7.8

Blendstocks 5255 7791 5727 9.1

Total Other Feedstocks and Bleodstocks 9777 13189 9143 16.9

Total Crude Oils and Other Feedstocks and

Blendstocks 57764 62733 69798 100.0%

Feedstocks for the year ended December 31 2010 include usage through September 30 2010 As result of the

temporary suspension of refining operations we calculated bpd feedstock volumes by dividing total volumes

processed by 273 days

Refined Products Transportation Most of the finished products sold by the refinery were shipped by barge

with the remaining amount shipped by truck or rail rail system that served the refinery transported shipments of

mixed butane and petroleum coke from the refinery to our customers



Dock System and Storage Our facilitys dock system is capable of handling 150000 ton deadweight tankers

and barges up to 200000 barrels The facility includes 5.4 million barrels of storage capacity for crude oil gasoline

intermediates and blendstocks and distillates including 500000 barrels of leased storage capacity from an adjacent

landowner

Wholesale Segment

Our wholesale group includes several lubricant and bulk petroleum distribution plants unmanned fleet fueling

operations bulk lubricant terminal facility and fleet of crude oil and finished product trucks and lubricant

delivery trucks The wholesale group distributes commercial wholesale petroleum products primarily in Arizona

California Colorado Nevada New Mexico Texas and Utah Our wholesale
group purchases petroleum fuels and

lubricants from our refining group and from third-party suppliers

Our principal customers are unbranded retail fuel distributors and the mining construction utility manu

facturing transportation aviation and agricultural industries We compete with other wholesale petroleum

products distributors in the areas we serve such as Pro Petroleum Inc Southern Counties Fuels Union Distrib

uting Brown Evans Distributing Co and Maxum Petroleum Inc

Retail Segment

Our retail group operates service stations that include convenience stores or kiosks Our service stations sell

various grades of gasoline diesel fuel general merchandise and beverage and food products to the general public

Our wholesale group supplies substantially all the gasoline and diesel fuel that our retail group sells We purchase

general merchandise as well as beverage and food products from various suppliers At February 25 2011 our retail

group operated 150 service stations with convenience stores or kiosks located in Arizona New Mexico and

Colorado

The main competitive factors affecting our retail segment are the location of the stores brand identification

and product price and quality Our service stations compete with Valero Energy Corp Alon USA Energy KG
Markets formerly ConocoPhillips Murphy Oil Maverik Circle Brewer Oil Company Quick Trip amlpm and

7-2 11 food stores Large chains of retailers like Costco Wholesale Corp Wal Mart Stores Inc and large grocery

retailers compete in the motor fuel retail business Many of these competitors are substantially larger than we are

and because of their integrated operations may be better able to withstand volatile conditions in the fuel market and

lower profitability in merchandise sales

At February 25 2011 our retail group had 123 convenience stores branded Giant one branded Western and

two branded Western Express In addition 14 units were branded Mustang and 10 were branded Sundial Gasoline

brands sold at these stores irfclude Western Giant Mustang Phillips 66 Conoco and Shell

Location Owned Leased Total

Arizona 24 18 42

New Mexico 72 24 96

Colorado 10 12

106 44 150

Governmental Regulation

All of our operations and properties are sublect to extensive federal state and local environmental health and

safety regulations governing among other things the generation storage handling use and transportation of

petroleum and hazardous substances the emission and discharge of materials into the environment waste

management characteristics and composition of gasoline diesel and other fuels and the monitoring and reporting

of greenhouse gas emissions Our operations also require numerous permits and authorizations under various

environmental health and safety laws and regulations Failure to comply with these permits or environmental

health or safety laws generally could result in fines penalties or other sanctions or reocation of our permits We
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have made significant capital and other expenditures to comply with these environmental health and safety laws

We anticipate significant capital and other expenditures with respect to continuing compliance with these

environmental health and safety laws For additional details on our capital expenditures related to regulatory

requirements and our refinery capacity expansion and upgrade see Item Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Res tilts of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources Capital Spending

Periodically we receive communications from various federal state and local governmental authorities

asserting violations of environmental laws and/or regulations These governmental entities may also propose or

assess fines or require corrective action for these asserted violations We intend to respond in timely manner to all

such communications and to take appropriate corrective action We do not anticipate that any such matters currently

asserted will have material adverse impact on our financial condition results of operations or cash flows

El Paso Refineiy

The groundwater and certain solid waste management units and other areas at and adjacent to our El Paso

refinery have been impacted by prior spills releases and discharges of petroleum or hazardous substances and are

currently undergoing remediation by us and Chevron pursuant to certain agreed administrative orders with the

Texas Commission on Environmental Quality or TCEQ Pursuant to our purchase of the north side of the El Paso

refinery from Chevron Chevron retained responsibility to remediate their solid waste management units in

accordance with its Resource Conservation Recovery Act or RCRA permit which Chevron has fulfilled Chevron

also retained liability for and control of certain groundwater remediation responsibilities which are ongoing

In May 2000 we entered into an Agreed Order with the Texas Natural Resources Conservation Commission

now known as the TCEQ for remediation of the south side of our El Paso refinery property In August 2000 we

purchased Pollution and Legal Liability and Clean-Up Cost Cap Insurance policy at cost of $10.3 million which

was expensed in 2000 The policy is non-cancelable and covers environmental clean-up costs related to contam

ination that occurred prior to December 31 1999 including the costs of the Agreed Order activities The insurance

provider assumed responsibility for all environmental clean up costs related to the Agreed Order up to $20 million

In addition under settlement agreement with us subsidiary of Chevron is obligated to pay 60% of any Agreed

Order environmental clean-up costs that would otherwise have been covered under the policy but that exceed the

$20 million threshold Under the policy environmental costs outside the scope of the Agreed Order are covered up

to $20 million and require payment by us of deductible of $0.1 million per incident as well as any costs that exceed

the covered limits of the insurance policy

The U.S Environmental Protection Agency or EPA has embarked on Petroleum Refinery Enforcement

Initiative or EPA Initiative whereby it is investigating industry-wide noncompliance with certain Clean Air Act

rules The EPA Initiative has resulted in many refiners entering into consent decrees typically requiring penalties

and substantial capital expenditures for additional air pollution control equipment Since December 2003 we have

been voluntarily discussing settlement pursuant to the EPA Initiative related to the El Paso refinery Negotiations

with the EPA regarding this Initiative have focused exclusively on air emission programs We do not expect these

negotiations to result in any soil or groundwater remediation or clean-up requirements In May 2008 we and the

EPA agreed on the basic EPA Initiative requirements related to the Fluid Catalytic Cracking Unit or FCCU and

heaters and boilers that we expect will ultimately be incorporated into final settlement agreement between us and

the EPA Based on current negotiations and information we estimate the total capital expenditures necessary to

address the EPA Initiative issues would be approximately $60 million of which $38.8 million has already been

expended $15.2 million for the installation of flare gas recovery system that was completed in 2007 and

$23.6 million for nitrogen oxides or NOx emission controls on heaters and boilers was expended through 2010 We

estimate remaining expenditures of approximately $21.2 million for the NOx emission controls on heaters and

boilers from 2011 through 2013 This estimate may change depending upon the actual final settlement reached We

anticipate meeting the EPA Initiative NOx requirements for the FCCU using catalyst additives and therefore do not

expect additional capital expenditures related to the EPA Initiative NOx requirements for the FCCU

We received proposed draft settlement agreement from the EPA in September 2009 demanding penalties of

$1.5 million We have accrued $1.5 million related to this matter As of February 25 2011 final settlement

between us and the EPA relating to this matter is still pending
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In March 2008 the TCEQ had notified us that it would be presenting us with proposed Agreed Order

regarding six excess air emission incidents that occurred at the El Paso refinery during 2007 and early 2008 While

at this time it is not known precisely how or when the Agreed Order may affect us we may he required to implement

corrective action under the Agreed Order and we may be assessed penalties We do not expect any penalties or

corrective action requested to have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of

operations or that any penalties assessed or increased costs associated with the corrective action will he material

In 2004 and 2005 the El Paso refinery applied for and was issued Texas Flexible Permit by the TCEQ
Flexible Permits program under which the refinery continues to operate Established in 1994 under the Texas Clean

Air Act the program grants operational flexibility to industrial facilities and permits the allocation of emissions on

facility-wide basis in exchange for emissions reduction and controlling previously unregulated grandfathered

emission sources The TCEQ submitted its Flexible Permits Program rules to the EPA for approval in 1994 and has

administered the program for 16
years

with the EPAs full knowledge In May 2010 the El Paso refinery received

request from the EPA pursuant to Section 114 of the Clean Air Act seeking information about the refinerys air

permits We responded to the EPAs request in June 2010 Also in June 2010 the EPA disapproved the TCEQ
Flexible Permits Program In July 2010 the Texas Attorney General filed legal challenge to the EPAs disapproval

in federal appeals court asking tor reconsideration Although we believe our Texas Flexible Permit is federally

enforceable we agreed in December 2010 to submit within one year an application to T-CEQ for permit

amendment to obtain an approved Texas State Implementation Plan or SIP air quality permit to address concerns

raised by the EPA about all flexible permits Sufficient time has not elapsed for us to reasonably estimate any

potential impact of these regulatory developments in the Texas air permits program

In September 2010 we received notice of intent to sue under the Clean Air Act from several environmental

groups While not entirely clear the notice apparently contends that our El Paso refinery is not operating under

valid permit or permits because the EPA has disapproved the TCEQ Flexible Permits program and that our El Paso

refinery may have exceeded certain emission limitations under these same permits We dispute these claims and

maintain our El Paso refinery is properly operating and has not exceeded emissions limitations under the validly

issued TCEQ permits We intend to defend our refinery accordingly

Four Corners Refineries

Four Corners 2005 Consent Agreements In July 2005 as part of the EPA Initiative Giant reached an

administrative settlement with the New Mexico Environment Department or NMED and the EPA in the form of

consent agreements that resolved certain alleged violations of air quality regulations at the Gallup and Bloomfield

refineries in the Four Corners area of New Mexico or the 2005 NMED Agreement In January 2009 we and the

NMED agreed to an amendment of the 2005 administrative settlement with the NMED or the 2009 NMED
Amendment which altered certain deadlines and allowed for alternative air pollution controls

In November 2009 we indefinitely suspended refining operations at our Bloomfield refinery We currently

operate the site as products distribution terminal and crude oil storage facility We continue to operate certain

Bloomfield refinery equipment to support the terminal and to store crude for our Gallup refinery We are currently

negotiating with the NMED to revise the 2009 NMED Amendment to reflect the indefinite suspension

Based on current information and the 2009 NMED Amendment and favorably negotiating revision to reflect

the indefinite suspension of refining operations at our Bloomfield facility we estimate $17.6 million total remaining

capital expenditures will be required pursuant to the 2009 NMED Amendment Through 2010 we have expended

$5.9 million and expect to spend the remaining $1 1.7 million during 2011 and 2012 These capital expenditures will

primarily be for installation of emission controls on the heaters boilers and FCCU and for reducing sulfur in fuel

gas to reduce emissions of sulfur dioxide and NOx and particulate matter from our Gallup refinery The 2009

NMED Amendment also provided for $2.4 million penalty Payment of the penalty was completed between

November 2009 and September 2010 to fund Supplemental Environmental Project or SEP We do not expect

implementation of the requirements in the 2005 NMED Agreement and the associated 2009 NMED Amendment

will result in any soil or groundwater remediation or clean-up costs

BloonzjiTeld 2007 NMED Reniediation Order In July 2007 we received final administrative compliance

order from the NMED alleging that releases of contaminants and hazardous substance that have occurred at the
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Bloomfield refinery over the course of its operation prior to June 2007 have resulted in soil and groundwater

contamination Among other things the order requires us to

investigate and determine the nature and extent of such releases of contaminants and hazardous substances

perform interim remediation measures or continue interim measures already begun to mitigate any

potential threats to human health or the environment from such releases

identify and evaluate alternatives for corrective measures to clean up any contaminants and hazardous

substances released at the refinery and prevent or mitigate their migration at or from the site

implement any corrective measures that may be approved by the NMED

develop investigation work plans over period of approximately four years and

implement corrective measures pursuant to the investigation

The order recognizes that prior work satisfactorily completed may fulfill some of the foregoing requirements

In that regard we have already put
in place some remediation measures with the approval of the NMED and New

Mexico Oil Conservation Division

Based on current information we estimate remaining undiscounted cost of $3.3 million for implementing the

investigation and interim measures of the order As of December 31 2010 we had liability of $2.5 million relating

to the investigation and interim rtieasures of the order implementation costs As of December 31 2010 we had

expended $2.3 million to implement the order

Gallup 2007 Resource Conservation and Recovery Act or RCRA Inspection In September 2007 our Gallup

refinery was inspected jointly by the EPA and the NMED or the Gallup 2007 RCRA Inspection to determine

compliance with the EPAs ha7ardnus waste regulations promulgated pursuant
to the RCRA We reached final

settlement with the agencies in August 2009 and paid penalty of $0.7 million in October 2009 We do not expect

implementation of the requirements in the final settlement will result in
any

soil or groundwater remediation or

clean-up costs We currently estimate $15.4 million in capital expenditures to upgrade the wastewater treatment

plant at the Gallup refinery pursuant to the requirements of the final settlement Through 2010 we have expended

$4.2 million on the upgrade of the wastewater treatment plant and expect to spend the remaining $11.2 million

during 2011 and 2012 In April 2010 we submitted plan with the design and construction schedule to upgrade the

wastewater treatment plant to the NMED for approval We negotiated with the NMED and the EPA regarding

modifications to the plan issued by the NMED in its May 2010 approval letter which resulted in September 2010

modification to the August 2009 final settlement establishing May 2012 deadline for start-up of the upgraded

wastewater treatment plant

Gallup 2010 NMED Compliance Order In late October 2010 the NMED issued proposed compliance

order to us alleging violations of air quality regulations and permits related to certain emission limits at our Gallup

refinery The violations are alleged to have occurred at various times between March 2009 and October 2010 Under

this compliance order we have been assessed penalty of $0.6 million We are currently evaluating the merits of the

alleged violations described in the compliance order As the outcome of ongoing discussions or negotiations with

the NMED is uncertain we cannot reasonably estimate the liability under the order at this time No amounts have

been accrued at December 31 2010 for this matter

Yorktown Refinery

Yorktown 1991 and 2006 Orders Giant and subsidiary company assumed certain liabilities and obligations

in connection with the 2002 purchase of the Yorktown refinery from BP Corporation North America Inc and BP

Products North America Inc or collectively BP and BP agreed to indemnify Giant for certain costs During 2007

BP disputed indemnification for certain costs In the related lawsuit styled Western Refining Yorktown Inc f/Wa

Giant Yorktown Inc lIP Corporation North America Inc and lIP Products North Anierica Inc all claims and

counterclaims were voluntarily dismissed with prejudice in 2009 by mutual agreement of the parties
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In August 2006 Giant agreed to the terms of the final administrative consent order pursuant to which Giant

would implement clean-up plan for the refinery Following the acquisition of Giant we completed the first phase

of the soil clean-up plan and negotiated revisions with the EPA for the remainder of the soil clean up plan Wc

anticipate completing the requirements of the soil clean-up in 2011

We currently estimate total remediation expenditures of $39.1 million associated with the EPA order Through

December 2010 we have expended $22.7 million related to the EPA order We anticipate further expenditures of

$16.0 million primarily during 2011 with the remainder over the next 29 years ending in 2040 The EPA issued an

approval in January 2010 that allowed us to begin implementing our revised soil clean-up plan during the second

quarter of 2010 The January 2010 EPA approval and prior EPA approval in 2008 allowed adjustments to the cost

estimates for the groundwater monitoring plan and reductions to our estimate of total remediation expenditures

Yorktown 2002 Amended Consent Decree In May 2002 Giant acquired the Yorktown refinery and assumed

certain environmental obligations including responsibilities under consent decree or Consent Decree among

various parties covering many locations entered into August 2001 under the EPA Initiative Parties to the Consent

Decree include the United States BP Exploration and Oil Co Amoco Oil Company and Atlantic Richfield

Company As applicable to urn Yorktown refinery the Consent Deciec required among other things reduction of

NOx sulfur dioxide and particulate matter emissions and upgrades to the refinerys leak detection and repair

program We do not expect implementation of the Consent Decree requirements will require any soil or ground

water remediation or clean-up Pursuant to the Consent Decree and prior to May 31 2007 Giant had installed new

sour water stripper and sulfur recovery unit with tail gas treating unit and an electrostatic precipitator on the FCCU

and had begun using sulfur dioxide emissions reducing catalyst additives in the FCCU We temporarily suspended

refining operations at our Yorktown facility in September 2010 Until such time that local market economies can

support sustained profitable refining operations we intend to operate our Yorktown facility as product distribution

terminal only We expect additional capital expenditures to complete implementation of the Consent Decree

requirements when refining operations are resumed Our current estimate for these capital expenditures is

$5.0 million and could differ significantly from what is required when refining operations are resumed We do

not expect that completing the requirements of the Consent Decree will result in material increased operating costs

nor do we expect the completion of these requirements to have material adverse effect on our business financial

condition or results of operations

In March 2010 the EPA demanded stipulated penalties in the amount of $0.5 million pursuant to the Consent

Decree for flaring event that occurred at our Yorktown refinery in October 2009 In April 2010 we met with the

EPA and provided additional written clarifying information in anticipation that the EPA will consider the

information as the basis for reducing the agencys demand for stipulated penalties We continue to communicate

with the EPA regarding the additional information provided To allow discussions to continue the EPA clarified its

position in May 2010 stating that the March 2010 letter did not constitute demand pursuant to the Consent Decree

We do not expect any penalties corrective action or other associated settlement costs related to this issue to have

material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations

Yorktown EPA EPCRA Potential Enjbrcement Notice In January 2010 the EPA issued our Yorktown

refinery notice to show cause why the EPA should not bring an enforcement action pursuant to the notification

requirements under the Emergency Planning and Community Right to-Know Act related to two separate flaring

events that occurred in 2007 prior to our acquisition of Giant We reached settlement of this enforcement notice

with the EPA in June 2010 for $0.2 million As of December 31 2010 the entire penalty has been paid to the EPA

Regulation of Fuel Quality

The EPA adopted regulations under the Clean Air Act that require significani reductions in the sulfur content in

gasoline on-road diesel fuel and off-road diesel fuel These regulations required most refineries to begin reducing

sulfur content in gasoline to 30 parts per million or ppm on January 2004 with full compliance by January

2006 and require reductions in sulfur content in on-road diesel to 15 ppm beginning on June 2006 with full

compliance by January 2010 Qualified small refiners or refiners seeking and receiving hardship waivers with

compliance plans from the EPA were allowed additional time under these regulationsto comply
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Under the EPAs regulations all on-road and off-road diesel with the exception of off-road diesel for

locomotive and marine use must meet 15 ppm sulfur standard as of June 2010 Off road diesel produced for

locomotive and marine use is allowed to meet the 500 ppm sulfur standard through May 2012 Our El Paso refinery

implemented the 15 ppm sulfur standard for on road diesel by April 2006 and the interim 500 ppm standard for off-

road diesel by December 2009 Our Yorktown refinery implemented the 15 ppm sulfur standard for on-road and off-

road diesel by 1ebruary 2007 under modilied compliance plan Our Gallup refinery implemented the 15 ppm

sulfur standard for on road diesel by June 2006 and was allowed to produce under the flexibility of the regulation

up to 20% by volume of its on-road diesel at 500 ppm sulfur through May 2010 Our Gallup refinery implemented

the interim 500 ppm standard for off road diesel by June 2007 and was allowed to produce off road diesel at this

standard through May 2010 Our Gallup refinery currently relies on operational and marketing changes to meet the

on-road and off-road diesel 15 ppm sulfur standard

By Junc 2012 all locomotive and marine diesel must also meet the 15 ppm sulfur standard EPA regulations

allow the one time use of credits to extend the June 2012 deadline by up to 24 months Low sulfur credits purchased

in 2010 will allow our El Paso refinery to continue producing 500 ppm sulfur locomotive fuel until late 2013 Our

Yorktown refinery met this requirement before refining operations were suspended in 2010 We are evaluating the

need for capital expenditures to produce 15 ppm sulfur locomotive fuel

Our Yorktown refinery was producing 30 ppm gasoline by May 2008 as required by its EPA compliance

plan Our El Paso refinery began producing low sulfur gasoline by August 2009 as required by the EPA

compliance plan for Yorktown and following our loss of small refiner status after the 2007 Giant acquisition All

of our refineries meet the requirements of the EPAs low sulfur gasoline regulations For additional details see

Item Managements Discussion andAnalvsis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and

Capital Re.sources Capital Spending

Pursuant to the Energy Acts of 2005 and 200/ the EPA has issued Renewable Fuels Standards or RFS

implementing mandates to blend renewable fuels into the petroleum fuels produced at our refineries The standards

have been enforced at our El Paso refinery since September 2007 Our Gallup refinery became subject to RFS in

January 2011 and will remain so unless the EPA grants further extension to small refineries based on

U.S Department of Energy study Our Yorktown refinery will be subject to RFS when we restart refinery operations

unless the EPA grants further extension Annually the EPA establishes volume of renewable fuels that obligated

refineries must blend into their finished petroleum fuels The obligated volume increases over time until 2022

Blending renewable fuels into their finished petroleum fuels will displace an increasing volume of refinerys

product pool In 2010 the RFS obligation for ethanol and biodiesel for our El Paso refinery was met by blending at

El Paso and also by transferring credits from blending at our Yorktown and Gallup refineries the product

distribution terminals in Albuquerque and Bloomfield and the purchase of third party credits

Our El Paso and Gallup refineries are required to meet the new Mobile Source Air Toxics or MSAT II

regulations to reduce the benzene content of gasoline Under the MSAT II regulations benzene in the finished

gasoline pooi must be reduced to an annual average of 0.62 volume percent by 2011 Beginning on July 2012

each refinery must also average 1.30 volume percent benzene without the use of credits As of December 31 2010

we have expended $62.0 million to comply with MSAT II regulations at our El Paso refinery by completing

construction of benzene saturation unit in 2010 which is scheduled for start up in March 2011 Early credits

generated in 2009 and 2010 from the operation of our Yorktown refinery will be used by our Gallup refinery to

comply with the 0.62 volume percent requirement We anticipate $2.0 million or less in capital expenditures during

2011 and 2012 for our Gallup refinery to meet the 1.30 volume percent requirement Our Yorktown refinery met the

1.30 volume percent benzene requirement prior to our temporarily suspending Yorktown refining activity and had

planned to rely on credits to comply with the 0.62 volume percent requirement

Several northeast states have proposed legislation to reduce the sulfur content of home heating oil New Jersey

has published rule change that would require 500 ppm sulfur home heating oil beginning July 2014 and 15 ppm
sulfur home heating oil beginning July 2016 New York has passed legislation to implement the 15 ppm sulfur level
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in July 2012 Before refining operations were suspended at our Yorktown refinery during 2010 it produced home

heating oil that complied with the 3000 ppm sulfur specification but lacked the processing capability to produce

heating oil that would comply with the revised standards Implementation of these new standards will potentially

reduce the market for 3.000 ppm sulfur home heating oil resulting in changes to our product slate and profitability

when we restart refining operations at our Yorktown refinery

Environmental Remediation

Certain environmental laws hold current or previous owners or operators of real property liable for the costs of

cleaning up spills releases and discharges of petroleum or hazardous substances even if these owners or operators

did not know of and were not responsible for such spills releases and discharges These environmental laws also

assess liability on any person
who

arranges for the disposal or treatment of hazardous substances regardless of

whether the affected site is owned or operated by such person We may face currently unknown liabilities for

clean-up costs pursuant to these laws

In addition to clean-up costs we may face liability for personal injury or property damage due to exposure to

chemicals or other hazardous substances that we may have manufactured used handled disposed of or that are

located at or released from our refineries or otherwise related to our current or former operations We may also face

liability for personal injury property damage natural resource damage or for clean-up costs for the alleged

migration of petroleum or hazardous substances from our refineries to adjacent and other nearby properties

Employees

As of February 25 2011 we employed approximately 2950 people approximately 380 of whom were covered

by collective bargaining agreements Subject to Memorandum of Understanding dated August 23 2010 between

Western Refining Yorktown Inc and the local union representing the covered Yorktown refinery employees the

collective bargaining agreement at our Yorktown refinery was terminated in connection with the temporary

suspension of refining activities at our Yorktown facility If we restart refining operations at our Yorktown facility

prior to March 15 2012 the collective bargaining agreement for covered Yorktown employees will be reinstated

All separated covered employees have recall rights if we restart Yorktown refining operations prior to March 16

2012 In 2008 we successfully negotiated collective bargaining agreements covering employees at our Gallup and

Bloomfield refineries that expire in 2011 and 2012 respectively Although the collective bargaining agreement

remains in force the covered employees at our Bloomfield refinery were terminated in connection with the

indefinite suspension of refining operations at our Bloomfield facility during November 2009 We also successfully

negotiated new collective bargaining agreement covering employees at our El Paso refinery renewing the

collective bargaining agreement that expired in April 2009 The collective bargaining agreement covering the

El Paso refinery employees expires in April 2012 While all of our collective bargaining agreements contain no
strike provisions those provisions are not effective in the event that an agreement expires Accordingly we may

not be able to prevent strike or work stoppage in the future and any such work stoppage could have material

adverse affect on our business financial condition and results of operations

Available Information

We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC including annual reports on Form 10-K

quarterly reports on Form l0-Q and other reports from time to time The public may read and copy any materials

that we file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street N.E Room 1580 Washington D.C

20549 The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at

1-800-SEC 0330 We are an electronic filer and the SECs Internet site at http//www.sec.gov contains the reports

proxy and information statements and other information filed electronically

As required by Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 we have adopted code of ethics that applies

specifically to our Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer We have also

adopted Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all our directors officers and employees Those codes

of ethics are posted on our website Within the time period required by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange
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or NYSE we will post on our website
any amendment to our code of ethics and any waiver applicable to any

of our

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officec Our website address is

http//www.wnr.com We make our website content available for informational
purposes only It should not be relied

upon for investment purposes nor is it incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K We make available on this

website under Investor Relations free of charge our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on

Form 10 current reports on Form and amendments to those reports simultaneously to the electronic

filings of those materials with or furnishing of those materials to the SEC We also make available to shareholders

hard copies of our complete audited financial statements free of charge upon request

On June 24 2010 the Companys Chief Executive Officer certified to the NYSE that he was not aware of any

violation by the Company of the NYSEs corporate governance listing standards In addition attached as

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Form 10-K are the certifications required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002

Item 1A Risk Factors

An investment in our common shares involves risk In addition to the other information in this report and our

other filings with the SEC you should carefully consider the following risk factors in evaluating us and our

business

The price volatility of crude oil other feedstocks refined products and fuel and utility services has had

and may continue to have material adverse effect on our earnings and cash flows

Our earnings and cash flows from operations depend on the margin above fixed and variable expenses

including the cost of refinery feedstocks such as crude oil at which we are able to sell refined products Refining

margins historically have been volatile and are likely to continue to be volatile as result of variety of factors

including fluctuations in the prices of crude oil other feedstocks refined products and fuel and utility services In

particular our refining margins were significantly lower in 2010 and 2009 compared to 2008 and 2007 due to

decreased demand for refined products substantial increases in feedstock costs and lower increases in product

prices throughout much of 2009 and 2010

In recent years the prices of crude oil other feedstocks and refined products have fluctuated substantially The

NYMEX WTI postings of crude oil for 2010 ranged from $68.01 to $91.51 per barrel Prices of crude oil other

feedstocks and refined products depend on numerous factors beyond our control including the supply of and

demand for crude oil other feedstocks gasoline and other refined products Such supply and demand are affected

by among other things

changes in global and local economic conditions

demand for crude oil and refined products especially in the U.S China and India

worldwide political conditions particularly in significant oil producing regions such as the Middle East

West Africa and Latin America

the level of foreign and domestic production of crude oil and refined products and the level of crude oil

feedstocks and refined products imported into the U.S which can be impacted by accidents interruptions in

transportation inclement weather or other events affecting producers and suppliers

U.S government regulations

utilization rates of U.S refineries

changes in fuel specifications required by environmental and other laws

the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries or OPEC to maintain oil

price and production controls

development and marketing of alternative and competing fuels

pricing and other actions taken by competitors that impact the market
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product pipeline capacity including the Magellan Southwest System pipeline as well as Kinder Morgans

expansion of its East Line both of which could increase supply in certain of our service areas and therefore

reduce our margins

accidents intenuptions in transportation inclement weather or other events that can cause unscheduled

shutdowns or otherwise adversely affect our plants machinery or equipment or those of our suppliers or

customers and

local factors including market conditions weather conditions and the level of operations of other refineries

and pipelines in our service areas

Volatility has had and may continue to further have negative effect on our results of operations to the extent

that the margin between refined product prices and feedstock prices narrows further as was the case throughout

much of 2009 and 2010

The nature of our business requires us to maintain substantial quantities of crude oil and refined product

inventories Crude oil and refined products are commodities As result we have no control over the changing

market value of these inventories Because our inventory of crude oil and refined product is valped at the lower of

cost or market value under the last in first out or LIFO inventory valuation methodology if the market value of

our inventory were to decline to an amount less than our LIFO cost we would record write-down of inventory and

non-cash charge to cost of products sold The estimated fair value of the Giant inventory recorded as result of the

acquisition of Giant increased the likelihood of lower of cost or market or LCM inventory write-down to occur in

the future As result of increasing market prices of crude oil blendstocks and refined products we had net

change in the lower of cost or market reserve from December 31 2008 to December 31 2009 of $61.0 million to

value our Yorktown inventories to net realizable market values which decreased cost of products sold and increased

refinery gross margin for the year ended December 31 2009 In addition due to the volatility in the price of crude

oil and other blendstocks we experienced fluctuations in our LIFO reserves during the three years ended

December 31 2010 We also experienced LIFO liquidations based on decreased levels in our inventories These

LIFO liquidations resulted in decreases in cost of products sold of $16.9 million and $9.4 million for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 and an increase in cost of products sold of $66.9 million for the year ended

December 31 2008

In addition the volatility in costs of fuel principally natural gas and other utility services principally

electricity used by our refineries affects operating costs Fuel and utility prices have been and will continue to be

affected by factors outside our control such as supply and demand for fuel and utility services in both local and

regional markets Natural gas prices have historically been volatile Typically electricity prices fluctuate with

natural gas prices Future increases in fuel and utility prices may have negative effect on our results of operations

If the price of crude oil increases significantly or our credit profile changes or if we are unable to access

our Revolving Credit Agreement for borrowings or for letters of credit oui liquidity and our ability to

purchase enough crude oil to operate our refineries at full capacity could be materially and adversely

affected

We rely on borrowings and letters of credit under our Revolving Credit Agreement to purchase crude oil for our

refineries Changes in our credit profile could affect the way crude oil suppliers view our ability to make payments

and induce them to shorten the payment terms of their invoices with us or require additional support such as letters

of credit Due to the large dollar amounts and volume of our crude oil and other feedstock purchases any imposition

by our creditors of more burdensome payment terms on us or our inability to access our Revolving Credit

Agreement may have material adverse effect on our liquidity and our ability to make payments to our suppliers

which could hinder our ability to purchase sufficient quantities of crude oil to operate our refineries at planned rates

In addition if the price of crude oil increases significantly we may not have sufficient capacity under our Revolving

Credit Agreement or sufficient cash on hand to purchase enough crude oil to operate our refineries at planned rates

failure to operate our refineries at planned rates could have material adverse effect on our earnings and cash

flows
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We have significant amount of indebtedness

As of December 31 2010 our total debt was $1069.5 million and our stockholders equity was $675.6 million

On December 23 2010 we completed an amendnient of our Revolving Credit Agreement resulting in total

commitments of $800.0 million composed of $145.0 million tranche maturing on May 31 2012 and

$655.0 million tranche maturing on January 2015 As of December 31 2010 the gross availability under

the Revolving Credit Agreement was $624.0 million pursuant to the borrowing base As of December 31 2010 we

had net availability under the Revolving Credit Agreement of $335.6 million due to $288.4 million in letters of

credit outstanding and no direct borrowings On February 25 2011 the
gross availability under the Revolving

Credit Agreement was $650.3 million
pursuant to the borrowing base On February 25 2011 we had net availability

under the Revolving Credit Agreement of $192.3 million due to $273.0 million in letters of credit outstanding and

$185.0 million in direct borrowings Our level of debt may have important consequences to you Among other

things it may

limit our ability to use our cash flow or obtain additional financing for future working capital capital

expenditures acquisitions or other general corporate purposes

restrict our ability to pay dividends

require substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make debt service payments

limit our flexibility to plan for or react to changes in our business and industry conditions

place us at competitive disadvantage compared to our less leveraged competitors and

increase our vulnerability to the impact of adverse economic and industry conditions and to the extent of our

outstanding debt under our floating rate debt facilities the impact of increases in interest rates

We cannot assure you that we will continue to generate sufficient cash flows or that we will be able to borrow

funds under our Revolving Credit Agreement in amounts sufficient to enable us to service our debt or meet our

working capital and capital expenditure requirements Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from our

operating activities will continue to be primarily dependent on producing or purchasing and selling sufficient

quantities of refined products at margins sufficient to cover fixed and variable expenses If our margins were to

deteriorate significantly or if our earnings and cash flow were to suffer for any other reason we may be unable to

comply with the financial covenants set forth in our credit facilities If we fail to satisfy these covenants we could be

prohibited from borrowing for our working capital needs and issuing letters of credit which would hinder our

ability to purchase sufficient quantities of crude oil to operate our refineries at planned rates To the extent that we

are unable to generate sufficient cash flows from operations or if we are unable to borrow or issue letters of credit

under the Revolving Credit Agreement we may be required to sell assets reduce capital expenditures refinance all

or portion of our existing debt orobtain additional financing through equity or debt financings If additional funds

are obtained by issuing equity securities or if holders of our outstanding 5.75% Convertible Senior Notes convert

those notes into shares of our common stock our existing stockholders could be diluted We cannot assure you that

we will be able to refinance our debt sell assets or obtain additional financing on terms acceptable to us if at all In

addition our ability to incur additional debt will be restricted under the covenants contained in our Revolving Credit

Agreement Term Loan Credit Agreement and Senior Secured Notes See Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources Working Capital

and Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity

and Capital Resources Indebtedness

Covenants and events of default in our debt instruments could limit our ability to undertake certain types

of transactions and adversely affect our liquidity

Our Revolving Credit Agreement Term Loan Credit Agreement or Term Loan and the indenture governing

our Senior Secured Notes contain covenants and events of default that may limit our financial flexibility and ability

to undertake certain types of transactions For instance we are subject to covenants that restrict our activities

including restrictions on

creating liens
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engaging in mergers consolidations and sales of assets

incurring additional indebtedness

providing guarantees

engaging in different businesses

making investments

making certain dividend debt and other restricted payments

engaging in certain transactions with affiliates and

entering into certain contractual obligations

We are also subject to financial covenants that require us to maintain in the case of the Revolving Credit

Agreement minimum fixed charge coverage ratio as defined therein contingent on the level of availability

thereunder and in the case of the Term Loan Credit Agreement minimum consolidated interest coverage
ratio as

defined therein and maximum consolidated leverage ratio as defined therein Our ability to comply with these

covenants will depend on factors outside our control including refined product margins We cannot assure you that

we will satisfy these covenants If we fail to satisfy the covenants set forth in these facilities or an event of default

occurs under these facilities the maturity of the loans our Senior Secured Notes and our Convertible Senior Notes

could be accelerated or we could be prohibited from borrowing for our working capital needs and issuing letters of

credit If the loans our Senior Secured Notes or our Convertible Senior Notes are accelerated and we do not have

sufficient cash on hand to pay all amounts due we could be required to sell assets to refinance all or portion of our

indebtedness or to obtain additional financing through equity or debt financings Refinancing may not be possible

and additional financing may not be available on commercially acceptable terms or at all If we cannot borrow or

issue letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Agreement we would need to seek additional financing if

available or curtail our operations

We have capital needs for which our internally generated cash flows and other sources of liquidity may

not be adequate

If we cannot generate cash flow or otherwise secure sufficient liquidity to support our short-term and long-term

capital requirements we may not be able to comply with certain environmental standards by the current EPA

mandated deadlines or pursue our business strategies in which case our operations may not perform as well as we

currently expect We have substantial short-term and long-term capital needs including those for capital expen
ditures that we will make to comply with various regulatory requirements Our short-term working capital needs are

primarily crude oil purchase requirements which fluctuate with the pricing and sourcing of crude oil We also have

significant long term needs for cash including those to support ongoing capital expenditures and other regulatory

compliance

The dangers inherent in our operations could cause disruptions and could expose us to potentially signifi

cant losses costs or liabilities Any significant interruptions in the operations of any of our refineries

could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations

Our operations are subject to significant hazards and risks inherent in refining operations and in transporting

and storing crude oil intermediate products and refined products These hazards and risks include but are not

limited to the following

natural disasters

weather-related disruptions

fires

explosions

pipeline ruptures and spills
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third-party interference

disruption of natural gas deliveries

disruptions of electricity deliveries

disruption of sulfur
gas processing by E.I du Pont de Nemours at our El Paso refinery and

mechanical failure of equipment at our refineries or third-party facilities

Any of the foregoing could result in production and distribution difficulties and disruptions environmental

pollution personal injury or wrongful death claims and other damage to our properties and the properties of others

There is also risk of mechanical failure and equipment shutdowns both in general and following unforeseen events

For example in February 2011 we experienced several days of unplanned downtime at our El Paso refinery due to

weather related causes and interruptions to our electrical supply Furthermore in any of those situations

undamaged refinery processing units may be dependent on or interact with damaged process units and accordingly

are also subject to being shut down

Our refineries consist of many processing units several of which have been in operation for long time One or

more of the units may require unscheduled downtime for unanticipated maintenance or repairs or our planned

tumarounds may last longer than anticipated Scheduled and unscheduled maintenance could reduce our revenues

and increase our costs during the period of time that our units are not operating

Our refining activities are c6nductedat our El Paso refinery in Texas the Yorktown refinery in Virginia and

our Gallup refinery in New Mexico The refineries constitute significant portion of our operating assets and our

refineries supply significant portion of our fuel to our retail operations Prior to our acquisition of Giant in 2007

there was one fire incident at the Yorktown refinery and two fire incidents at the Gallup refinery in late 2006

Because of the significance to us of our refining operations the occurrence of any of the events described above

could significantly disrupt our production and distribution of refined products and any sustained disruption could

have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

Crude oil supplies for the El Paso refinery come from the Permian Basin in Texas and New Mexico and

therefore are generally not subject to interruption from severe weather such as hurricanes We however obtain

certain of our feedstocks for the El Paso refinery such as alkylate and some refined products we purchase for resale

by pipeline from Gulf Coast refineries Alkylate is used to produce portion of our Phoenix Clean Burning

Gasoline or CBG and other refined products If our supply of feedstocks is interrupted for the El Paso refinery our

business financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted

Our opera lions involve environmental risks that could give rise to material liabilities

Our operations and those of prior owners or operators of our properties have previously resulted in spills

discharges or other releases of petroleum or hazardous substances into the environment and such spills discharges

or releases could also happen in the future Past or future spills related to any of our operations including our

refineries product terminals or transportation of refined products or hazardous substances from those facilities

may give rise to liability including strict liability or liability without fault and clean-up responsibility to

governmental entities or private parties under federal state or local environmental laws as well as under common

law For example we could be held strictly liable under the Comprehensive Environmental Responsibility

Compensation and Liability Act or CERCLA for contamination of properties that we currently own or operate

and facilities to which we transported or arranged for the transportation of wastes or by-products for use treatment

storage or disposal without regard to fault or whether our actions were in compliance with law at the time Our

liability could also increase if other responsible parties including prior owners or Operators of our facilities fail to

complete their clean-up obligations Based on current information we do not believe these liabilities are likely to

have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations In the event that new

spills discharges or other releases of petroleum or hazardous substances occur or are discovered or there are other

changes in facts or in the level of contributions being made by other responsible parties there could be material

adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations
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In addition we may face liability for alleged personal injury or property damage due to exposure to chemicals

or other hazardous substances located at or released from our refineries or otherwise related to our current or former

operations We may also face liability for personal injury property damage natural resource damage or for

clean-up costs for the alleged migration of contamination or other hazardous substances from our refineries to

adjacent and other nearby properties

We may incur significant costs to comply with environmental and health and safely laws and regulations

Our operations and properties are subject to extensive federal state and local environmental health and

safety regulations governing among other things the generation storage handling use and transportation of

petroleum and hazardous substances the emission and discharge of materials into the environment waste

management characteristics composition of gasoline diesel and other fuels and the monitoring and reporting

of greenhouse gas emissions If we fail to comply with these regulations we may be subject to administrative civil

and criminal proceedings by govemmental authorities as well as civil proceedings by environmental groups and

other entities and individuals failure to comply and any related proceedings including lawsuits could result in

significant costs and liabilities penalties judgments against us or governmental or court orders that could alter

limit or stop our operations

In addition new environmental laws and regulations including new regulations relating to altemative energy

sources new state regulations relating to fuel quality and the risk of global climate change as well as new

interpretations of existing laws and regulations increased governmental enforcement or other developments could

require us to make additional unforeseen expenditures Many of these laws and regulations are becoming

increasingly stringent and the cost of compliance with these requirements can be expected to increase over time

We are not able to predict the impact of new or changed laws or regulations or changes in the ways that such laws or

regulations are administered interpreted or enforced The requirements to be met as well as the technology and

length of time available to meet those requirements continue to develop and change To the extent that the costs

associated with meeting any or all of these requiremcnts arc substantial and not adequately provided for there could

be material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

The EPA has issued rules pursuant to the Clean Air Act that require refiners to reduce the sulfur content of

gasoline and diesel fuel and reduce the benzene content of gasoline by various specified dates We are incurring

substantial costs to comply with the EPAs low sulfur and low benzene rules Our strategy for complying with low

sulfur gasoline regulations at our El Paso refinery and our strategy for complying with low sulfur gasoline

regulations at our El Paso and Gallup refineries relies partially on purchasing credits If credits are not available or

are too costly we may not be able to meet the EPAs deadlines using credit strategy Failure to meet the EPAs clean

fuels mandates could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

Pursuant to the Energy Acts of 2005 and 2007 the EPA has issued Renewable Fuels Standards or RFS

implementing mandates to blend renewable fuels into the petroleum fuels produced at our refineries Currently the

standards are enforced at our El Paso refinery only Our Gallup refinery became subject to RFS in 2011 and will

remain subject unless the EPA grants further extensions to small refineries Annually the EPA establishes volume

of renewable fuels that obligated refineries must blend into their finished petroleum fuels The obligated volume

increases over time until 2022 Blending renewable fuels into their finished petroleum fuels will displace an

increasing volume of refinerys product pool Alternatively refineries can meet their RFS obligations by

purchasing renewable identification numbers or RINs If sufficient RINs are unavailable for purchase or if we

are otherwise unable to meet the EPAs RFS mandates our business financial condition and results of operations

could be materially adversely affected

We conk incur significant costs to comply with greenho use gas emissions regulation or legislation

In November 2010 the State of New Mexico adopted regulations regarding greenhouse gas emissions The

regulations will become effective in 2012 unless reversed by the current New Mexico administration or unless

certain amount of emissions are not available within New Mexico and other participating states Our Gallup refinery

will be required to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions by 2% per year between 2012 and 2020 or obtain emission

credits from other regulated facilities The EPA has recently adopted and implemented regulations to restrict
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emissions of greenhouse gases under certain provisions of the Clean Air Act One of the rules adopted by the EPA

requires reduction in certain emissions of greenhouse gases from large stationary sources such as refineries

effective January 2011 nuniber of legal challenges have been presented regarding these proposed greenhouse

gas regulations but no legal limitation on the EPA implementing these rules has occurred to date The EPA has also

adopted rules requiring refiners to report greenhouse gas emissions on an annual basis beginning in 2011 for

emissions occuiiing aftcr Jauuaiy 2010 Furthei the United States Cougicss has recently discussed legislation

related to the reduction of greenhouse gases through cap and trade programs To the extent these EPA rules and

regulations continue to be implemented or cap and trade legislation is enacted by federal or state governments our

operating costs will increase and such increase could have an adverse effect on our business financial condition

and results of operations

Our business financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected by

continued economic downturn

The recent turmoil in the global financial markets and the scarcity of credit has led to lack of consumer

confidence increased market volatility and widespread reduction of business activity generally in the United States

and abroad The economic downturn has materially adversely affected and may continue to affect the liquidity

businesses and/or financial conditions of our customers which has resulted and may continue to resdit not only in

decreased demand for our products but also increased delinquencies in our accounts receivable The disruptions in

the financial markets could also lead to reduction in available trade credit due to counterparties liquidity

concerns If we are unable to obtain borrowings or letters of credit under our Revolving Credit Agreement our

business financial condition and results df operations could be materially adversely affected

We could experience business interruptions caused by pipeline shutdown

Our El Paso refinery which is our largest refinery is dependent on pipeline owned by Kinder Morgan Energy

Partneis LP or Kinder Morgan for the delivery of all of its crude oil Because our crude oil refining capacity at the

El Paso refinery is approaching the delivery capacity of the pipeline our ability to offset lost production due to

disruptions in supply with increased future production is limited due to this crude oil supply constraint In addition

we will be unable to take advantage of further expansion of the El Paso refinerys production without securing

additional crude oil supplies or pipeline expansion We also deliver substantial percentage of the refined products

produced at the El Paso refinery through three principal product pipelines Any extended non-excused downtime of

our El Paso refinery could cause us to lose line space on these refined products pipelines if we cannot otherwise

utilize our pipeline allocations We could experience an interruption of supply or delivery or an increased cost of

receiving crude oil and delivering refined products to market if the ability of these pipelines to transport crude oil or

refined products is disrupted because of accidents governmental regulation terrorism other third-party action or

any other events beyond our contr5l prolonged inability to receive crude oil or transport refined products on

pipelines that we currently utilize could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and

results of operations

We also have pipeline system that delivers crude oil and natural gas liquids to our Gallup refinery The Gallup

refinery is dependent on the crude oil pipeline system for the delivery of the crude oil necessary to run the refinery If

the operation of the pipeline system is disrupted we may not receive the crude oil necessary to run the refinery

prolonged inability to transport crude oil on the pipeline system could have material adverse effect on our

business financial condition and results of operations

Certain rights-of way necessary for our crude oil pipeline system to deliver crude oil to our Gallup refinery

must be renewed periodically prolonged inahility to use these pipelines to transport crude oil to our Gallup

refinery could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

We may not have sufficient crude oil to be able to run our Gallup refinery at full capacity

Our Gallup refinery purchases crude oil from the local regions around the refinery To the extent sufficient

local crude oil cannot be purchased and we are unable to transport sufficient crude oil on our 16-inch pipeline to

supply the Gallup refinery we may not have sufficient crude oil to run the Gallup refinery at the historical levels of
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our Four Corners refineries which could have material adverse impact on our business financial condition and

results of operations

We could incur substantial costs or disruptions in our business if we cannot obtain or maintain necessary

permits and authorizations

Our operations require numerous permits and authorizations under various laws and regulations including

environmental and health and safety laws and regulations This includes our El Paso refinerys Texas Flexible

Permit See Note 21 Contingencies El Paso Refinery These authorizations and permits are subject to revocation

renewal or modification and can require operational changes which may involve significant costs to limit impacts

or potential impacts on the environment and/or health and safety violation of these authorization or permit

conditions or other legal or regulatory requirements could result in substantial fines criminal sanctions permit

revocations injunctions and/or refinery shutdowns In addition major modifications of our operations could require

modifications to our existing permits or expensive upgrades to our existing pollution control equipment which

could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations

Competition in the refining and marketing industry is intense and an increase in competition in the areas

in which we sell our refined products could adversely affect our sales and profitability

We compete with broad range of refining and marketing companies including certain multinational oil

companies Because of their geographic diversity larger and more complex refineries integrated operations and

greater resources some of our competitors may be better able to withstand volatile market conditions to compete

on the basis of price to obtain crude oil in times of shortage and to bear the economic risks inherent in all phases of

the refining industry

We are not engaged in the petroleum exploration and production business and therefore do not produce any of

our crude oil feedstocks Certain of our competitors however obtain portion of their feedstocks from company-

owned production Competitors that have their own production are at times able to offset losses from refining

operations with profits from production and may be better positioned to withstand periods of depressed refining

margins or feedstock shortages In addition we compete with other industries that provide alternative means to

satisfy the energy and fuel requirements of our industrial commercial and individual consumers If we are unable

to compete effectively with these competitors both within and outside of our industry there could be material

adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

The areas where we sell refined products are also supplied by various refined product pipelines Any

expansions or additional product supplied by these third-party pipelines could put downward pressure on refined

product prices in these areas

Portions of our operations in the areas we operate may be impacted by competitors plans as well as plans of

our own for expansion projects and refinery improvements that could increase the production of refined products in

the Southwest region In addition we anticipate that lower quality crude oils which are typically less expensive to

acquire can and will be processed by our competitors as result of refinery improvements These developments

could result in increased competition in the areas in which we operate

Our insurance policies do not cover all losses costs or liabilities that we may experience

Our insurance
coverage does not cover all potential losses costs or liabilities We could suffer losses for

uninsurable or uninsured risks or in amounts in excess of our existing insurance coverage Our ability to obtain and

maintain adequate insurance may be affected by conditions in the insurance market over which we have no control

In addition if we experience any more insurable events our annual premiums could increase further or insurance

may not be available at all The occurrence of an event that is not fully covered by insurance or the loss of insurance

coverage
could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition nd results of operations
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substantial portion of our refining workforce is unionized and we may face labor disruptions that

would interfere with our operations

As of February 25 2011 we employed approximately 2950 people approximately 380 of whom were covered

by collective bargaining agreements Subject to Memorandum of Understanding dated August 23 2010 between

Western Refining Yorktown Inc and the local union representing the covered Yorktown refinery employees the

collective bargaining agreement at our Yorktown refinery was terminated in connection with the temporary

suspension of refining activities at our Yorktown facility If we restart refining operations at our Yorktown facility

prior to March 15 2012 the collective bargaining agreement for covered Yorktown employees will be reinstated

All separated covered employees have recall rights if we restart Yorktown refining operations prior to March 16

2012 In 2008 we successfully negotiated collective bargaining agreements covering employees at our Gallup and

Bloomfield refineries that expire in 2011 and 2012 respectively Although the collective bargaining agreement

remains in force the covered employees at our Bloomfield refinery were terminated in connection with the

indefinite suspension of refining operations at our Bloomfield facility during November 2009 We also successfully

negotiated new collective bargaining agreement covering employees at our El Paso refinery renewing the

collective bargaining agreement that expired in April 2009 The collective bargaining agreement covering the

El Paso refinery employees expires in April 2012 While all of our collective bargaining agreements contain no
strike provisions those provisions are not effective in the event that an agreement expires Accordingly we may
not be able to prevent strike or work stoppage in the future and any such work stoppage could have material

adverse affect on our business financial condition and results of operations

Terrorist attacks threats of war or actual war may negatively affect our operations financial condition

results of operations and prospects

Terrorist attacks in the U.S as well as events occurring in response to or in connection with them may

adversely affect our operations financial condition results of operations and prospects Energy related assets

which could include refineries and terminals such as ours or pipelines such as the ones on which we depend for our

crude oil supply and refined product distribution may be at greater risk of future terrorist attacks than other possible

targets direct attack on our assets or assets used by us could have material adverse effect on our operations

financial condition results of operations and prospects In addition any terrorist attack could have an adverse

impact on energy prices including prices for our crude oil and refined products and an adverse impact on the

margins from our refining and marketing operations In addition disruption or significant increases in energy prices

could result in government imposed price controls

While we currently maintain some insurance that provides coverage against terrorist attacks such insurance

has become increasingly expensive and difficult to obtain As result insurance providers may not continue to offer

this coverage to us on terms that we consider affordable or at all

Long-lived and intangible assets comprise significant portion of our total assets

Long-lived assets and both amortizable intangible assets and intangible assets with indefinite lives must be

tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of those

assets may not be recoverable We evaluate the remaining useful lives of our intangible assets with indefinite lives

each reporting period If events or circumstances no longer support an indefinite life the intangible asset is tested

for impairment and prospectively amortized over its remaining useful life Long-lived and amortizable intangible

assets are not recoverable if their carrying amount exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result

from their use and eventual disposition If long lived or amortizable intangible asset is not recoverable an

impairment lu55 is recugnized in an aniuuut by which its carrying amuunt eAceeds its fair value with fair value

determined generally based on discounted estimated net cash flows

In order to test long-lived and amortizable intangible assets for recoverability management must make

estimates of projected cash flows related to the asset being evaluated which include but are not limited to

assumptions about the use or disposition of the asset its estimated remaining life and future expenditures necessary

to maintain its existing service potential In order to determine fair value management must nake certain estimates

and assumptions including among other things an assessment of market conditions projecte.d volumes margins
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cash flows investment rates interest/equity rates and growth rates that could significantly impact the fair value of

the asset being tested for impairment

Due to the effect of the current unfavorable economic conditions on the refining industry and our expectations

of continuation of such conditions for the near term we will continue to monitor both our operating assets and our

capital projects for potential asset impairments or project write offs until conditions improve Due to continuing

losses resulting from narrow heavy light crude differentials poor coking economics and changes in our Yorktown

crude oil purchase contracts we have recently suspended refining operations at our Yorktown refinery As such our

current evaluations are primarily focused on our Yorktown refinery long lived assets which had carrying value of

$678.5 million as of December 31 2010 Changes in market conditions as well as changes in assumptions used to

test for recoverability and to determine fair value could result in significant impairment charges or project write

offs in the future thus negatively affecting our earnings See Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Long-lived Assets

Our operating results are seasonal and generally lower in the fint and fourth quarters of the year

Demand for gasoline is generally higher during the summer months than during the winter months In addition

ethanol is added to the gasoline in our service areas during the winter months thereby increasing the supply of

gasoline This combination of decreased demand and increased supply during the winter months can lower gasoline

prices As result our operating results for the first and fourth calendar quarters are generally lower than those for

the second and third calendar quarters of each year The effects of seasonal demand for gasoline are partially offset

by increased demand during the winter months for diesel fuel in the Southwest and heating oil in the Northeast

Our ability to pay dividends iz the future is limited by con tractual restrictions and cash generated by

operations

We are holding company and all of our operations are conducted through our subsidiaries Consequently we

will rely on dividends or advances from our subsidiaries to fund any dividends The ability of our operating

subsidiaries to pay dividends and our ability to receive distributions from those entities are subject to applicable

local law In addition our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders is subject to certain restrictions in our

Revolving Credit Agreement our Term Loan Credit Agreement and the indenture governing our Senior Secured

Notes including pro
forma compliance with fixed charge coverage ratio test and an excess availability test under

our Revolving Credit Agreement pro forma compliance with our minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio and

maximum leverage ratio coŁnants and fixed cap under our Term Loan Credit Agreement and compliance with an

incurrence-based test and formula-based maximum under the indenture governing our Senior Secured Notes

These factors could restrict our ability to pay
dividends in the future In addition our payment of dividends will

depend upon our ability to generate sufficient cash flows Our board of directors will review our dividend policy

periodically in light of the factors referred to above and we cannot assure you of the amount of dividends if any

that may be paid in the future

Our controlling stockholders may have conflicts of interest with other stockholders in the future

Mr Paul Foster our Executive Chairman and Messrs Jeff Stevens our Chief Executive Officer and President

and current director Ralph Schmidt our former Chief Operating Officer and current director and Scott Weaver

our Vice President Assistant Secretary and current director own approximately 41% of our common stock As

result Mr Foster and the other members of this group will strongly influence or effectively control the election of

our directors our corporate and management policies and determine without the consent of our other stockholders

the outcome of any corporate transaction or other matter submitted to our stockholders for approval including

potential mergers or acquisitions asset sales and other significant corporate transactions The interests of Mr Foster

and the other members of this group may not coincide with the interests of other holders of our common stock
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If we lose any of our key personnel our ability to manage our business and continue our growth could

be negatively impacted

Our future performance depends to significant degree upon the continued contributions of our senior

management team including our Executive Chairman Chief Executive Officer and President Chief Financial

Officer Vice President and Assistant Secretary President-Refining and Marketing Senior Vice President-Legal

General Counsel and Secretary Chief Accounting Officer and Senior Vice President Treasurer We do not

currently maintain key man life insurance with respect to any member of our senior management team The loss

or unavailability to us of any member of our senior management team or key technical employee could

significantly harm us We face competition for these professionals from our competitors our customers and other

companies operating in our industry To the extent that the services of members of our senior management team

would be unavailable to us for any reason we would be required to hire other personnel to manage and operate our

company We may not be able to locate or employ such qualified personnel on acceptable terms or at all

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our principal properties are described under Item Business and the information is incorporated herein by

reference As of December 31 2010 we were party to number of cancelable and non-cancelable leases for

certain properties including our cdrporate headquarters in El Paso and administrative offices in Tempe Arizona

See Note 23 Operating Leases and Other Commitments in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

included elsewhere in this annual report

Item Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary conduct of our business we are subject to periodic lawsuits investigations and claims

including environmental claims and employee related matters Although we cannot predict with certainty the

ultimate resolution of lawsuits investigations and claims asserted against us we do not believe that any currently

pending legal proceeding or proceedings to which we are party will have material adverse effect on our business

financial condition or results of operations

Item Reserved

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock began trading on the NYSE on January 19 2006 under the symbol WNR As of

February 25 2011 we had 142 holders of record of our common stock The following table summarizes the high
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and low sales prices of our common stock as reported on the NYSE Composite Tape for the quarterly periods in the

past two fiscal years and dividends declared on our common stock for the same periods

Dividends per

High Low Common Share

2010

First quarter 5.84 $4.03

Second quarter 5.90 4.30

Third quarter 5.42 4.01

Fourth quarter 10.78 5.09

2009

First quarter $14.00 $7.83

Second quarter 16.30 6.65

Third quarter 8.13 5.45

Fourth quarter 00 45

Our payment of dividends is limited under the terms of our Revolving Credit Agreement our Term Loan Credit

Agreement and our Senior Secured Notes and in part depends on our ability to satisfy certain financial covenants

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters
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Performance Graph

The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed soliciting material or filed

with the SEC nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any further filings under the Securities

Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 each as amended except to the extent we specifically

incorporate it by reference into such filing

The following graph compares the cumulative 59-month total stockholder return on the Companys common

stock relative to the cumulative total stockholder returns of the Standard Poors or SP 500 index and

customized peer group of seven companies that includes Alon USA Energy Inc Delek US Holdings Inc Frontier

Oil Corp Holly Corp Sunoco Inc Tesoro Corp and Valero Energy Corp An investment of $100 with

reinvestment of all dividends is assumed to have been made in our common stock and peer group on January 19

2006 The index on December 31 2010 and its relative performance are tracked through this date The stock price

performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance

COMPARISON OF 59-MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Western Refining Inc ----- SP 500 -0- Peer Group

COMPARISON OF 59-MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Tabular representation of data in graph above

Jan Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec

2006 2006 2006 2006 2006 2007 2007 2007 2007 2008 2008 2008 20082006-2008
_________ _________ _________ _________

Western Refining

Inc $100.00 $116.51 $116.51 $125.69 $137.92 $211.59 $313.75 $220.60 $131.94 73.41 64.91 $55.43

SP 500 100.00 101.15 99.69 105.34 112.40 113.12 120.22 122.66 118.58 107.38 104.45 95.71

Peer Group 100.00 98.70 106.90 86.68 88.23 110.65 129.14 114.97 116.78 81.67 66.61 52.05

Mar
2009-2010 2009

Western Refining Inc $65.46

SP 500 66.48

Peer Group 35.35

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

There were no purchases of equity securities by us or any of our affiliates during the quarter ended

December 31 2010 In addition we currently do not have any share repurchase plans or programs
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29



Item Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth our summary of historical financial and operating data for the periods indicated

below The summary results of operations and financial position data for 2010 2009 2008 2007 and 2006 have

been derived from the consolidated financial statements of Western Refining Inc and its subsidiaries including

Western Refining Company LR On May 31 2007 we completed the acquisition of Giant The summary results of

operations and financial position data for 2007 include the results of operations for Giant beginning June 2007

The first full fiscal year in which we owned Giant was 2008 and therefore the summary results of operations and

financial position data for 2010 2009 and 2008 are not comparable to periods prior to 2008

The information presented below should be read in conjunction with Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results qf Operations and the financial statements and the notes thereto

included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 20071 2006

In thousands except per share data

Statement of Operations Data

Net sales $7965053 $6807368 $10725581 7305032 $4199383

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of

depreciation and amortization2 7155967 5944128 9735500 6385623 3644391

Direct operating expenses exclusive of

depreciation and amortization 444531 486164 532325 382690 171729

Selling general and administrative

expenses 84175 109697 115913 77350 37043

Goodwill and other impairment

losses 13.038 352340

Maintenance turnaround expense 23286 8088 28936 15947 22196

Depreciation and amortization 138621 145981 113611 64193 13624

Total operating costs and expenses 7859618 7046398 10526285 6925803 3888983

Operating income loss 105435 239030 199296 379229 310400

Other income expense

Interest income 441 248 1830 18852 10820

Interest expense and other financing

costs 146549 121321 102202 53843 2167
Amortization of loan fees- 9739 6870 4789 1912 500
Write-off of unamortized loan fees 9047 10890 1961
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 774
Other income expense net 7286 15184 1176 1049 561

Income loss before income taxes 43126 391204 84421 340503 317153

Provision for income taxes 26077 40583 20224 101892 112373

Net income loss 17049 350621 64197 238611 204780

Basic earnings loss per share 0.19 4.43 0.94 3.50 3.05

Diluted earnings loss per share 0.19 4.43 0.94 3.50 3.05

Dividends declared per common share 0.06 0.22 0.16

Weighted average basic shares

outstanding 88204 79163 67715 67180 65387

Weighted average dilutive shares

outstanding 88204 79163 67715 67180 65387
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Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 20071 2006

In thousands except per share data

Cash Flow Data

Net cash provided by used in

Operating activities 134456 140841 285575 113237 245004

Investing activities 73777 115361 220554 1334028 149555

Financing activities 75657 30407 274769 1247191 13115

Other Data

Adjusted EBITDA3 288107 191438 405854 477172 357601

Capital expenditures 78095 115854 222288 277073 120211

Cash paid for Giant acquisition net of

cash acquired 1056955

Balance Sheet Data at end of period

Cash and cash equivalents 59912 74890 79817 289565 263165

Working capital 272750 311254 314521 621362 276609

Total assets 2628146 2824654 3076792 3559716 908523

Total debt 1069531 1116664 1340500 1583500

Stockholders equity 675593 688452 811489 756485 521601

Includes the results of operations and cash flows for Giant beginning June 2007 the date of acquisition

Cost of products sold includes $21.7 million and $9.9 million respectively in economic hedging losses for the

years ended December 31 2009 and 2007 and $1 1.4 million and $8.6 million respectively in economic

hedging gains for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2006 We previously reported economic hedging

gains and losses as gain loss from derivative activities under other income expense in our Consolidated

Statements of Operations for each of the periods indicated above These prior year reclassifications were made

to conform to the current presentation Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31 2010 includes

$9.4 million in economic hedging losses

Adjusted EBITDA represents earnings before interest expense income tax expense amortization of loan fees

write-off of unamortized loan fees loss on early extinguishment of debt depreciation amortization goodwill

and other impairment losses maintenance tumaround expense and Lower of Cost or Market or LCM
inventory reserve adjustments Adjusted EI3ITDA is not however recognized measurement under United

States generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP Our management believes that the presentation of

Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors because it is frequently used by securities analysts investors and other

interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our industry In addition our management believes that

Adjusted EBITDA is useful in evaluating our operating performance compared to that of other companies in our

industry because the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA generally eliminates the effects of financings income

taxes the accounting effects of significant turnaround activities that many of our competitors capitalize and

thereby exclude from their measures of EBITDA acquisitions and other items that may vary for different

companies for reasons unrelated to overall operating performance

Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as

substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP Some of these limitations are

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for significant turnaround

activities capital expenditures or contractual commitments

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest expense or the cash requiremeiits necessary to service interest

or principal payments on our debt

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in or cash requirements for our working capital needs and

Our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA may differ from the Adjusted EBITDA calculations of other companies

in our industry limiting its usefulness as comparative measure
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Because of these limitations Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered measure of discretionary cash

available to us to invest in the growth of our business We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily

on our GAAP results and using Adjusted EBITDA only supplementally The following table reconciles net

income loss to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 20071 2006

In thousands

Net income loss 17049 $350621 64197 $238611 $204780

Interest expense and other financing costs 146549 121321 102202 53843 2167

Provision for income taxes 26077 40583 20224 101892 112373

Amortization of loan fees 9739 6870 4789 1912 500

Write-off of unamortized loan fees 9047 10890 1961

Loss on early extinguishment of debt 774

Depreciation and amortization 138621 145981 113611 64193 13624

Maintenance turnaround expense 23286 8088 28936 15947 22196

Goodwill and other impairment losses 13038 352340

Net change in LCM inventory reserve 61005 61005

Adjusted EBITDA $288107 $191438 $405854 $477172 $357601
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion together with the financial statements and the notes thereto included

elsewhere in this annual report This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on manage

ments current expectations estimates and projections about our business and operations The cautionary

statements made in this report should be read as applying to all related forward-looking statements wherever

they appear in this report Our actual results may differ inateriallyfroin those currently anticipated and expressed in

such forward-looking statements as result of number of factors including those we discuss under Part

Iteni IA Risk Factors and elsewhere in this report You should read such Risk Factors and Forward-Looking

Statements In this Item all references to Western Refining the Company Western we us and our
refer to Western Refining Inc or WNR and the entities that becanme its subsidiaries upon closing of our initial

public offering including Western Refining Company L.P or Western Refining LP and Giant Industries Inc or

Giant and its subsidiaries which became wholly-owned subsidiai-ies on May 31 2007 unless the context otherwise

requires or where otherwise indicated

Company Overview

We are an independent crude oil refiner and marketer of refined products and also operate service stations and

convenience stores We own and operate two refineries with total crude oil throughput capacity of approximately

151000 barrels per day or bpd In addition to our 128000 bpd refinery in El Paso Texas we own and operate

refinery near Gallup New Mexico with throughput capacity of approximately 23000 bpd Until September 2010

we operated 70000 bpd refinery on the East Coast of the United States near Yorktown Virginia and until

November 2009 we also operated 17000 bpd refinery near Bloomfield New Mexico We temporarily suspended

refining operations at our Yorktown facility in September 2010 and we indefinitely suspended refining operations at

the Bloomfield refinery in November 2009 We continue to operate Yorktown and Bloomfield as product

distribution terminals and supply refined products to those areas Our primary operating areas encompass West

Texas Arizona New Mexico Utah Colorado and the Mid-Atlantic region In addition to the refineries we also

own and operate stand-alone refined product distribution terminals in Albuquerque New Mexico Yorktown and

Bloomfield as well as asphalt terminals in Phoenix and Tucson Arizona Albuquerque and El Paso As of

Deccmber 31 2010 we also own and operate 150 retail service stations and convenience stores in Arizona

Colorado and New Mexico fleet of crude oil and finished product truck transports and wholesale petroleum

products distributor that operates in Arizona California Colorado Nevada New Mexico Texas and Utah

On May 31 2007 we completed the acquisition of Giant Under the terms of the merger agreement we

acquired 100% of Giants 14639312 outstanding shares for $77.00 per share in cash for total purchase price of

$1149.2 million funded primarily through $1125.0 million secured term loan In connection with the

acquisition we borrowed an additional $275.0 million in July 2007 when we paid off and retired Giants 8%

and 11% Senior Subordinated Notes Prior to the acquisition of Giant we generated substantially all of our revenues

from our refining operations in El Paso With the acquisition of Giant we also gained diverse mix of

complementary retail and wholesale businesses

Following the acquisition of Giant we began reporting our operating results in three business segments the

refining group the wholesale group and the retail group Our refining group currently operates the two refineries

and related refined product distribution terminals and asphalt terminals At the refineries we refine crude oil and

other feedstocks into finished products such as gasoline diesel fuel jet fuel and asphalt Our refineries market

finished products to diverse customer base including wholesale distributors and retail chains Our wholesale group

distributes gasoline diesel fuel and lubricant products Our retail group operates service stations and convenience

stores and sells gasoline diesel fuel and merchandise See Note Segment lnformation in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this annual report for detailed information on our

operating results by segment
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Major Influences on Results of Operations

Refining Our net sales fluctuate significantly with movements in refined product prices and the cost of crude

oil and other feedstocks all of which are commodities The spread between crude oil and refined product p1-ices is

the primary factor affecting our earnings and cash flows from operations The cost to acquire feedstocks and the

price of the refined products that we ultimately sell depends on numerous factors beyond our control These factors

include the supply of and demand for crude oil gasoline and other refined products Supply and demand for these

products depend on changes in domestic and foreign economies weather conditions domestic and foreign political

affairs production levels availability of imports marketing of competitive fuels price differentials between heavy

and sour crude oils and light sweet crude oils known as the heavy light crude oil differential and government

regulation Refining margins experienced extreme volatility throughout 2008 and 2009 Refining margins were

somewhat less volatile in 2010 Gasoline margin averages have improved each year since 2008 and average diesel

margins for 2010 showed improvement over 2009 levels Another factor impacting our margins in recent years is the

narrowing of the heavy light crude oil differential Since the second quarter of 2009 the heavy light crude oil

differential has narrowed significantly particularly impacting our Yorktown refinery which when operating can

process up to 100% of heavy crude oil Narrowing of the heavy light crude oil differential can have significant

negative impact on our Yorktown refining margins as was the case during 2009 and 2010 In addition we had

changes in our LCM reserve of $61.0 million related to our Yorktown inventories that increaseftour cost of products

sold for the year ended December 31 2008 and decreased our cost of products sold for the year ended December 31

2009 There were no such LCM reserve changes in the year ended December 31 2010

Other factors that impact our overall refinery gross margins are the sale of lower value products such as

residuum and propane particularly when crude costs are higher In addition our refinery gross margin is further

reduced because our refinery product yield is less than our total refinery throughput volume Our results of

operations are also significantly affected by our refineries direct operating expenses especially the cost of natural

gas used for fuel and the cost of electricity Natural gas prices have historically been volatile Typically electricity

prices fluctuate with natural gas prices

Demand for gasoline is generally higher during the summer months than during the winter months In addition

higher volumes of ethanol are blended with gasoline produced in the Southwest region during the winter months

thereby increasing the supply of gasoline This combination of decreased demand and increased supply during the

winter months can lower gasoline prices As result our operating results for the first and fourth calendar quarters

are generally lower than those for the second and third calendar quarters of each year The effects of seasonal

demand for gasoline are partially offset by increased demand during the winter months for diesel fuel in the

Southwest and heating oil in the Northeast Refining margins remain volatile and our results of operations may not

reflect these historical seasonal trends

Safety reliability and tile environmental performance of our refineries operations are critical to our financial

performance Unplanned downtime of our refineries such as the unplanned weather related outage our El Paso

refinery experienced during February 2011 generally results in lost refinery gross margin opportunity increased

maintenance costs and temporary increase in working capital investment and inventory We attempt to mitigate

the financial impact of planned downtime such as turnaround or major maintenance project through planning

process that considers product availability margin environment and the availability of resources to perform the

required maintenance

Periodically we have planned maintenance turnarounds at our refineries which are expensed as incurred We

shut down the south crude unit for 13 days at the El Paso refinery in the second quarter of 2009 and we performed

crude unit inspection outage for 20 days at the Yorktown refinery in October 2009 We completed scheduled

turnaround at the south side of the El Paso refinery during the first quarter of 2010 Our next scheduled maintenance

turnarounds are during the first quarter of 2013 for El Paso and the fourth quarter of 2012 for Gallup

The nature of our business requires us to maintain substantial quantities of crude oil and refined product

inventories Because crude oil and refined products are commodities we have no control over the changing market

value of these inventories Our inventory of crude oil and the majority of our refined products are valued at the lower

of cost or market value under the last-in first-out or LIFO inventory valuation methodology If the market values of

our inventories decline below our cost basis we would record write-down of our inventories resulting in non
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cash charge to our cost of products sold Market value declines during the year ended December 31 2008 resulted in

non-cash charges to our cost of products sold of $61.0 million Under the LIFO inventory valuation method this

write-down is subject to recovery in future periods to the extent the market values of our inventories equal our cost

basis relative to any LIFO inventory valuation write-downs previously recorded Based on 2009 market conditions

we recorded non-cash recoveries of $61.0 million related to the 2008 LCM charges In addition due to the volatility

in the price of crude oil and other blendstoeks we experienced fluctuations iii oui LIFO reserves between 2008 and

2009 We also experienced LIFO liquidations based on decreased levels in our inventories These LIFO liquidations

resulted in decreases in cost of products sold of $16.9 million and $9.4 million for the years ended December 31

2010 and 2009 respectively and an increase of $66.9 million in cost of products sold for the year ended

December 31 2008 See Note Inventories in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this

annual report for detailed information on the impact of LIFO inventory accounting

Wholesale Our earnings and cash flows from our wholesale business segment are primarily affected by the

sales volumes and margins of gasoline diesel fuel and lubricants sold Margins for gasoline diesel fuel and

lubricant sales are equal to the sales price less cost of sales Margins are impacted by local supply demand and

competition

Retail Our earnings and cash flows from our retail business segment are primarily affected by the sales

volumes and margins of gasoline and diesel fuel sold and by the sales and margins of merchandise sold at our

service stations and convenience stores Margins for gasoline and diesel fuel sales are equal to the sales price less the

delivered cost of the fuel and motor fuel taxes and are measured on cents per gallon or cpg basis Fuel margins

are impacted by local supply demand and competition Margins for retail merchandise sold are equal to retail

merchandise sales less the delivered cost of the merchandise net of supplier discounts and inventory shrinkage and

are measured as percentage of merchandise sales Merchandise sales are impacted by convenience or location

branding and competition Our retail sales are seasonal Our retail business segment operating results for the first

and fourth calendar quarters are generally lower than those for the second and third calendar quarters of each year

Goodwill Impairment Loss Under our policy we test goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if

indications of impairment exist Various indications of possible goodwill impairment prompted us to perform

goodwill impairment analyses at December 31 2008 and March 31 2009 We determined that no such impairment

existed as of those dates Our annual 2009 impairment test was performed as of June 30 2009 The performance of

the test is two-step process Step of the impairment test involves comparing the fair values of the applicable

reporting units with their aggregate carrying values including goodwill If the carrying amount of reporting unit

exceeds the reporting units fair value we perform Step of the goodwill impairment test to determine the amount

of impairment loss Step of the goodwill impairment test involves comparing the implied fair value of the affected

reporting units goodwill against the carrying value of that goodwill

From the first to the second quirter of 2009 there was decline in margins within the refining industry as well

as downward change in industry analysts forecasts for the remainder of 2009 and 2010 This along with other

negative financial forecasts released by independent refiners during the latter part of the second quarter of 2009

contributed to declines in common stock trading prices within the independent refining sector including declines in

our common stock trading price As result our equity market capitalization fell below the net book value of our

assets Through the filing date of our second quarter of 2009 Form 10-Q and through the end of the fourth quarter of

2009 the trading price of our stock had experienced further reductions

We completed Step of the impairment test during the second quarter of 2009 and concluded that impairment

existed Consistent with the preliminary Step analysis completed during the second quarter of 2009 we concluded

that our entire goodwill balance was impaired The resulting non-cash charge of $299.6 million was reported in our

second quarter
of 2009 results of operations We finalized our Step analysis during the third quarter of 2009 There

were no such impairment charges in previous years

Long-lived Asset lmnpairnient Loss We review the carrying values of our long-lived assets for possible

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets to be held and

used may not be recoverable long-lived asset is not recoverable if its carrying amount exceeds the sum of the

undiscounted cash flows expected to result from its use and eventual disposition If long-lived asset is not

recoverable an impairment loss is recognized in an amount by which its carrying amount exceeds its fair value
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In order to test long-lived assets for recoverability we must make estimates of projected cash flows related to

the asset being evaluated which include but are not limited to assumptions about the use or disposition of the asset

its estimated remaining life and future expenditures necessary to maintain its existing service potential In order to

determine fair value we must make certain estimates and assumptions including among other things an

assessment of market conditions projected volumes margins cash flows investment rates interest/equity rates

and growth rates that could significantly impact the fair value of the asset being tested fur impairment

In the fourth quarter of 2009 we announced our plans to indefinitely suspend the refining operations at our

Bloomfield refinery and operate the site as product distribution terminal and crude oil storage facility Accord

ingly we tested our Bloomfield refinery long lived assets and certain intangible assets for recoverability and

determined that $41.8 million and $11.0 million of ccrtain refinery related long-lived and intangible assets

respectively were impaired During the fourth quarter of 2010 we recorded an additional impairment charge of

$9.1 million resulting from our fourth quarter 2010 analysis of specific assets that we had previously planned to

relocate from our Bloomfield facility to our Gallup refinery Based on the sustainable operational improvements of

our Gallup refinery during 2010 that were beyond what we had anticipated at the time of the Bloomfield refinery

idling we determined that one of thc three assets set aside for relocation to Gallup was no longer required to attain

our desired levels of production Non cash impairment losses of $9.1 million and $52.8 million related to the long-

lived assets and certain intangible assets are included under other impairment losses in the Consolidated Statements

of Operations for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Factors Impacting Comparability of Our Financial Results

Our historical results of operations for the periods presented may not be comparable with prior periods or to our

results of operations in the future for the reasons discussed below

Senior Secured Notes Convertible Senior Notes and Equity Offering

During the second and third quarters of 2009 we issued $600.0 million in Senior Secured Notes and

$215.5 million in Convertible Senior Notes The Senior Secured Notes consist of two tranches the first consisting

of $325.0 million in 11.25% fixed rate aggregate principal amount notes and the second consisting of $275.0 million

floating rate aggregate principal amount notes The interest rate on the floating rate notes was 10.75% at issuance in

June 2009 Proceeds froni the issuance of the Senior Secured Notes net of original issue and underwriting discounts

were $538.2 million The Convertible Senior Notes consist of $215.5 million in 5.75% aggregate principal amount

notes The Convertible Senior Notes are unsecured and were issued with an initial conversion rate of 92.5926 shares

of common stock per $1000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes equivalent to an initial conversion price

of approximately $10.80 per share of common stock Proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes

were $209.0 million net orunderwriting discounts

During the second quarter of 2009 we issued an additional 20000000 shares of our common stock for an

aggregate amount of $180.0 million The proceeds of this issuance were $171.0 million net of $9.0 million in

underwriting discounts

The combined proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Senior Secured Notes the Convertible Senior Notes

and our common stock were used to retire $912.7 million of our outstanding indebtedness under our Term Loan

Credit Agreement See Note 13 Long Tenn Debt and Note 18 Stockholders Equity in the Consolidated Financial

Statements included in this annual report for detailed information on the issuance and composition of these notes

Asset Impairments

In the fourth quarter of 2009 we announced our plans to indefinitely sàspend the refining operations at our

Bloomfield refinery and maintain the site as product distribution terminal and crude oil storage facility

Accordingly we tested the Bloomfield refinery long-lived assets and certain intangible assets for recoverability

and determined that $41.8 million and $11 .0 million of certain Bloomfield refinery related long-lived and intangible

assets respectively were impaired During the fourth quarter of 2010 we recorded an additional impairment charge

of $9.1 million resulting from our fourth quarter 2010 analysis of specific assets that we had previously planned to
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relocate from our Bloomfield facility to our Gallup refinery Based on the current operations of the Gallup refinery

we have determined that one of the three assets set aside for relocation to Gallup is no longer required Non-cash

impairment losses of $9.1 million and $52.8 million related to the long-lived assets and certain intangible assets are

included under other impairment losses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

We completed an impairment analysis of the long-lived assets at our Flagstaff Arizona product distribution

terminal following our permanent closure of the facility in the third quarter of 2010 The analysis determined that

impairment existed and we accordingly recorded third quarter 2010 non-cash impairment charge of $3.8 million

related to Flagstaff terminal long-lived assets This charge is included under other impairment losses in our

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31 2010

During the second quarter of 2009 we performed our annual impairment test and as result concluded that all

of our goodwill was impaired The resulting non-cash charge of $299.6 million was reported in our second quarter

2009 results of operations This charge is included under goodwill impairment loss in our Consolidated Statements

of Operations for the year
ended December 31 2009

Employee Benefit Plans

We terminated our defined benefit plan covering certain El Paso refinery employees during 2009 The

termination resulted in reduction to our related pension obligation of $24.3 million with corresponding reduction

of $25.1 million before the effect of income taxes to other comprehensive loss During 2010 in connection with the

temporary idling of our Yorktown refinery and resultant termination of participants of the Yorktown cash balance

plan we had distributed $12.8 million from plan assets to plan participants As of December 31 2010 the plan had

not been terminated The curtailment resulted in increases to the related pension obligation of $1.4 million and to

other comprehensive loss before income taxes of $1.1 million Subject to Memorandum of Understanding

between Western Refining Yorktown Inc and the local union representing the Yorktown refinery employees

eligible terminated employees both bargained for and non-bargained for were given the option of receiving

severance pay or coverage under the Yorktown retiree medical plan but not both The resulting choices made by the

terminated employees reduced our benefits obligation by $5.7 million as of December 31 2010 Currently we do

not plan to terminate the Yorktown retiree medical plan

Write-off of Unamortized Loan Fees

During the second and third quarters of 2009 we made principal payments on our Term Loan of $925.7 million

primarily from the net proceeds of our debt and common stock offerings Accordingly we expensed $9.0 million

during the second quarter
of 2009 fo write-off portion of the unamortized loan fees related to the Term Loan In

June 2008 we amended our Revolving Credit Agreement and Term Loan As result of such amendment we

recorded an expense of $10.9 million related to the write-off of deferred loan fees incurred in May 2007 We

completed an additional amendment to our Revolving Credit Agreement in December 2010 We will amortize all

fees incurred as result of this amendment along with all unamortized loan fees related to the Revolving Credit

Agreement prior to this amendment ratably through the amended maturity date of January 2015 See Note 13

Long-Tenn Debt in the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report for detailed information

on our long-term debt

Environmental Cost Recoveries Property Tax Refunds and Other

During the latter part of March 2010 we reversed $14.7 million related to our accrued bonus for 2009 This

revision of our 2009 bonus estimate reduced direct operating expenses and selling general and administrative

expenses for 2010 by $8.5 million and $6.2 million respectively During 2009 we recovered $10.6 million from

various third parties related to environmental costs recorded during 2009 and prior years These recoveries are

included in direct operating expenses reported for the year ended December 31 2009 Additionally during 2009 we

decreased our property tax expense estimate by $5.5 million resulring from revised El Paso property appraisal rolls

for 2006 through 2008 The revision to the property appraisal rolls also resulted in refund of $2.9 million from
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various taxing authorities further reducing our property tax expense for total decrease of $8.4 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 We also recorded fourth quarter 2009 legal settlement charge of $20.0 million

Planned Maintenance Turnaround

During 2010 and 2009 we incurred costs of $23.3 million and $8.1 million respectively for maintenance

turnarounds Primarily during the third and fourth quarters of 2009 we incurred costs of $2.9 million in crude unit

shutdown and $4.0 million in connection with the planned turnaround in the first quarter of 2010 at the El Paso

refinery and $1.2 million in connection with the planned turnaround in the third quarter of 2010 at the Yorktown

refinery which was subsequently cancelled The 2008 maintenance turnaround was performed during the fourth

quarter at the north side of the El Paso refinery Our next scheduled maintenance turnarounds are during the first

quarter of 2013 for El Paso and the fourth quarter of 2012 for Gallup We expense the cost of maintenance

turnarounds when the
expense

is incurred Most of our competitors however capitalize and amortize maintenance

tumarounds

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP In order to apply these principles we must

make judgments assumptions and estimates based on the best available information at the time Actual results may
differ based on the accuracy of the information utilized and subsequent events some of which we may have little or

no control over Our critical accounting policies which are discussed below could materially affect the amounts

recorded in our financial statements

Inventories Crude oil refined product and other feedstock and blendstock inventories are carried at the

lower of cost or market Cost is determined principally under the LIFO valuation method to reflect better matching

of costs and revenues Ending inventory costs in excess of market value are written down to net realizable market

values and charged to cost of products sold in the period recorded In subsequent periods new lower of cost or

market determination is made based upon current circumstances We determine market value inventory adjustments

by evaluating crude oil refined products and other inventories on an aggregate basis by geographic region

Aggregated LIFO costs were less than the current cost of our crude oil refined product and other feedstock and

blendstock inventories by $173.5 million at December 31 2010

Retail refined product fuel inventory values are determined using the first-in first-out or FIFO inventory

valuation method Retail merchandise inventory value is determined under the retail inventory method Wholesale

finished product lubricant and related inventories are determined using the FIFO inventory valuation method

Finished product inventories originate from either our refineries or from third-party purchases

Maintenance Turnaround Expense The units at our refineries require periodic maintenance and repairs

commonly referred to as turnarounds The required frequency of the maintenance varies by unit but generally is

every two to six years depending on the processing unit involved We expense the cost of maintenance tumarounds

when the expense is incurred These costs are identified as separate line item in our Consolidated Statements of

Operations

Long-lived Assets We calculate depreciation and amortization on straight-line basis over the estimated

useful lives of the various classes of depreciable assets When assets are placed in service we make estimates of

what we believe are their reasonable useful lives For assets to be disposed of we report long lived assets at the

lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost of disposal

We review the carrying values of our lung-lived assets fur possible impairment whenever eveots or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets to be held and used may not be recoverable long-lived

asset is not recoverable if its carrying amount exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result

from its use and eventual disposition If long lived asset is not recoverable an impairment loss is recognized in an

amount by which its carrying amount exceeds its fair value

In order to test our long lived assets for recoverability we must make estimates of projected cash flows related

to the asset being evaluated which include but are not limited to assumptions about the use or disposition of the
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asset its estimated remaining life and future expenditures necessary to maintain its existing service potential In

order to determine fair value we must make certain estimates and assumptions including among other things an

assessment of market conditions projected cash flows investment rates interest/equity rates and growth rates that

could significantly impact the fair value of the asset being tested for impairment

The economic slowdown that began in 2008 and continued into 2010 has reduced demand for refined products

thereby putting significant pressure on refined product margins Beginning in the second quarter of 2009 heavy

light crude oil differentials have narrowed significantly Narrow heavy light crude oil differential has negatively

impacted the results of operations of our Yorktown refinery Due to these economic conditions at December 31

2009 we performed an impairment analysis of our Yorktown long-lived and intangible assets This analysis

indicated that the December 31 2009 carrying value of our Yorktown long lived assets was recoverable Continuing

Josses due to narrow heavy light crude oil differentials poor coking economics changes in Yorktown crude oil

purchase contract terms and potentially significant regulatory capital spending requirements caused us to

temporarily suspend our Yorktown refining operations during the third quarter of 2010 Accordingly we revised

our cash flow forecasts used in our analysis for long-lived asset impairment at our Yorktown refinery to reflect these

changes in operations at the Yorktown facility as of June 30 2010 The revised cash flows used in our June 30 2010

impairment analysis assumes that refining operations will be temporarily suspended that our Yorktown facility will

be operated as refined product terminal in the near term and that restart activities will begin no later than the

middle of 2013 Ourrevised forecast includes estimates and assumptions that require considerable judgment and are

based on our historical production volumes and throughputs industry analysts margin forecasts financial

forecasts and industry trends and conditions Based on our analysis we determined that the undiscounted

forecasted cash flows exceeded the carrying amount of our Yorktown long-lived and intangible assets as of

June 30 2010 No significant changes have occurred since we performed our analysis that would require us to revise

our June 30 2010 analysis The carrying value of the long-lived assets related to refining operations that were

temporarily idled could be subject to impairment We currently anticipate six to nine month pre-restart

maintenance period will be required before our Yorktown refinery can be restarted at an estimated cost of at

least $50.0 million which includes maintenance turnaround If our current plans to restart refining operations at

our Yorktown facility within the next two to three years change the likelihood of impairment of the long-lived

assets and certain intangible assets related to the refinery operations will increase Impairments related to Yorktown

could have material impact on our results of operations The carrying value of total long-lived and intangible

assets at Yorktown as of December 31 2010 was $678.5 million of which $472.4 million related to our Yorktown

refining assets

In the fourth quarter of 2009 we announced our plans to indefinitely suspend the refining operations at our

Bloomfield refinery and maintain the site as product distribution terminal and cmde oil storage facility

Accordingly we tested the Bloomfield refinery long-lived assets and certain intangible assets for recoverability

and determined that $41.8 million and $11.0 million respectively of impairment losses existed in certain

Bloomfield refinery related long-lived and intangible assets During the fourth quarter of 2010 we recorded an

additional impairment charge of $9.1 million resulting from our fourth quarter 2010 analysis of specific assets that

we had previously planned to relocate from our Bloomfield facility to our Gallup refinery Based on sustainable

operational improvements at our Gallup refinery during 2010 that were beyond what we had anticipated at the time

of the Bloomfield refinery idling we determined that one of the three assets set aside for relocation to Gallup was no

longer required to attain our desired levels of production Non cash impairment losses of $9.1 million and

$52.8 million related to the long-lived assets and certain intangible assets are included under other impairment

losses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

We currently plan to relocate and place the remaining Bloomfield refining assets with net book value of

$12.4 million at December 31 2010 into service at the Gallup refinery during the maintenance turnaround

scheduled for 2012

During the third quarter of 2010 we permanently closed our product distribution terminal in Flagstaff

Arizona We completed an impairment analysis of our Flagstaff terminal long lived assets and determined from this

analysis that the assets were fully impaired Accordingly an impairment charge of $3.8 million related to our

Flagstaff long-lived assets is included in other impairment losses in the Consolidated Staterrjents of Operations for

the year ended December 31 2010
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price cost over the

fair value of the net assets acquired and is carried at cost We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level

annually In addition goodwill of reporting unit is tested for impairment if
any events and circumstances arise

during quarter that indicates goodwill of reporting unit might be impaired The reporting unit or units used to

evaluate and measure goodwill for impairment are determined primarily from the manner in which the business is

managed reporting unit is an operating segment or component that is one level below an operating segment

Within our refining segment we have determined that we have three reporting units for
purposes of assigning

goodwill and testing for impairment Our wholesale and retail segments are considered reporting units for purposes

of assigning goodwill and testing for impairment Our goodwill was assigned to two of our three refining reporting

units and to our wholesale and retail reporting units We do not amortize goodwill for financial reporting purposes

Various indications of possible goodwill impairment prompted us to perform goodwill impairment analyses at

December 31 2008 and March 31 2009 We determined that no such impairment existed as of those dates Our

2009 annual impairment test was performed as of June 30 2009 The performance of the test is two-step process

Step of the impairment test involves comparing the fair values of the applicable reporting units with their

aggregate carrying values including goodwill If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds the reporting units

fair value we perform Step of the goodwill impairment test to determine the amount of impairment loss Step of

the goodwill impairment test involves comparing the implied fair value of the affected reporting units goodwill

against the carrying value of that goodwill

From the first to the second quarter of 2009 there was decline in margins within the refining industry as well

as downward change in industry analysts forecasts for the remainder of 2009 and 2010 This along with other

negative financial forecasts released by independent refiners during the latter part of the second quarter of 2009
contributed to declines in common stock trading prices within the independent refining sector including declines in

our common stock trading price As result our equity market capitalization fell below the net book value of our

assets Through the filing date of our second quarter 2009 Form lO-Q and through the end of the fourth quarter of

2009 the trading pricc of our stock had experienced furthcr reductions

We completed Step of the impairment test during the second quarter of 2009 and concluded that impairment

existed We finalized our Step analysis during the third quarter of 2009 Consistent with the preliminary Step

analysis completed during the second quarter of 2009 we concluded that all of our goodwill was impaired The

resulting non-cash charge of $299.6 million was reported in our second quarter of 2009 results of operations We
had no such impairment charges during 2010 or 2008

We amortize intangible assets such as rights-of way licenses and permits over their economic useful lives

unless the economic useful lives of the assets are indefinite If an intangible assets economic useful life is

determined to be indefinite then that asset is not amortized We consider factors such as the assets history our plans

for that asset and the market for products associated with the asset when the intangible asset is acquired We

consider these same factors when reviewing the economic useful lives of our existing intangible assets as well We

review the economic useful lives of our intangible assets at least annually

Environmental and Other Loss Contingencies We record liabilities for loss contingencies including

environmental remediation costs when such losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated Environmental

costs are expensed if they relate to an existing condition caused by past operations with no future economic benefit

Estimates of projected environmental costs are made based upon intemal and third-party assessments of contam

ination available remediation technology and environmental regulations Loss contingency accruals including

those for environmental remediation are subject to revision as further information develops or circumstances

change and such accruals can take into account the legal liability of other parties

As result of purchase accounting related to the Giant acquisition the majority of our environmental

obligations assumed in the acquisition of Giant are recorded on discounted basis Where the available information

is sufficient to estimate the amount of liability that estimate is used Where the information is only sufficient to

establish range of probable liability and no point within the range
is more likely than other the lower end of the

range is used Possible recoveries of some of these costs from other parties are not recognized in the financial

statements until they become probable Legal costs associated with environmental remqdiation are included as part

of the estimated liability We have $18.3 million accrued at December 31 2010 for environmental obligations
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Asset Retirement Obligations ARO The estimated fair value of an ARO is based on the estimated current

cost escalated by an inflation rate and discounted at credit adjusted risk free rate This liability is capitalized as part

of the cost of the related asset and amortized using the straight-line method The liability accretes until we settle the

liability Legally restricted assets have been set aside for purposes of settling certain of the ARO liabilities

Financial Instruments and Fair Value We are exposed to various market risks including changes in

commodity prices We use commodity future contracts price swaps and options to reduce price volatility to fix

margins for refined products and to protect against price declines associated with our crude oil and blendstock

inventories All derivatives entered into by us are recognized as either assets or liabilities in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets and those instruments are measured at fair value We elected not to pursue hedge accounting

treatment for these instruments for financial accounting purposes Therefore changes in the fair value of these

derivative instruments are included in income in the period of change Net gains or losses associated with these

transactions are recognized within cost of products sold using mark-to-market accounting

Pension and Other Postretirement Obligations Pension and other postretirement plan expenses and liabil

ities are determined based on actuarial valuations Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions including

discount rates future compensation increases expected return on plan assets health care cost trends and

demographic data Changes in our actuarial assumptions are primarily influenced by factors outside-of our control

and can have significant effect on our pension and other postretirement liabilities and costs defined benefit

postretirement plan sponsor must recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for plans overfunded

status or liability for the plans underfunded status measure the plans assets and obligations that determine its

funded status as of the end of the ehiployefs fiscal year and recognize as component of other comprehensive

income the changes in the funded status of the plan that arise during the year but are not recognized as components

of net periodic benefit cost

Stock-Based Compensation The cost of the employee services received in exchange for an award of equity

instruments awarded under the Western Refining Long-Term Incentive Plan is measured based on the grant date fair

value of the award The fair value of each share of restricted stock awarded is measured based on the market price at

closing as of the measurement date and is amortized on straight-line basis over the respective vesting periods

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

From tinie to time new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board

or other standard setting bodies that may have an impact on our accounting and reporting We believe that such

recently issued accounting pronouncements and other authoritative guidance for which the effective date is in the

future either will not have an impact on our accounting or reporting or that such impact will not be material to our

financial position results of operations and cash flows when implemented
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Results of Operations

The following tables summarize our consolidated and operating segment financial data and key operating

statistics for the three years ended December 31 2010

Consolidated

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Net salesl $7965053 $6807368 $10725581

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 7155967 5944128 9735500

Direct operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and

amoitizatiou 444531 486164 532325

Selling general and administrative expenses 84175 109697 115913

Goodwill and other impairment losses 13038 352340

Maintenance turnaround
expense 23286 8088 28936

Depreciation and amortization 138621 145981 113611

Total operating costs and expenses 7859618 7046398 10526285

Operating income loss 105435 239030 199296

Excludes $32Q4.0 million $2OQS.0 million and $2847.8 million of intercompany sales $32S7.5 million

$2088.8 million and $2831.6 million of intercompany cost of products sold and $6.5 million $6.2 million

and $16.2 million of intercompany direct operating expenses
for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively

Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2009

Net Sales Net sales primarily consist of gross sales of refined products lubricants and merchandise net of

customer rebates or discounts and excise taxes Net sales for the year
ended December 31 2010 were $7965.1 mil

lion compared to $6807.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $1157.7 million or

17.0% This increase was lie result of increased sales from our refining wholesale and retail groups of

$570.7 million $502.0 million and $85.0 million respectively net of intercompany transactions that eliminate

in consolidation The average sales price per barrel of refined products for all operating segments increased from

$71.99 in 2009 to $93.18 million in 2010 This increase was partially offset by decreased sales volumes from

118.8 million barrels in 2009 to 117.1 million barrels in 2010 decrease of 1.7 million barrels or 1.4%

Cost of Products Sold exclusive of depreciation and amortization Cost of products sold primarily includes

cost of crude oil other feedstocks and blendstocks purchased refined products lubricants and merchandise for

resale and transportation and distribution costs Cost of products sold was $7156.0 million for the year ended

December 31 2010 compared to $5944.1 million for the
year

ended December 31 2009 an increase of

$1211.9 million or 20.4% This increase was primarily the result of increased cost of products sold from our

refining wholesale and retail groups of $629.3 million $499.9 million and $82.7 million respectively net of

intercompany transactions that eliminate in consolidation Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31

2009 included non-cash LCM inventory recovery
of $61.0 million No such recovery occurred in 2010 The

average cost per barrel of crude oil feedstocks and refined products for all operating segments increased from

$65.60 in 2009 to $86.94 in 2010 Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31 2009 includes

$21.7 million in economic hedging losses previously reported as loss from derivative activities under other income

expense We reclassified the prior year amount to conform to the current presentation Cost of products sold for the

year
ended December 31 2010 includes $9.4 million in economic hedging losses

42



Direct Operating Expenses exclusive otclepreciation and amortization Direct operating expenses include

direct costs of labor maintcnance materials and services transportation expenses chemicals and catalysts natural

gas utilities insurancc expense property taxes and other direct operating expenses Direct operating expenses

were $444.5 million for the year endcd December 31 2010 compared to $486.2 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 decreasc of $41.7 million or 8.6% Included in this decrease was $8.5 million related to the

reversal of our December 2009 incentive bonus accrual This decrease in direct operating expenses resulted from

decreases of $40.1 million and $3.6 million partially offset by an increase of $2.0 million in direct operating

expenses
of our refining wholesale and retail groups respectively net of intercompany transactions that eliminate

in consolidation Included within the decrease of $40.1 million in our refining group was decrease of $23.4 million

in direct operating expenses primarily resulting from cost-saving initiatives related to the fourth quarter 2009

consolidation of our Four Corners refining operations This decrease was partially offset by certain costs associated

with terminal operations at our Bloomfield facility Accrued incentive bonus of $4.7 million was included in

consolidated direct operating expenses for the year ended December 31 2010

In total we reversed $14.7 million related to our December 2009 incentive bonus accrual including the

$6.2 million reversal discussed below under selling general and administrative expenses for the year ended

December 2010 We consider the awarding of bonus for any period to be discretionary and subject to not only

the earnings during the bonus period but also to the economic conditions and refining industry environment at the

time the bonus is to be paid Our first quarter 2010 results coupled with our near term forecasts of operating results

and our expectations for the economy were such that we did not deem the pay out of the previously accrued 2009

bonus prudent as such payment would not be in the best interests of the Company or our shareholders On March 29

2010 we determined that 2009 bonuses would not be paid Accrued incentive bonus of $8.3 million was included in

consolidated direct operating costs and selling general and administrative expenses for the year ended Decem

ber 31 2010 which had been substantially paid out by March 2011

Selling General and Administrative Etpenses Selling general and administrative expenses
consist

primarily of corporate overhead marketing expenses public company costs and stock-based compensation

Selling general and administrative expenses were $84.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared

to $109.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 decrease of $25.5 million or 23.2% Included in this

decrease was $6.2 million related to the reversal of our December 2009 incentive bonus accrual See direct

operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31 2010 for

additional discussion of the bonus accrual reversal This decrease resulted from decreased expenses in our refining

wholesale and retail groups of $15.8 million $4.0 million and $1.1 million respectively and $4.6 million

decrease in corporate overhead

The decrease of $4.6 million in corporate overhead was primarily caused by decreased professional and legal

fees $4.2 million Accrued incemive bonus of $3.6 million was included in consolidated selling general and

administrative expenses for the year ended December 31 2010

Goodwill and Other Impairment Losses As result of our decision to permanently close our product

distribution terminal in Flagstaff Arizona during the third quarter of 2010 we completed an impairment analysis of

the related long lived assets and determined from this analysis that impairment existed Accordingly we recorded

an impairment charge of $4.0 million primarily related to the Flagstaff long-lived and other assets Also during

2010 we determined the existence of additional impairment related to certain of Bloomfields refinery assets and

recorded resulting non-cash charge of $9 million

During 2009 we determined that our entire goodwill balance which was previously reported under four of our

six reporting units was impaired The total impact of this impairment was non cash charge of $299.6 million Also

during 2009 following our decision to indefinitely suspend the refining operations of our Bloomfield refinery we

completed an impairment analysis of the related long-lived and intangible assets and determined that impairment of

certain of the Bloomfield refinery related assets existed and accordingly recorded non-cash impairment charge of

$52.8 million

Maintenance Turnaround Expense Maintenance turnaround expense
incluaes periodic maintenance and

repairs generally performed every two to six years depending on the processing unit invoLved During 2010 we

incurred costs of $23.3 million in connection with maintenance turnaround at the El Paso refinery Primarily
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during the third and fourth quarters of 2009 we incurred costs of $2.9 million in crude unit shutdown and

$4.0 million in connection with the planned turnaround in the first quarter of 2010 at the El Paso refinery and

$1.2 million in connection with the anticipated 2010 turnaround at the Yorktown refinery which was subsequently

canceled

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31 2010 was

$138.6 million compared to $146.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 decrease of $7.4 million or

5.1% The majority of the decrease was due to differences in the timing of various assets reaching the end of their

estimated useful lives

Operating Income Loss Operating income was $105.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010

compared to an operating loss of $239.0 million for the
year

ended December 31 2009 an increase of

$344.4 million This increase was primarily attributable to non-cash impairment losses of $352.3 million recorded

in 2009 compared to $13.0 million in 2010 and decreased direct operating and selling general and administrative

expenses along with decreased depreciation expense The increase was partially offset by increased maintenance

tumaround costs due to the maintenance turnaround completed in the first quarter of 2010

Interest Income Interest income for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 was $0.4 million and

$0.2 million respectively

Interest Expense and Other Financing Costs Interest
expense was $146.5 million net of capitalized interest

of $4.2 million for the
year

ended December 31 2010 compared to $121.3 million net of capitalized interest of

$6.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $25.2 million or 20.8% This increase was

primarily attributable to full year of interest
expense

and discount amortization on the Senior Secured and

Convertible Senior Notes in 2010 compared to six months in 2009 This increase was partially offset by lower 2010

Term Loan interest
expense resulting from the early retirement of portion of our Term Loan in 2009

Amortization of Loan Fees Amortization of loan fees for 2010 was $9.7 million compared to $6 million for

2009 an increase of $2.8 million or 40.6% This increase is primarily the result of additional deferred loan fees

incurred during 2009 of $30.7 million for new debt and amendments to our Term Loan and our Revolving Credit

Agreement This increase was partially offset by the reduction in amortization expense resulting from the write-off

of $9.0 million in unamortized loan fees in 2009 related to the early retirement of portion of our Term Loan

Write-off of Unamortized Loan Fees We made unscheduled principal payments on our Term Loan credit

agreement primarily from the net proceeds of our 2009 debt and common stock offerings As result of the early

retirement of portion of our Term Loan we wrote off $9.0 million in 2009 related to the portion of deferred

financing costs associated with that portion of the Term Loan

Provision for Income Tales Our effective tax rate can be affected by any estimated tax credits that we plan to

utilize for the years estimated tax provision Generally such tax credits will lower our tax expense
and effective rate

when we have positive eamings and increase our tax benefit and effective rate when we have losses We recorded an

income tax benefit of $26.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 using an estimated effective tax rate of

60.5% as compared to the federal statutory rate of 35% The effective tax rate was higher primarily due to the

federal income tax credit available to small business refiners related to the production of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel

We recorded an income tax benefit of $40.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 using an estimated

effective tax rate of 44.3% as compared to the federal statutory rate of 35% The effective tax rate was higher

primarily due to the federal income tax credit available to small business refiners related to the production of ultra

low sulfur diesel fuel and the non-deductible goodwill impairment for federal tax reporting purposes

Net Income Loss We reported net loss of $17.0 million for the
year

ended December 31 2010

representing $0.19 net loss
per

share on weighted average
diluted shares outstahding of 88.2 million We reported

net loss of $350.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 representing $4.43 net loss
per

share on weighted

average dilutive shares outstanding of 79.2 million Our net loss for the year ended December 31 2009 included

non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $299.6 million and before tax $20.0 million legal settlement charge

Similar charges were not included in our net loss for the
year

ended December 31 2010

See additional analysis under the Refining Segment Wholesale Segment and Retail Segment
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Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2008

Net Sales Net sales primarily consist of gross sales of refined products lubricants and merchandise net of

customer rebates or discounts and excise taxes Net sales for the
year

ended December 31 2009 were $6807.4 mil

lion compared to $10725.6 million for the year
ended December 31 2008 decrease of $3918.2 million or

36.5% This decrease was the result of decreased sales from our refining wholesale and retail groups of

$3231.8 million $502.9 million and $183.5 million respectively net of intercompany transactions that eliminate

in consolidation The average sales price per barrel of refined products for all operating segments decreased from

$113.20 in 2008 to $71.99 in 2009 This decrease was partially offset by an increase in sales volumes Our sales

volume increased by 2.5 million barrels or 2.1% to 118.8 million barrels for 2009 compared to 116.3 million

barrels for 2008

Cost of Products Sold exclusive of depreciation and amortization Cost of products sold primarily includes

cost of crude oil other feedstocks and blendstocks purchased refined products lubricants and merchandise for

resale and transportation and distribution costs Cost of products sold was $5944.1 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 compared to $9735.5 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of

$3791.4 million or 38.9% This decrease primarily was the result of decreased cost of products sold from our

refining wholesale and retail groups of $3128.4 million $476.6 million and $186.4 million respectively net of

intercompany transactions that eliminate in consolidation non-cash LCM inventory write-down of $61.0 million

was included in cost of products sold in 2008 versus non-cash LCM inventory recovery of $61.0 million in 2009

The average cost per
barrel of crude oil feedstocks and refined products for all operating segments decreased from

$105.44 in 2008 to $65.60 in 2009 Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 includes

$21.7 million in economic hedging losses and $11.4 million in economic hedging gains respectively previously

reported as gain loss from derivative activities under other income expense in our Consolidated Statements of

Operations These prior year amounts were reclassified to conform to current presentation

Direct Operating Expenses exclusive of depreciation and amortization Direct operating expenses include

direct costs of labor maintenance materials and services transportation expenses chemicals and catalysts natural

gas utilities insurance expense property taxes and other direct operating expenses Direct operating expenses

were $486.2 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $532.3 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 decrease of $46.1 million or 8.7% This decrease resulted from decreases of $33.0 million

$12.5 million and $0.6 million in direct operating expenses of our refining wholesale and retail groups

respectively net of intercompany transactions that eliminate in consolidation

Selling General and Administrative Expenses Selling general and administrative expenses
consist

primarily of corporate overhead marketing expenses public company costs and stock based compensation

Selling general and administrative expenses were $109.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared

to $115.9 million for the year ended December31 2008 decrease of $6.2 million or 5.3% This decrease resulted

from decreased expenses in our refining and wholesale groups of $1.5 million and $2.3 million respectively and

$3.2 million decrease in corporate overhead These decreases were offset by increases of $0.9 million in our retail

group

The decrease of $3.2 million in
corporate

overhead was primarily caused by decreased personnel costs mainly

related to decreased 401k contribution
expense resulting from the allocation to the other operating segments

$4.4 million incentive compensation $3.2 million decreased stock-based compensation $2.6 million and

vacation expense $1.8 million These decreases were partially offset by increased professional and legal fees

$5.6 million and increased information technology expenses $2.6 million

Goodwill and Other Impairment Losses During 2009 we determined that all of our goodwill was impaired

The total impact of this goodwill impairment was non-cash charge of $299.6 million Also during 2009 as result

of our decision to indefinitely suspend the refining operations of our Bloomfield refinery we completed an

impairment analysis of the related long-lived assets We determined that impairment of certain of the Bloomfield

refinery related long-lived and intangible assets existed and accordingly recorded non-cash pharge of $52.8 million

related to this impairment No impairment losses were recorded in 2008
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Maintenance Turnaround Expense Maintenance turnaround expense includes periodic maintenance and

repairs generally performed every two to six years depending on the processing unit involved Primarily during the

third and fourth quarters of 2009 we incurred costs of $2.9 million in crude unit shutdown and $4.0 million in

connection with the planned turnaround in the first quarter of 2010 at the El Paso refinery and $1 .2 million in

connection with the planned turnaround in the third quarter of 2010 at the Yorktown refinery During the year ended

December 31 2008 we performed maintenance turnaround at the north side of the El Paso refinery at cost of

$28.9 million

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31 2009 was

$146.0 million compared to $113.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $32.4 million or

28.5% The increase was due to the completion of various capital projects during the latter part of 2008 and 2009

Operating Income Loss Operating loss was $239.0 million for the year ended December 2009

compared to operating income of $199.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of $438.3 mil

lion This decrease was primarily attributable to non cash impairment losses of $352.3 million recorded in 2009 and

decreased gross margins resulting from lower sales prices per barrel during 2009 without corresponding decrease

in the cost per barrel of crude

Interest Income Interest income for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was $0.2 million and

$1.8 million respectively The decrease was attributable to decreased balances of cash for investment as well as

lower interest rates in 2009 compared to 2008

Interest Expense and Other Financing Costs Interest expense was $121.3 million net of capitalized interest

of $6.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $102.2 million net of capitalized interest of

$9.9 million for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of $19.1 million or 18.7% The increase is

primarily attributable to higher effective interest rates in the latter half of 2009 versus 2008 offset by lower levels of

outstanding debt

Amortization of Loan Fees Amortization of loan fees for 2009 was $6.9 million compared to $4.8 million

for 2008 The increase is primarily the result of additional deferred loan fees incurred doming 2009 of $30.7 million

for new debt and amendments to our term and revolving loan agreements This increase was partially offset by the

reduction in amortization
expense resulting from the write off of $9.0 million in unamortized loan fees related to

our Term Loan On June 30 2008 we entered into an amendment to our Term Loan Credit Agreement and incurred

$22.4 million in loan fees This increase was partially offset by the write-off of $10.9 million in unamortized loan

fees incurred in May 2007

Write-off of Unamortized Loan Fees During 2009 we expensed $9.0 million in deferred loan fees when we

retired $912.7 million of our term debt earlier than scheduled with proceeds from our debt and stock offering On

June 30 2008 we entered into an amendment to our Term Loan Credit Agreement and as result we recorded an

expense of $10.9 million related to the write-off of deferred loan fees incurred in May 2007

Provision for Income Taxes We recorded an income tax benefit of $40.6 million for the year
ended

December 31 2009 using an estimated effective tax rate of 44.3% as compared to the federal statutory rate of 35%

The effective tax rate was higher primarily due to the federal income tax credit available to small business refiners

related to the production of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel and the non-deductible goodwill impairment for federal tax

reporting purposes

We recorded an income tax expense of $20.2 million for the year ended December 31 2008 using an estimated

effective tax rate of 24.0% as compared to the federal statutory rate of 35% The effective tax rate was lower

primarily due to the federal income tax credit available to small business refiners related to the production of ultra

low sulfur diesel fuel

Net Income Loss We reported net loss of $350.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009

representing $4.43 net loss
per

share on weighted average
dilutive shares outstanding of 79.2 million Our net loss

for the year ended December 31 2009 included before tax $20.0 million legal settlemçnt charge Similar charges

were not included in net income for the year ended December 31 2008 For the year ended December 31 2008 we
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reported net income of $64.2 million representing $0.94 net income per share on weighted average dilutive shares

outstanding of 67.7 million

The following tables set forth our summary and individual refining throughput and production data All

Refineries summary tables include summary throughput and production data for all of our refineries for the periods

presented Southwest Rcfuiieries summary tables present current and prior year operating and production results of

our refining facilities operational as of December 31 2010 for the periods presented We do not allocate selling

general and administrative expenses to the individual refineries or other related refinery operations

Refining Segment All Refineries and Related Operations

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per barrel data

Net sales including intersegment sales $8070119 $6608075 $10455602

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 7439826 5919499 9653681

Direct operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 335869 375690 418628

Selling general and administrative expenses 20155 36021 37561

Goodwill and other impairment losses 12832 283500

Maintenance turnaround expense 23286 8088 28936

Depreciation and amortization 118661 125537 95713

Total operating costs and expenses 7950629 6748335 10234519

Operating income loss 119490 140260 221083

Key Operating Statistics

Total sales volume bpd27 248785 258259 258013

Total refinery production bpd7 192997 213833 225740

Total refinery throughput bpd37 194492 215815 227130

Per barrel of throughput

Refinery gross marginl4 8.88 8.74 9.65

Gross profit4 7.21 7.15 8.50

Direct operating expensesS 4.73 4.77 5.04
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Southwest Refineries El Paso and Four Corners and Related Operations

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per barrel data

Net sales including intersegment sales 56.321322 $4877.985 7.565295

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 5745996 4326182 6927609

Direct operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 242422 262259 297228

Selling general and administrative
expenses 20155 36021 27843

Goodwill and other impairment losses 12832 125936

Maintenance turnaround expense 23286 6898 28936

Depreciation and amortization 72886 78732 53905

Total operating costs and expenses 6117577 48364028 7335521

Operating income 203745 41957 229774

Key Operating Statistics

Total sales volume bpd2 189613 184108 180940

Total refinery production bpd 149007 150411 154295

Total refinery throughput bpd3 151288 153082 157332

Per barrel of throughput

Refinery gross margin4 10.42 9.88 11.07

Gross profit4 9.10 8.47 10.14

Direct operating expensesS 4.39 4.69 5.16

All Refineries

Year Ended December 31

20107 2009 2008

Refinery Product Yields bpd
Gasoline 102927 113364 114876

Diesel and jet fuel 73774 80157 88695

Residuum 4899 5504 5711

Other 7174 9349 9649

Liquid by-products 188774 208374 218931

By-products coke 4223 5459 6809

Total 192997 213833 225740

Refinery Throughput bpd
Sweet crude oil 131028 126328 143714

Sour or heavy crude oil 44129 65260 62349

Other feedstocks and blendstocks 19335 24227 21067

Total refinery throughput bpd 194492 215815 227130
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Southwest Refineries El Paso and Four Corners

Year Ended December 31

El Paso Refinery

Key Operating Statistics

Refinery product yields bpd
Gasoline

Diesel and jet fuel

Residuum

Other
________ ________

Total refinery production bpd
________ ________

Refinery throughput bpd
Sweet crude oil

Sour crude oil

Other feedstocks and blendstocks
________ ________

Total refinery throughput bpd
________ ________

Total sales volume hpd2
Per barrel of throughput

Refinery gross margin4

Direct operating expensesS

Year Ended December 31

2010 20096 2008

Refinery Product Yields bpd
Gasoline

Diesel and jet fuel

Residuum

Other

Total

Refinery Throughput bpd
Sweet crude oil

Sour crude oil

Other feedstocks and blendstocks

Total refinery throughput bpd

81953

58122

4899

4033

149007

125259

14007

12022

151288

82540

57976

5504

4391

150411

124443

17601

11038

153082

82279

61552

5711

4753

154295

128423

16985

11924

157332

2010 2009 2008

65740 65160

51571 50524

4899 5504

3245 3341

125455 124529

104119 99680

14007 17601

9051

127177

153398

9184

126465

147854

62557

52754

5711

3612

124634

100130

16985

9454

126569

138775

9.37 9.20 9.45

3.50 3.60 4.07
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Year Ended December 31

Four Corners Refineries 2010 21096 2008

Key Operating Statistics

Refinery product yields bpd
Gasoline 16.213 17.380 19.722

Diesel and jet foci 6551 7.452 8.798

Other 788 1.050 1141

Total refinery production bpd 23.552 25.882 29661

Refinery throughput bpd
Sweet crude oil 21140 24.763 28.293

Other feedstocks and blendstocks 2971 1854 2.470

Total refinery throughput bpd 24111 26617 30763

Total sales volume bpd2 36215 36254 42165

Per barrel of throughput

Refinery gross margin4 16.82 15.17 15.49

Direct operating expensesS 6.68 8.79 8.35

Year Ended December 31

Yorktown Refinery 20107 2009 2008

Key Operating Statistics

Refinery Product Yields bpd
Gasoline 28043 30.824 32597

Diesel and jet fuel 20926 22181 27143

Other 4199 4.958 4.896

Liquid by-products 53.168 57963 64636

By-products coke 5647 5459 6809

Total refinery production bpd 58815 63422 71445

Refinery throughput bpd
Sweet crude oil 7713 1885 15.291

Heavy crude nil 411274 47659 45364

Other feedstocks and blendstocks 9777 13.189 9143

Total refinery throughput bpd .. 57764 62.733 69798

Total sales volume bpd27 59.172 74151 77073

Per barrel of throughput

Refinery gross marginl4 3.49 5.97 6.43

Direct operating expensesS 5.93 4.95 4.75

Cost of products sold includes non-cash LCM adjustments of $61.0 million and $61.0 million for 2009 and

2008 respectively related to valuation of our Yorktown inventories to net realizable market values These non

cash adjustments resulted in corresponding increase of $0.78 and dectease of $0.73 in combined refinery

gross margins for the years ended December 2009 and 2008 respectively These non-cash adjustments

resulted in corresponding increase of $2.66 and decrease of $2.39 in Yorktowns refinery gross margins for the

years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Includes sales of refined products sourced from our refinery production as well as refined products purchased

from third parties
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Total refinery throughput includes crude oil other feedstocks and blendstocks

Refinery gross margin is per barrel measurement calculated by dividing the difference between net sales and

cost of products sold by our refineries total throughput volumes for the respective periods presented Economic

hedging gains and losses included in the combined refining segment gross margin are not allocated to the

individual refineries Cost of products sold does not include any depreciation or amortization Refinery gross

margin is non-GAAP performance measure that we believe is important to investors in evaluating our refinery

performance as general indication of the amount above our cost of products that we are able to sell refined

products Each of the components used in this calculation net sales and cost of products sold can be reconciled

directly to our statement of operations Our calculation of refinery gross margin may differ from similar

calculations of other companies in our industry thereby limiting its usefulness as comparative measure

The following table reconciles combined gross profit for all refineries to combined gross margin for all

refineries for the periods presented

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per barrel data

Net sales including intersegment sales $8070119 $6608075 $19455602

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 7439826 5919499 9653681

Depreciation and amortization 118661 125537 95713

Gross profit 511632 563039 706208

Plus depreciation and amortization 118661 125537 95713

Refinery gross margin 630293 688576 801921

Refinery gross margin per refinery throughput barrel4. 8.88 8.74 9.65

Gross profit per refinery throughput barrel4 7.21 7.15 8.50

The following table reconciles gross profit for our Southwest refineries to combined gross margin for our

Southwest refineries for the periods presented

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per barrel data

Net sales including intersegment sales $6321322 $4877985 $7565295

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 5745996 4326182 6927609

Depreciation and amortization 72886 78732 53905

Gross profit 502440 473071 583781

Plus depreciation and amortization 72886 78732 53905

Refinery gross margin 575326 551803 637686

Refinery gross margin per refinery throughput barrel4 10.42 9.88 11.07

Gross profit per refinery throughput barrel4 9.10 8.47 10.14

Refinery direct operating expenses per throughput barrel is calculated by dividing direct operating expenses by

total throughput volumes for the respective periods presented Direct operatifig expenses do not include any

depreciation or amortization and combined refinery direct operating expenses include transportation and other

related expenses not specific to particular refinery

Until November 2009 Four Corners refining was comprised of two separate faºilities the Bloomfield refinery

and the Gallup refinery In late November 2009 we consolidated refining operations into the Gallup facility and

indefinitely suspended refining operations at the Bloomfield refinery We ca1culatd total bpd refinery
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production refinery throughput and sales volume related to the Four Corners refineries by dividing by

365 days

In September 2010 we temporarily suspended refining operations at our Yorktown refinery We calculated

Yorktown total bpd refinery production and refinery throughput by dividing total volumes by 273 days Total

Yorktown sales volume includes refined product sales following the temporary suspension through Decem
ber 31 2010 We calculated Yorktowns bpd sales volume by dividing total refinery sales volume by 365 days

For our combined refining operating statistics we calculated total bpd refinery sales volume refinery

production refinery throughput and refinery product yields by dividing all refineries operations by 365 days

Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2009

Net Sales Net sales primarily consist of gross sales of refined petroleum products net of customer rebates

discounts and excise taxes Net sales for the year ended December 31 2010 were $8070.1 million compared to

$6608.1 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $1462.0 million or 22.1% This increase

primarily resulted from an increase in the average per barrel sales price The average sales price per barrel increased

from $70.09 in 2009 to $88.87 in 2010 This increase was partially offset by decrease in sales volume of

3.5 million barrels or 3.7% from 94.3 million barrels in 2009 to 90.8 million barrels in 2010

Cost of Products Sold exclusive of depreciation and amortization Cost of products sold primarily includes

cost of crude oil other feedstocks and blendstocks purchased products for resale and transportation and

distribution costs Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31 2010 was $7439.8 million compared

to $5919.5 million for the year ended December31 2009 an increase of$l 520.3 million or 25.7% This increase

was primarily the result of increased average costs of crude oil The average cost per barrel increased from $58.49 in

2009 to $77.31 in 2010 an increase of 32.2% Also contributing to this increase were increased finished product and

blendstock purchases Partially offsetting this increase were decreased crude purchase volumes During 2010 we

purchased 63.4 million barrels of crude oil compared to 69.5 million barrels in 2009 decrease of 8.8% primarily

related to the temporary suspension of refining operations at our Yorktown refinery Refinery gross margin per

throughput barrel increased from $8.74 in 2009 to $8.88 in 2010 Gross profit per barrel based on the closest

comparable GAAP measure to refinery gross margin was $7.21 in 2010 compared to $7.15 in 2009 Cost of

products sold for the
year ended December 31 2009 includes $21.7 million in economic hedging losses previously

reported as loss from derivative activities under other income expense The prior year amount was reclassified to

conform to current presentation Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31 2010 includes $9.4 million

in economic hedging losses

Direct Operating Expenses exclusive of depreciation and amortization Direct operating expenses include

costs associated with the operations of our refineries such as energy and utility costs catalyst and chemical costs

periodic maintenance labor insurance property taxes and environmental compliance costs Direct operating

expenses were $335.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $375.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 decrease of $39.8 million or 10.6% This decrease primarily resulted from decreased

personnel costs $24.9 million including the reversal of our 2009 incentive bonus accrual in the first quarter of

2010 See consolidated direct operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and amortization for the fiscal year

ended December 31 2010 for additional discussion of the bonus accrual reversal Also contributing to the decrease

were decreased maintenance expenses $7.1 million decreased chemicals and catalyst purchases $7.0 million

decreased electricity expense $5.7 million decreased insurance expense $3.4 million decreased outside support

services $2.5 million and decreased professional legal and other expenses $2.7 million Partially offsetting

these decreases were increased environmental expenses $5.7 million increased natural gas expense $5.3 million

and increased property taxes $4.0 million

Selling General and Administrative Expenses Selling general and administrative expenses consist

primarily of segment overhead marketing expenses and stock-based compensation Selling general and admin

istrative expenses were $20.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $36.0 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 decrease of $15.8 million or 43.9% This decrease primarily resulted from decreases

in personnel costs $6.9 million including the reversal of the 2009 incentive bonus accrual in the first quarter of

2010 See consolidated direct operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and amorfization for the fiscal year
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ended December 31 2010 for additional discussion of the bonus accrual reversal Also contributing to the decrease

were decreased marketing expenses $2.5 million decreased information technology expenses $1.7 million

decreased professional legal and other expenses $1.7 million decreased bad debt expense $1.5 million and

decreased environmental fines and penalties $1.5 million

Goodwill and Other Impairment Losses As result of our decision to permanently close our product

distribution terminal in Flagstaff Arizona during the third quarter of 2010 we completed an impairment analysis of

the related long lived assets and determined from this analysis that impairment existed Accordingly we recorded

an impaimient charge of $3.8 million primarily related to the Flagstaff long-lived assets Also during 2010 we

determined the existence of additional impairment to certain of Bloomfields refinery assets and recorded non-

cash impairment charge of $9.1 million During 2009 we determined that all of the goodwill in two of our three

refining reporting units was fully impaired The total impact of this impairment was non-cash charge of

$230.7 million Also during 2009 as result of our decision to indefinitely suspend the refining operations of our

Bloomfield refinery we completed an impairment analysis of the related long-lived and intangible assets and

determined that impairment of certain of the Bloomfield refinery related assets existed and accordingly recorded

non-cash charge of $52.8 million related to this impairment

Maintenance Turnamund Expense Maintenance turnaround expense includes planned periodic mainte

nance and repairs generally performed every two to six years depending on the processing unit involved During the

year ended December 31 2010 we incurred costs of $23.3 million in connection with turnaround in the first

quarter of 2010 at the El Paso refinery During the year ended December 31 2009 we incurred costs of $2.9 million

in crude unit shutdown and $4.0 million in connection with the planned tumaround in the first quarter 2010 at the

El Paso refinery and $1.2 million related to the anticipated 2010 turnaround at the Yorktown refinery which was

subsequently canceled

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31 2010 was

$118.7 million compared to $125.5 million for the year ended December 31 2009 The decrease was primarily due

to differences in the timing of various assets reaching the end of their estimated useful lives

Operating Income Loss Operating income was $119.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010

compared to an operating loss of $140.3 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of

$259.8 million This increase is primarily attributable to the 2009 goodwill impairment loss and higher 2009

asset impairment losses compared to 2010 decreased direct operating and selling general and administrative

expenses and decreased depreciation and amortization expense These decreases were partially offset by increased

maintenance turnaround expense in 2010 compared to 2009

Fiscal Year Ended December 2009 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2008

Net Sales Net sales primarily consist of gross sales of refined petroleum products net of customer rebates

discounts and excise taxes Net sales for the year ended December 31 2009 were $6608.1 million compared to

$10455.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of $3847.5 million or 36.8% This decrease

primarily resulted from decrease in the average price and sales volume of refined products The average sales price

per barrel decreased from $110.46 in 2008 compared to $70.09 in 2009 Our sales volume decreased by 0.2 million

barrels or 0.2% to 94.3 million barrels for 2009 compared to 94.5 million barrels for 2008 Also contributing to this

decrease was decreased production in the Four Corners refineries as result of running less cmde oil

$16.1 million

Cost of Products Sold eaclusive of depreciation and amortization Cost of products sold primarily includes

cost of crude oil other feedstocks and blendstocks purchased products for resale and transportation and

distribution costs Cost of products sold was $5919.5 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared

to $9653.7 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of $3734.2 million or 38.7% This decrease

was primarily the result of lower average costs and volume purchased of crude oil The average cost per barrel

decreased from $98.86 in 2008 to $58.49 in 2009 During 2009 we purchased 69.5 million barrels of crude oil

compared to 74.6 million barrels in 2008 decrease of 6.8% Also contributing this decrease were decreased

finished product and blendstock purchases and economic hedging losses LCM inventory reserve recoveries of

$61.0 million decreased cost of products sold in 2009 compared to 2008 LCM inventory charges of $61.0 million
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that increased cost of products sold These decreases were partially offset by an increase in the change in our LIFO

reserve Refinery gross margin per throughput barrel decreased from $9.65 in 2008 to $8.74 in 2009 reflecting

lower refining margins Gross profit per barrel based on the closest comparable GAAP measure to refinery gross

margin was $7.15 in 2009 compared to $8.50 in 2008 Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31 2008

and 2009 includes $11.4 million in economic hedging gains and $21.7 million in economic hedging losses

respectively previously reported as gain loss from derivative activities under other income expense These prior

year amounts were reclassified to conform to the current presentation

Direct Operating Expenses exclusive of depreciation and amortization Direct operating expenses include

costs associated with the operations of our refineries such as energy and utility costs catalyst and chemical costs

periodic maintenance labor insurance property taxes and environmental compliance costs Direct operating

expenses were $375.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $418.6 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 decrease of $42.9 million or 10.2% This decrease primarily resulted from decreases in

natural gas expense $18.4 million environmental expense primarily resulting from cost recoveries received

during 2009 $14.8 million general maintenance $9.8 million property taxes primarily resulting from tax

refunds from prior years taxes and revisions in property tax appraisal rolls $6.0 million outside support services

$2.8 million insurance expense $2.5 million facilities leases $1.7 million and equipment rental $1.5 million

These decreases were partially offset by increased chemicals and catalyst $4.4 million personnel costs

$4.3 million electricity expenses $3.3 million and increased professional fees $1.4 million

Selling General and -Administrative Expenses Selling general and administrative expenses
consist

primarily of segment overhead marketing expenses and stock based compensation Selling general and admin

istrative
expenses were $36.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $37.6 million for the year

ended December 31 2008 decrease of $1.6 million or 4.3% This decrease resulted from decreased professional

and legal fees $7.1 million This decrease was partially offset by increases in marketing expenses $2.1 million

environmental penalties $1.5 million and bad debt expense $1.6 million

Goodwill and Other Impairment Losses During 2009 we determined that all of the goodwill in two of our

three refining reporting units was fully impaired The total impact of this impairment was non cash charge of

$230.7 million Also during 2009 as result of our decision to indefinitely suspend the refining operations of our

Bloomfield refinery we completed an impairment analysis of the related long-lived and intangible assets We

determined that impairment of certain of the Bloomfield refinery related assets existed and accordingly recorded

non-cash charge of $52.8 million related to this impairment No impairment losses were recorded in 2008

Maintenance Turnaround Expense Maintenance turnaround expense includes periodic maintenance and

repairs generally performecEevery two to six years depending on the processing unit involved During the year

ended December 31 2009 we incurred costs of $2.9 million in crude unit shutdown and $4.0 million in

connection with the planned turnaround in the first quarter of 2010 at the El Paso refinery and $1.2 million in

anticipation of turnaround previously scheduled for the fall of 2010 at the Yorktown refinery During the year

ended December 31 2008 we performed maintenance turnaround at the north side of the El Paso refinery at cost

of $28.9 million

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31 2009 was

$125.5 million compared to $95.7 million for the year ended December 31 2008 The increase was primarily due to

the completion of several projects including the FCC hydrotreater the sour water stripper and new laboratory at

the El Paso refinery the gasoline desulfurization project at the Yorktown refinery and various other capital projects

at our refineries

Operating Income Loss Operating loss was $140.3 million for the year ended December 31 2009

compared to operating income of $221.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of $361.4 mil

lion This decrease primarily is attributable to an asset impairment loss recorded in the fourth quarter of 2009 related

to the suspension of refining activities at the Bloomfield refinery and goodwill impairment loss recorded in the

second
quarter of 2009 increased depreciation and amortization expense and decreased refinery gross margins in

2009 compared to 2008
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Wholesale Segment

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per gallon data

Statement of Operations Data

Net sales including intersegment sales $2470586 $1664397 $2279541

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation

amortization 2383931 1579910 2168707

Direct operating expenses exclusive of depreciation

and amortization 48222 51775 64273

Selling general and administrative expenses 12638 16566 18915

Goodwill impairment loss 41230

Depreciation and amortization 5069 5616 5551

Total opeiating costs and
expenses 2449860 1695097 2257446

Operating income loss 20726 30700 22095

Operating Data

Fuel gallons sold in thousands 1009786 823207 706864

Fuel margin per gallonl 0.07 0.07 0.09

Lubricant sales 102200 111193 163679

Lubricant margin2 11.5% 9.6% 12.4%

Fuel margin per gallon is measurement calculated by dividing the difference between fuel sales and cost of

fuel sales for our wholesale segment by the number of gallons sold Fuel margin per gallon is measure

frequently used in the petroleum products wholesale industry to measure operating results related to fuel sales

Lubricant margin is measurement calculated by dividing the difference between lubricant sales and lubricant

cost of products sold by lubricant sales Lubricant margin is measure frequently used in the petroleum

products wholesale industry to measure operating results related to lubricant sales

The following table reconciles fuel sales and cost of fuel sales to net sales and cost of products sold

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per gallon data

Net sales

Fuel sales including intersegment sales $2588628 $1749431 $2269203

Excise taxes included in fuel sales 250550 224771 193634

Lubricant sales 102200 111193 163679

Other sales including intersegment sales 30308 28544 40293

Net sales $2470586 $1664397 $2279541

Cost of products sold

Fuel cost of products sold $2527758 $1692177 $2205548

Excise taxes included in fuel sales 250550 224771 193634

Lubricant cost of products sold 90411 100567 143317

Other cost of products sold 16312 11937 13476

Cost of products sold $2383931 $1579910 $2168707

Fuel margin per gallon 0.07
9.07

0.09
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Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2009

Net Sales Net sales consist primarily of sales of refined products net of excise taxes lubricants and freight

Net sales for the year ended December 31 2010 were $2470.6 million compared to $1664.4 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 an increase of $806.2 million or 48.4% This increase was primarily due to an increase

in the sales price of refined products increased fuel sales volume and increased freight billed The average sales

price per gallon uf refined products increased from $2.13 in 2009 to $2.56 in 2010 Fuel sales volume increased

from 823.2 million gallons in 2009 to 1009.8 million gallons in 2010 Fuel sales volume for the year ended

December 31 2010 included 113.0 million gallons sold to our Retail group without comparable wholesale sales for

the same period during 2009 During 2009 such sales of fuel were reported under our Refining group This increase

was partially offset by decrease in lubricant sales volume Lubricant sales volume decreased from 11.8 million

gallons in 2009 to 10.7 million gallons in 2010

Cost of Products Sold exclusive of depreciation and amortization Cost of products sold includes costs of

refined products net of excise taxes lubricants and delivery freight Cost of products sold was $2383.9 million for

the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $1579.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an

increase of $804.0 million or 50.9% This increase was primarily due to increased delivery freight expenses and

costs of refined products and purchased fuel volume The average cost per gallon increased from $2.06 in 2009 to

$2.50 in 2010 This increase was partially offset by decrease in the purchased volume of lubricants

Direct Operating Expenses exclusive of depreciation and amortization Direct operating expenses include

costs associated with the operations of our wholesale division such as labor repairs and maintenance rentals and

leases insurance property taxes and environmental compliance costs Direct operating expenses were $48.2 mil

lion for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $51.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009

decrease of $3.6 million or 6.9% This decrease primarily resulted from decreases in personnel costs $6.1 million

This decrease was partially offset by increased vehicle fuel costs $1.8 million and repairs and maintenance

$0.7 million

Selling General and Administrative Expenses Selling general and administrative expenses
consist

primarily of overhead and marketing expenses Selling general and administrative
expenses were $12.6 million

in December 31 2010 compared to $16.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 decrease of $4.0 million

or 24.1% This decrease primarily resulted from decreases in personnel costs $2.6 million taxes licenses and fees

$0.3 million outside services $0.2 million and bank fees $0.2 million

Goodwill impairment Loss During 2009 we determined that all of the goodwill in our wholesale reporting

unit was fully impaired The total impact of the goodwill impairment for the year ended December 31 2009 was

non cash charge of $41.2 million No impairment losses were recorded in 2010

Depreciation and Amorfization Depreciation and amortization was $5.1 million for the
year

ended

December 31 2010 cumpared tu $5.6 million fur the yew ended Decewbei 31 2009 decrease uf $0.5 nulliun

or 8.9%

Operating Income Loss Operating income for the year ended December 31 2010 was $20.7 million

compared to an operating loss of $30.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $51.4 million

This increase primarily resulted from goodwill impairment loss in 2009 decreased direct operating expenses

decreased selling general and administrative expenses and increased fuel and lubricant margins for the year ended

December 31 2010 compared to the same period in 2009

Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2008

Net Sales Net sales consist primarily of sales of refined products net of excise taxcs lubricants and freight

Net sales for the year ended December 31 2009 were $1664.4 million compared to $2279.5 million for the year

ended December 31 2008 decrease of $615.1 million or 27.0% This decrease was primarily due to decrease in

the sales price of refined products and decreased sales volume of lubricants The average sales price per gallon of

refined products decreased from $3.21 in 2008 to $2.13 in 2009 Lubricant sales volume decreased fiom 17.0 million

gallons in 2008 to II .8 million gallons for the same period in 2009 This decrease was partially offset by increased

fuel volumes sold
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Cost of Products Sold exclusive of depreciation ond amortization Cost of products sold includes costs of

refined products net of excise taxes lubricants and delivery freight Cost of products sold was $1579.9 million for

the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $2168.7 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease

of $588.8 million or 27.2% This decrease was primarily due to decreased costs of refined products and decreased

purchased volume of lubricants The
average cost per gallon decreased from $3.12 in 2008 to $2.06 in 2009 This

decrease was partially offset by increased fuel volumes purchased

Direct Operating Expenses eAclusive of depreciation and amortization Direct operating expenses include

costs associated with the operations of our wholesale division such as labor repairs and maintenance rentals and

leases insurance property taxes and environmental compliance costs Direct operating expenses were $51.8 mil

lion for the
year

ended December 31 2009 compared to $64.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008

decrease of$l2.5 million or 19.4% This decrease primarily resulted from decreases in fuel expense $6.7 million

repairs and maintenance $2.7 million vehicle licenses and permits $0.7 million outside maintenance services

$0.7 million trailer leases $0.6 million and utilities $0.6 million

Selling General and Administrative Expenses Selling general and administrative expenses consist

primarily of overhead and marketing expenses Selling general and administrative expenses were $16.6 million

fui the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $18.9 million fur the year ended December31 2008 decrease

of $2.3 million or 12.2% This decrease primarily resulted from decreases in personnel costs $1.2 million outside

services $0.5 million utilities $0.4 million repairs and maintenance $0.3 million administration supplies

$0.3 million and bank fees $0.3 million These decreases were partially offset by an increase in bad debt

expense $0.8 million

Goodwill Impairment Loss During 2009 we determined that all of the goodwill in our wholesale reporting

unit was fully impaired The total impact of the goodwill impairment for the year ended December 31 2009 was

non cash charge of $41.2 million No impairment losses were recorded in 2008

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization was $5.6 million for the years ended

Deceniher 31 2009 and 200K

Operating Income Loss Operating loss for the year ended December 31 2009 was $30.7 million

compared to operating income of $22.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of $52.8 million

This decrease primarily resulted from goodwill impairment loss and decreased lubricant and fuel margins for the

year ended December 31 2009 compared to the same period in 2008 These decreases were partially offset by

decreased direct operating expenses and decreased selling general and administrative expenses
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Retail Segment

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per gallon data

Statement of Operations Data

Net sales including intersegment sales

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation and

amortization

Direct operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and

amortization

Selling general and administrative
expenses

Goodwill impairment loss

Depreciation and amortization
_________ _________ _________

Total operating costs and expenses ________ ________

Operating income loss
_________ _________ _________

Operating Data

Fuel margin per gallon is measurement calculated by dividing the difference between fuel sales and cost of

fuel sales for our retail segment by the number of gallons sold Fuel margin per gallon is measure frequently

used in the retail industry to measure operating results related to fuel sales

Merchandise margin is measurement calculated by dividing the difference between merchandise sales and

merchandise cost of products sold by merchandise sales Merchandise margin is measure frequently used in

the convenience store industry to measure operating results related to merchandise sales

The following table reconciles fuel sales and cost of fuel sales to net sales and cost of products sold

$718369 $629.938 $8381Q7

619674 533481 744691

66997

5095

64979

6216

27610

10245

702011

16358

65604

5301

8479

824075

14122

9820

642106

$12168y-

Fuel gallons sold in thousands 207303 205532 210401

Fuel margin per gallonl

Merchandise sales

Merchandise margin2

Operating retail outlets at period end

0.19 0.18

$191324 $189096

28.5% 28.4%

150 149

0.18

$185712

27.4%

155
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Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per gallon data

Net sales

Fuel sales including intersegment sales $582688 $489033 $694891

Excise taxes included in fuel revenues 79639 71998 66736

Merchandise sales 191324 189096 185712

Other sales 23996 23807 24330

Net sales $718369 $629938 $838197

Cost of products sold

Fuel cost of products sold $543916 $451485 $657537

Excise taxes included in fuel cost of products sold 79639 71998 66736

Merchandise cost of products sold 136855 135459 134821

Other cost of products sold 18542 18535 19069

Cost of products sold 619674 533481 744691

Fuel margin per gallon 0.19 0.18 0.18

Fiscal Year Ended December31 2010 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2009

Net Sales Net sales consist primarily of gross sales of gasoline and diesel fuel net of excise taxes general

merchandise and beverage and food products Net sales for the year ended December 312010 were $718.4 million

compared to $629.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $88.5 million or 14.0% This

increase was primarily due to an increase in the sales price of gasoline and diesel fuel The average sales price per

gallon including excise taxes increased from $2.38 in 2009 to $2.81 in 2010

Cost of Products Sold exclusive of depreciation and amortization Cost of products sold includes costs of

gasoline and diesel fuel net of excise taxes general merchandise and beverage and food products Cost of products

sold was $619.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $533.5 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 an increase of $86.2 million or 16.2% This increase was primarily due to increased costs of

gasoline and diesel fuel Average fuel cost per gallon including excise taxes increased from $2.20 in 2009 to $2.62

in 2010

Direct Operating Expenses.4exclusive of depreciation and amortization Direct operating expenses include

costs associated with the operations of our retail division such as labor repairs and maintenance rentals and leases

insurance property taxes and environmental compliance costs Direct operating expenses were $67.0 million for

the year ended December31 2010 compared to $65.0 million for the year ended December31 2009 an increase of

$2.0 million or 3.1% This increase was primarily due to increased bank fees primarily related to credit card sales

$1.8 million

Selling General and Administrative Expenses Selling general and administrative expenses consist

primarily of overhead and marketing expenses Selling general and administrative expenses were $5.1 million

for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $6.2 million for the year ended December 31 2009 decrease

of $1.1 million or 17.7% This decrease was primarily due to decreased personnel costs $0.6 million insurance

expense $0.3 million and environmental expense $0.2 million

Goodwill Impairment Loss During 2009 we determined that all of the goodwill in our retail reporting unit

was fully impaired The total impact of the goodwill impairment for the
year

ended December 31 2009 was non

cash charge of $27.6 million No impairment losses were recorded in 2010

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31 2010 was

$10.2 million compared to $9.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase pf $0.4 million or 4.1%
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Operating Income Loss Operating income for the year ended December 31 2010 was $16.4 million

compared to an operating loss of $12.2 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $28.6 million

This increase was primarily due to goodwill impairment charge in 2009

Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31 2008

Net Sales Net sales consist primarily of gross sales of gasoline and diesel fuel net of excise taxes general

merchandise and beverage and food products Net sales for the year ended December 31 2009 were $629.9 mil

lion compared to $838.2 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of $208.3 million or 24.9%

This decrease was primarily due to decrease in the sales price of gasoline and diesel fuel The average sales price

per gallon decreased from $3.30 in 2008 to $2.38 in 2009 This decrease was partially offset by increased

merchandise sales

Cost of Products Sold exclusive qf depreciation and amortization Cost of products sold includes costs of

gasoline and diesel fuel net of excise taxes general merchandise and beverage and food products Cost of products

sold was $533.5 million for the
year

ended December 31 2009 compared to $744.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2008 decrease of $211.2 million or 28.4% This decrease was primarily due to4ecreased costs of

gasoline and diesel fuel Average fuel cost per gallon decreased from $3.13 in 2008 to $2.20 in 2009

Direct Operating Expenses exclusive of depreciation and amortization Direct operating expenses include

costs associated with the operations of pur retail division such as labor repairs and maintenance rentals and leases

insurance property taxes and environmental compliance costs Direct operating expenses were $65.0 million for

the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $65.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of

$0.6 million or 0.9%

Selling General and Administrative Expenses Selling general and administrative
expenses

consist

primarily of overhead and marketing expenses Selling general and administrative
expenses were $6.2 million

for the
year

ended December31 2009 compared to $5.3 million for the year ended December31 2008 an increase

of $0.9 million or 17.0%

Goodwill Impairment Loss During 2009 we determined that all of the goodwill in our retail reporting unit

was impaired The total impact of the goodwill impairment for the year ended December 31 2009 was non cash

charge of $27.6 million No impairment losses were recorded in 2008

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31 2009 was

$9.8 million compared to $8.5 million for the year ended December31 2008 an increase of $1.3 million or 15.3%

Operating Income Loss Operating loss for the year ended December 31 2009 was $12.2 million

compared to operating income of $14.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 decrease of $26.3 million

This decrease was primarily due to goodwill impairment loss This decrease was partially offset by higher

merchandise and fuel margins for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the same period in 2008

Outlook

The weak global economy over the past two years has resulted in decreased demand for refined products The

decreased demand along with narrowing differentials between light and heavy cmde oil prices negatively impacted

our refining margins through the first quarter of 2010 and all of 2009 Beginning in the second quarter of 2010 our

refining margins improved due to increased demand primarily for diesel fuel During the early part of 2011 our

refining margins have continued to strengthen partially due to increased gasoline crack spreads as we approach the

spring 2011 driving season continued strong diesel demand and supply/demayd imbalance of WTI crude oil in

the Mid-Continent resulting in historically low prices for WTI crude oil relative to Brent crude oil This is positive

development for us as all of our crude oil purchases are based on pricing tied to WTI
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Cash flows provided by operating activities $134456 $140841 285575

Cash flows used in investing activities 73777 115361 220554

Cash flows used in financing activities 75657 30407 274769

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 14978 4927 $209748

Cash Flows Provided By Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December31 2010 was $134.5 million The most

significant providers of cash were adjustments to net loss for non cash items such as depreciation and amortization

$138.6 million amortization of original issue discount $15.9 million impairment losses $13.0 million

amortization of loan fees $9.7 million and stock-based compensation $5.9 million The most significant users of

cash were net cash outflow from change in operating assets and liabilities $14.8 million deferred income taxes

$16.8 million and our net loss $17.0 million

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31 2009 was $140.8 million The most

significant providers of cash were adjustments to net loss for non-cash items such as goodwill and other impairment

losses $352.3 million depreciation and amortization $146.0 million deferred income taxes $9.4 million the

write-off of unamortized loan fees $9.0 million amortization of original issue discount $7.1 million amor

tization of loan fees $6.9 million and stock-based compensation $4.7 million The most significant users of cash

were our net loss $350.6 million and net cash outflow from change in operating assets and liabilities

$44.0 million

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year
ended December 31 2008 was $285.6 million The most

significant providers of cash were our net income $64.2 million adjustments to net income for non-cash items

such as depreciation and amortization $113.6 million the write off of unamortized loan fees $10.9 million

deferred income taxes $14.1 million stock based compensation $7.7 million and amortization of loan fees

$4.8 million Also contributing to our cash flows from operating activities was net cash inflow from change in

operating assets and liabilities $70.3 million

Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31 2010 was $73.8 million mainly relating

to capital expenditures of $78.1 million including capitalized interest of $4.2 million Total capital spending for

2010 excluding capitalized interest included spending on the Mobile Source Air Toxics II or MSAT II project

$42.5 million other improvement projects at our El Paso refinery $5.7 million and several other improvement

and regulatory projects primarily at our Gallup and Yorktown refineries $19.4 million In addition our capital

spending included projects for our retail group $4.9 million our wholesale
group $0.7 million and general

corporate spending $0.7 million

Net cash used in investing activities for the
year ended December 31 2009 was $115.4 million mainly relating

to capital expenditures including capitalized interest of $6.4 million Capital spending for 2009 excluding

capitalized interest included spending on the low sulfur gasoline project $41.3 million the MSAT project

$19.5 million improvement projects in conjunction with the 2010 maintenance turnaround $6.4 million the

diesel hydrotreater unit revamp project $3.9 million and amine unit upgrade $3.3 million at our El Paso refinery

coker unit upgrades $5.9 million the MSAT project $4.5 million and the crude unit yield improvement project

$1.5 million at our Yorktown refinery and several other improvement and regulatory projects for our refining
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group $17.6 million In addition our total capital spending included projects for our retail
group $3.4 million

our corporate group $1.4 million and our wholesale group $0.9 million

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31 2008 was $220.6 million mainly relating

to capital expenditures including capitalized interest of $9.9 million Capital spending for 2008 excluding

capitalized interest included spending on the low sulfur gasoline project $99.4 million improvement projects in

conjunction with the 2008 maintenance turnaround $22.7 million the naphtha hydrotreating unit $8.6 million

the construction of new laboratory $5.1 million and the acid and sulfur gas facilities $1.2 million at our El Paso

refinery the low sulfur gasoline project $23.4 million improvements to the laboratory and fire station $2.4 mil

lion the ultraformer blowdown stack $2.3 million and coker unit electrical infrastructure $1.9 million at our

Yorktown refinery and several other improvement and regulatory projects for our refining group $25.0 million In

addition our total capital spending included projects for our retail group $7.9 million our corporate group

$6.8 million and our wholesale group $5.7 million

Cash Flows Used In Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31 2010 was $75.7 million Cash used in

financing activities for 2010 included net decrease to our Revolving Credit Agreement $50.0 million principal

payments on our Term Loan $13.0 million and deferred financing costs $12.7 million

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31 2009 was $30.4 million Cash used in

financing activities for 2009 included principal payments on our Term Loan $925.7 million deferred financing

costs $11.7 million net decrease to our Revolving Credit Agreement $10.0 million and the repurchases of

common stock $0.6 million to cover payroll withholding taxes for certain employees in connection with the

vesting of restricted shares awarded under the Western Refining Long-Term Incentive Plan These decreases in cash

were significantly offset by the net proceeds from the issuance of our Senior Secured Notes $538.2 million our

Convertible Senior Notes $209.0 million and common stock $170.4 million

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31 2008 was $274.8 million Cash used in

financing activities for 2008 included net decrease to our Revolving Credit Agreement $230.0 million deferred

financing costs $22.4 million principal payments on our Term Loan $13.0 million dividends paid $8.2 million

and the repurchases of common stock $1.2 million to cover payroll withholding taxes for certain employees in

connection with the vesting of restricted shares awarded under the Western Refining Long-Term Incentive Plan

Working Capital

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash generated from our operating activities existing cash balances and

our Revolving Credit Agreement Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from our operating activities will

continue to be primarily dependent on producing or purchasing and selling sufficient quantities of refined products

at margins sufficient to cover fixed and variable expenses The improved refining margin environment during 2010

compared to the fourth quarter of 2009 positively impacted our earnings and cash flows Our refining gross margin

increased from $5.35 per throughput barrel in the fourth quarter of 2009 to $8.88 per throughput barrel for the year

ended December 31 2010 Refining margins were extremely volatile throughout 2009 For example our refining

margin per throughput barrel decreased from $13.59 in the first quarter of 2009 to $9.47 $7.28 and $5.35 in the

second third and fourth quarters of 2009 respectively These changes in refining margins are attributable to the

spread between crude oil and refined product prices If our margins deteriorate significantly or if our earnings and

cash flows suffer for any other reason we could be unable to comply with the financial covenants set forth in our

credit facilities described below If we fail to satisfy these covenants we could be prohibited from borrowing for

our working capital needs and issuing letters of credit which would hinder our ability to purchase sufficient

quantities of crude oil to operate our refineries at planned rates To the extent that we are unable to generate

sufficient cash flows from operations or if we are unable to borrow or issue letters of credit under the revolving

credit facility we would need to seek additional financing if available in order to operate our business

We continually evaluate additional alternatives to further improve our capital strncture by increasing our cash

balances and/or reducing or refinancing portion of the remaining balance on dur Term Loan These alternatives

include various strategic initiatives and potential asset sales as well as potential public or private equity or debt
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financings If additional funds are obtained by issuing equity securities our existing stockholders could be diluted

We can give no assurances that we will be able to sell any
of our assets or to obtain additional financing on terms

acceptable to us or at all

In addition our future capital expenditures and other cash requirements could be higher than we currently

expect as result of various factors described in Part Item IA Risk Factors elsewhere in this report

Working capital at December 31 2010 was $272.7 million consisting of $825.7 million in current assets and

$553.0 million in current liabilities Working capital at December 31 2009 was $311.3 million consisting of

$944.2 million in current assets and $632.9 million in current liabilities In addition at December 31 2010 the

gross availability under the Revolving Credit Agreement was $624.0 million determined based on an advance rate

formula tied to our accounts receivable and inventory levels As of December 31 2010 we had net availability

under the Revolving Credit Agreement of $335.6 million due to $288.4 million in letters of credit outstanding and

no outstanding borrowings On February 25 2011 the gross availability under the Revolving Credit Agreement was

$650.3 million pursuant to the borrowing base On February 25 2011 we had net availability under the Revolving

Credit Agreement of $192.3 million due to $273.0 million in letters of credit outstanding and $185.0 million in

direct borrowings Our available cash balance as of February 25 2011 was $39.1 million

Indebtedness

Senior Secured Notes In June 2009 we issued two tranches of Senior Secured Notes under an indenture

dated June 12 2009 The first tranche consisted of $325.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 11.25% Senior

Secured Notes the Fixed Rate Notes The second tranche consisted of $275.0 million Senior Secured Floating

Rate Notes the Floating Rate Notes and together with the Fixed Rate Notes the Senior Secured Notes The

Fixed Rate Notes pay interest semi-annually in cash in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year at rate of

11.25% per annum and will mature on June 15 2017 We may redeem the Fixed Rate Notes at our option beginning

on June 15 2013 through June 14 2014 at premium of 5.625% from June 15 2014 through June 14 2015 at

premium of 2.813% and at par thereafter As of December 31 2010 the fair value of the Fixed Rate Notes was

$347.8 million

The Floating Rate Notes pay interest quarterly at per annum rate reset quarterly equal to three-month

LIBOR subject to LIBOR floor of 3.25% plus 7.50% and will mature on June 15 2014 The interest rate on the

Floating Rate Notes as of December 31 2010 was 10.75% We may redeem the Floating Rate Notes at our option

beginning on December 15 2011 through June 142012 at premium of 5.0% from June 15 2012 throughJune 14

2013 at premium of 3.0% and at premium of 1.0% thereafter The fair value of the Floating Rate Notes was

$291.5 million at December 31 2010 We are amortizing the original issue discounts using the effective interest rate

method over the life of the notes We used the combined proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Senior Secured

Notes to repay portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan Credit Agreement Term Loan
Proceeds frnm the issuance of the Fixed Rate Notes were $290.7 millinn net of an original issue discount nf

$27.8 million and underwriting discounts of $6.5 million Proceeds from the issuance of the Floating Rate Notes

were $247.5 million net of original issue discount of $22.0 million and underwriting discounts of $5.5 million We

paid $2.1 million in other financing costs related to the Senior Secured Notes in 2009

The Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed by all of our domestic restricted subsidiaries in existence on the date

the Senior Secured Notes were issued The Senior Secured Notes will also be guaranteed by all future wholly-owned

domestic restricted subsidiaries and by any restricted subsidiary that guarantees any of our indebtedness under

credit facilities that are secured by lien on the collateral securing the Senior Secured Notes The Senior Secured

Notes are also secured on first priority basis equally and ratably with our Term Loan and any future other pan

passu secured obligation by the collateral securing the Term Loan which consists of our fixed assets and on

second priority basis equally and ratably with the Term Loan and any future other pan passu secured obligation by

the collateral securing the Revolving Credit Agreement which consists of ourcash and cash equivalents trade

accounts receivables and inventory

The indenture governing the Senior Secured Notes contains covenants that limit our and most of our

subsidiaries ability to among other things pay
dividends or make other distributions in respect of our capital

stock or make other restricted payments iimake certain investments iii sell certain assets iv incur additional
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debt or issue certain preferred shares create liens on certain assets to secure debt vi consolidate merge sell or

otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets vii restrict dividends or other payments from restricted

subsidiaries and viii enter into certain transactions with our affiliates These covenants are subject to number of

important limitations and exceptions The indenture governing the Senior Secured Notes also provides for events of

default which if any of them occur would permit or require the principal premium if any and interest on all then

outstanding Senior Secured Notes to be due and payable immediately

We may issue additional notes from time to time pursuant to the indenture governing the Senior Secured Notes

Convertible Senior Notes We issued and sold $215.5 million in aggregate principal amount of our

5.75% Senior Convertible Notes due 2014 the Convertible Senior Notes during June and July 2009 The

Convertible Senior Notes are unsecured and pay interest semi-annually in arrears at rate of 5.75% per year

beginning on December 15 2009 The Convertible Senior Notes will mature on June 15 2014 The initial

conversion rate for the Convertible Senior Notes is 92.5926 shares of common stock per $1000 principal amount of

Convertible Senior Notes equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $10.80 per share of common

stock In lieu of delivery of shares of common stock in satisfaction of our obligation upon conversion of the

Convertible Senior Notes we may elect to settle conversions entirely in cash or by net share settlement Proceeds

from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes of $209.0 million net of underwriting discounts of $6.5 million

were used to repay portion of outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan Issuers of convertible debt

instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion including partial cash settlement are required to

separately account for the liability and equity conversion feature components of the instruments in manner

reflective of the issuers nonconvertible debt borrowing rate The burrowing rate that we used to determine the

liability and equity components of the Convertible Senior Notes was 13.75% We paid $0.5 million in other

financing costs related to the Convertible Senior Notes We valued the conversion feature at June 30 2009 at

$60.9 million and recorded additional paid-in capital of $36.3 million net of deferred income taxes of $22.6 million

and transaction costs of $2.0 million related to the equity portion of this convertible debt in 2009 The discount on

the Convertible Senior Notes is amortized using the effective interest method through maturity on June 15 2014 As

of December 31 2010 the fair value of the Convertible Senior Notes was $275.5 million and the if converted value

is less than the principal amount

Term Loan Credit Agreement The Term Loan has maturity date of May 30 2014 The Term Loan is

secured on first priority basis together with the Senior Secured Notes and any future other pan passu secured

obligations by our fixed assets and on second priority basis together with the Senior Secured Notes and any

future other pan passu secured obligations by the collateral securing the Revolving Credit Agreement which

consists of our cash and cash equivalents trade accounts receivable and inventory The Term Loan provides for

principal payments on quarterly basis of $13.0 million annually until March 31 2014 with the remaining balance

due on the maturity date We made principal payments on the Term Loan of $13.0 million in 2010 $925.7 million in

2009 primarily from the nerproceeds of the debt and common stock offerings in June and July 2009 and

$13.0 million during 2008 Since 2009 interest rates under the Term Loan are equal to LIBOR subject to floor of

3.25% plus 7.50% The average interest rates under the Term Loan for 2010 and 2009 were 10.75% and 8.67%

respectively As of December 31 2010 the interest rate under the Term Loan was 10.75% We amended the Term

Loan during the second and fourth quarters of 2009 in connection with the new debt offerings and to modify certain

financial covenants To effect these amendments we paid $3.4 million in amendment fees As result of the partial

paydown of the Term Loan in June 2009 we expensed $9.0 million during the second quarter of 2009 to write-off

portion of the unamortized loan fees related to the Term Loan At December 31 2010 the fair value of the Term

Loan was $346.9 million

Revolving Credit Agreement On December 23 2010 we completed an amendment to the Revolving Credit

Agreement resulting in among other items the extension of the maturity of portion of the commitments

thereunder to January 2015 The amended Revolving Credit Agreement included commitments of $800.0 million

composed of $145.0 million tranche that matures on May 31 2012 and $655.0 million tranche that matures on

January 2015 The Revolving Credit Agreement is secured on first priority basis by certain cash and cash

equivalents trade accounts receivable and inventory and on second priority basis by the collateral securing the

Term Loan the Senior Secured Notes and any future other pan passu secured obligations which consist of the

Companys fixed assets The Revolving Credit Agreement can be used to finance working capital and capital

64



expenditures refinance our existing indebtedness and that of our subsidiaries and for other general corporate

purposes and also provides for letters of credit and swing line loans The Revolving Credit Agreement is an asset-

based facility with the borrowing base capacity primarily dependent on our eligible receivables and inventory

Interest rates for the $145.0 million tranche vary based on our consolidated leverage ratio and range from 3.75% to

4.50% over LIBOR or 2.75% to 3.50% over the Base Rate as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement Interest

rates for the $655.0 million tranche vary based on our excess borrowing base capacity under the Revolving Credit

Agreement and range from 3.00% to 3.75% over LIBOR or 2.00% to 2.75% over the Base Ram As of December 31

2010 the gross availability under the Revolving Credit Agreement was $624.0 million As of December 31 2010

we had net availability under the Revolving Credit Agreement of $335.6 million due to $288.4 million in letters of

credit outstanding The average interest rates under the Revolving Credit Agreement for 2010 and 2009 were 6.15%

and 5.20% respectively At December 31 2010 there were no outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit

Agreement Among other amendments the 2010 amendment replaced financial maintenance covenants with

fixed charge coverage ratio covenant that applies only when unused availability falls below specified level We

incurred $12.7 million in fees related to the Revolving Credit Agreement amendment in 2010 We also amended the

Revolving Credit Agreement during the second and fourth quarters of 2009 in connection with the new debt

offerings and to modify certain of the financial covenants We incurred $5.6 million in fees related to these

amendments

As result of the 2009 amendment our Revolving Credit Agreement required structure mandating that all

receipts be swept daily to reduce borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Agreement This arrangement

combined with the existence of material adverse change clause in the Revolving Credit Agreement required

outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement to be classified as current liability As result of

the 2010 amendment going forward the cash dominion requirement will only be in effect if the excess availability

under the Revolving Credit Agreement falls below certain threshold

Guarantors of the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Agreement The Term Loan and the Revolving Credit

Agreement together the Agreements are guaranteed on joint and several basis by subsidiaries of Western

Refining Inc No amounts have been recorded for these guarantees

Certain Covenants The Agreements contain certain covenants including limitations on debt investments

and dividends The Term Loan contains financial covenants relating to minimum interest coverage and maximum

leverage and for certain periods in 2010 through September 30 2010 minimum EBITDA We were in compliance

with all applicable covenants set forth in the Term Loan at December 31 2010 The following table sets forth the

financial covenant requiremeats for minimum consolidated interest coverage as defined therein and maximum

consolidated leverage as defined therein under the Term Loan by quarter

Minimum
Consolidated Maximum

Interest Coverage Consolidated

Ratio Leverage Ratio

December 31 2010 and March 31 2011 1.50 to 1.00 5.25 to 1.00

June 30 2011 and thereafter 2.00 to 1.00 4.50 to 1.00

Letters of Credit

The Revolving Credit Agreement provides for the issuance of letters of credit We issue and cancel letters of

credit on periodic basis depending upon our needs At December 31 2010 there were $288.4 million of

irrevocable letters of credit outstanding primarily issued to crude oil suppliers under the Revolving Credit

Agreement

Capital Spending

Capital expenditures totaled $78.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 and included the MSAT II

project at El Paso and several other improvement and regulatory projects for our refining group In addition our

total capital spending included several smaller projects for our wholesale group our retail group and our corporate

group Capital expenditures also included $4.2 million of capitali7ed interest for 2010
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Our capital expenditure budget for 2011 is $62.2 million of which $52.5 million is for our refining group

$1.4 million is for our wholesale group $6.3 million is for our retail group and $2.0 million is for other general

projects The following table summarizes the spending allocation between sustaining discretionary and regulatory

projects for 2011

2011

In thousands

Sustaining $20575

Discretionary 10550

Regulatory 31118

Total $62243

Sustaining Projects Sustaining maintenance capital expenditures are those related to minor replacement of

assets refurbishing and replacement of components fire protection process safety management and other

recurring and safety related capital expenditures

Discretionary Projects Discretionary project capital expenditures are those driven primarily by the eco

nomic returns that such projects can generate for us

Regulatory Projects Regulatory projects are undertaken to comply with various regulatory requirements

including those related to environmental health and safety matters Our low sulfur fuel and low benzene gasoline

projects are regulatory investments driven primarily by fuels regulations We completed our capital project to

comply with the EPAs low sulfur gasoline regulations during 2010 Our Gallup and Yorktown refineries require no

further regulatory spending to meet the EPAs ultra low sulfur diesel standards The deadline for compliance with

the final phase of the ultra low sulfur diesel regulations to reduce sulfur in locomotive and marine diesel is June

2012 and affects our El Paso refinery only EPA regulations allow the one-time use of credits to extend the June 2012

deadline by up to 24 months Low sulfur credits purchased in 2010 will allow our El Paso refinery to continue

producing 500 ppm sulfur locomotive diesel until early 2014 We are evaluating the need for capital project to

produce 15 ppm locomotive diesel after early 2014

All of our refineries are required to meet the new Mobile Source Air Toxics or MSAT II regulations to reduce

the benzene content of gasoline Under the MSAT II regulations benzene in the finished gasoline pool must be

reduced to an annual average of 0.62 volume percent by 2011 with or without the purchase of credits Beginning on

July 2012 each refinery must also average 1.30 volume percent benzene without the use of credits As of

December 31 2010 we have expended $62.0 million to comply with MSAT II regulations at our El Paso refinery

capital project for $2.0 million or less at our Gallup refinery is currently anticipated to meet the 1.30 volume percent

requirement Our Yorktown refinery currently meets the 1.30 volume percent benzene requirement and intends to

rely on credits to comply with the 0.62 volume percent requirement

Based on current information we estimate the total remaining capital expenditures necessary to address the

EPA Initiative issues at El Paso would be approximately $21.2 million for NOx emission controls on heaters and

boilers and will occur from 2011 through 2013 Based on current information and the 2009 NMED Amendment and

favorably negotiating revision to reflect the indefinite suspension of refining operations at our Bloomfield facility

we estimate the total remaining capital expenditures that may be required pursuant to the 2009 NMED Amendment

to address the EPA Initiative issues at Gallup would be $17.6 million and will occur in 2011 and 2012 These capital

expenditures will primarily be for installation of emission controls on the heaters boilers and fluid catalytic

cracking unit and for reducing sulfur in fuel gas to reduce emissions of sulfur dioxide and NOx and particulate

matter from our Gallup refinery See Item Business Governmental Regulation
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The actual capital expenditures for the regulatory projects described above for the past three years are

summarized in the table below

2010 2009 2008

In millions

MSAT II gasoline $43 $20

EPA Initiative Projects 23

Total $43 $20 $23

The estimated capital expenditures for the regulatory projects described above and for other regulatory

requirements for the next three years are summarized in the table below

2011 2012 2013

In millions

MSATII gasoline

EPA Initiative Projects 12 21

Ultra low sulfur non-road diesel 20

Various other projects 16

Total $31 $34 $28

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Information regarding our contractual obligations of the types described below as of December 31 2010 is set

forth in the following table

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Totals 2011 2012 and 2013 2014 and 2015 2016 and Beyond

In thousands

Long-term debt

obligations1 $1639436 $173705 240531 846878 378322

Capital lease obligations

Operating lease obligations 94505 16059 23718 16315 38413

Purchase obligations2 4774194 631589 1097611 1014998 2029996

Environmental reserves3 23288 11095 1601 1265 9327

Other obligations45 310557 34192 44636 33718 198011

Total obligations6 $6841980 $866640 $1408097 $1913174 $2654069

Includes minimum principal payments and interest calculated using interest rates at December 31 2010

Purchase obligations include agreements to buy cmde oil and other raw materials Amounts included in the

table were calculated using the pricing at December 31 2010 multiplied by the contract volumes

As of December 31 2010 the discounted environmental reserve related to these liabilities totaled $18.3 million

Our environmental liabilities are discussed in Note 21 Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements elsewhere in this annual report
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Other commitments include agreements for sulfuric acid regeneration and sulfur gas processing throughput

and distribution storage services barges and professional consulting The minimum payment commitments

are included in the table

We are obligated to make future expenditures related to our pension and postretirement obligations These

payments are not fixed and cannot be reasonably determined beyond 2018 As result our obligations beyond

2018 related to these plans are not included in the table Our pension and postretirement obligations are

discussed in Note 15 Retirement Plans in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements elsewhere in this

annual report

As of December 31 2010 we have no uncertain tax positions or related liabilities recorded

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

Changes in commodity prices and interest rates are our primary sources of market risk

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to market risks related to the volatility of crude oil and refined product prices as well as

volatility in the price of natural gas used in our refinery operations Our financial results can be affected

significantly by fluctuations in these prices which depend on many factors including demand for crude oil

gasoline and other refined products changes in the economy worldwide production levels worldwide inventory

levels and governmental regulatory initiatives Our risk management strategy identifies circumstances in which we

may utilize the commodity futures market to manage risk associated with these price fluctuations

In order to manage the uncertainty relating to inventory price volatility we have generally applied policy of

maintaining inventories at or below targeted operating level In the past circumstances have occurred such as

turnaround schedules or shifts in market demand that have resulted in variances between our actual inventory level

and our desired target level We may utilize the commodity futures market to manage these anticipated inventory

variances

We maintain inventories of crude oil other feedstocks and blendstocks and refined products the values of

which are subject to wide fluctuations in market prices driven by worldwide economic conditions regional and

global inventory levels and seasonal conditions At December 31 2010 we held approximately 5.7 million barrels

of crude oil refined product and other inventories valued under the LIFO valuation method with an average cost of

$58.39 per barrel At December 31 2010 aggregated LIFO costs exceeded the current cost of our crude oil refined

product and other feedstock and blendstock inventories by $173.5 million At December 31 2009 we held

approximately 6.3 million barrels of crude oil refined product and other inventories valued under the LIFO

valuation method with an average cost of $56.32 per barrel At December 31 2009 aggregated LIFO costs

exceeded the current cost of our crude oil refined product and other feedstock and blendstock inventories by

$126.4 million

All commodity futures contracts price swaps and options are recorded at fair value and any changes in fair

value between periods are recorded under cost of products sold in our Consolidated Statements of Operations

We selectively utilize commodity derivatives to manage our price exposure to inventory positions or to fix

margins on certain future sales volumes The commodity derivative instruments may take the form of futures

contracts price swaps or options and are entered into with counterparties that we believe to be creditworthy We

elected not to pursue hedge accounting treatment for these instruments for financial accounting purposes

Therefore changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments are included in income in the period of

change Net gains or losses associated with these transactions are reflected within cost of products sold at the end of

each period For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 we had $9.4 million and $21.7 million respectively

in net losses settled or accounted for using mark-to-market accounting For the year ended December 31 2008 we

had $11.4 million in net gains settled or accounted for using mark-to-market accounting

At December 31 2010 we had open commodity derivative instmments consisting of crude oil futures and

finished product price swaps on net 1023000 barrels to protect the value of certain crude oil finished product and

blendstock inventories for the first quarter of 2011 These open instruments had total unrealized net losses at

December 31 2010 of approximately $1.2 million At December 31 2009 we had open commodity derivative

instruments consisting of crude oil futures and finished product price swaps on net 268000 barrels to protect the

value of certain crude oil finished product and blendstock inventories for the first quarter of 2010 These open

instruments had total unrealized net losses at December 31 2009 of approximately $1.5 million At December 31

2008 we had open commodity derivative instruments consisting of finished
product price swaps on net

20000 barrels to protect the value of certain gasoline blendstock inventories for the first quarter of 2009 We

did not record an unrealized gain or loss on these open positions since the fair value equaled the trade price on these

swaps at December 31 2008

During the three years ended December 31 2010 we did not have any commodity derivative instruments that

were designated or accounted for as hedges
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Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31 2010 $616.8 million of our outstanding debt excluding unamortized discount was at

floating interest rates based on LIBOR and prime rates An increase in these base rates of 1% would increase our

interest expense by $6.2 million
per year
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Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Companys management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15f or 15d-15f promulgated

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as process designed by or under the supervision of the Companys

principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Companys board of directors management

and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and includes those policies and procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of the assets of the Company

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and the receipts and expenditures of

the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

Company and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statEments

Because of its inherent limitations intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls

may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate

The Companys management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2010 In making this assessment the Companys management used the criteria set

forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control

Integrated Framework Based on its assessment the Companys management believes that as of December 31

2010 the Companys internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm Deloitte Touche LLP has issued an audit

report on the Companys internal control over financial reporting This report appears on page 72 of this annual

report
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Western Refining Inc

El Paso Texas

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Western Refining Inc as of December 31

2010 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The Companys management is responsible for main

taining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over

Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects
Our audit

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed by or under the supervision of the

companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and

effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys
assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of

collusion or improper managdment override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be

prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of the internal control

over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2010 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31 2010 of the

Company and our report dated March 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements

Is DELorrrE TOUcHE LLP

Phoenix AZ

March72011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Western Refining Inc

El Paso Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Western Refining Inc and subsidiaries the

Company as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations compre

hensive income loss stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2010 These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of the Company at December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United Statesof AmSica

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria

established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Companys

internal control over financial reporting

Is DELOJTrE TOUcHE LLP

Phoenix AZ

March 72011

74



WESTERN REFINING INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands except share data

As of December 31

2010 2009

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 59912 74890

Accounts receivable principally trade net of reserve for doubtful accounts of

$3896 and $1571 respectively 283897 337559

Inventories 365673 422.753

Prepaid expenses 71935 29216

Other current assets 44286 79740

Total current assets 825703 944158

Property plant and equipment net l688154 1767900

Intangible assets net 59945 61693

Other assets net 54344 50903

Total assets $2628146 $2824654

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 308646 405684

Accrued liabilities 122378 118569

Current deferred income tax liability net 58929 45651

Current portion of long-term debt 63000 63000

Total current liabilities 552953 632904

Long-term liabilities

Long-term debt less current portion 1006531 1053664

Deferred income tax liability net 361292 391348

Environmental postretirement and other liabilities 31777 58286

Total long-term liabilities 1399600 1503298

Commitments and contingencies Note 21
Stockholders equity

Common stock par value $0.01 240000000 shares authorized 89025010 and

88688717 shares issued respectively 890 887

Preferred stock par value $0.01 10000000 shares authorized no shares issued

and outstanding

Additional paid-in capital 588215 583458

Retained earnings 109871 126920

Accumulated other comprehensive loss net of tax 1940 1370
Treasury stock 698006 shares respectively at cost 21443 21443

Total stockholders equity 675593 688452

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $2628146 $2824654

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statemenf
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WESTERN REFINING INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net sales $7965053 $6807368 $10725581

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 7155967 5944128 9735500

Direct operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and

amortization 444531 486164 532325

Selling general and administrative
expenses 84175 109697 115913

Goodwill impairment losses 299552

Other impairment losses 13038 52788

Maintenance turnaround expense 23286 8088 28936

Depreciation and amortization 138621 145981 113611

Total operating costs and
expenses 7859618 7046398 10526285

Operating income loss 105435 239030 199296

Other income expense

Interest income 441 248 1830

Interest expense and other financing costs 146549 121321 102202

Amortization of loan fees 9739 6870 4789
Write-off of unamortized loan fees 9047 10890

Other income expense net 7286 15184 1176

Income loss before income taxes 43126 391204 84421

Provision for income taxes 26077 40583 20224

Net income loss 17049 350621 64197

Net earnings loss per share

Basic 0.19 4.43 0.94

Diluted 0.19 4.43 0.94

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic 88204 79163 67715

Diluted 88204 79163 67715

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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WESTERN REFINING INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

In thousands except share data

Accumulated
Common stock

Other

Additional Comprehensive

Shares Par Paid-In Retained Loss frejy Stock

Issued Value Capital Earnings Net of Tax Shares Cost Total

Balance at December 31 2007 68105132 $679 $366071 417439 8056 566235 519648 756485

Stock based compeesation 7711 7711

Restrtcted stock vesting 321862

Tax deficiency from stock based

compensation 659 659

cash dividend declared 4099 4099

Net income 64197 64197

Dther comprehensive loss net of tax benefit ol

Snub 110950 110950

Treasary stock at cost 80668 j1196 1196

Balance at December 31 2008 68426994 684 373118 477537 19006 646903 20844 811489

Public offering of common stock 20000000 200 170242 170442

Equity component of convertible notes

issuance 36.281 36281

Stock-based compensation 4697 4701

Restricted stock vesting 261723

Tax deficiency from stock based

compensation 877 877

Net loss 350621 350621

Dtlter comprehettsive income net of tax expense

of $10372 17636 17636

Treasury stock at cost 51103 599 599

Balance at December 31 2009 88688717 887 583458 126920 1370 698006 21443 688452

Stock-based compensation 5857 5857

Restricted stock vesting 336293

Tax deficiency from stock based

contpensation 1097 1097

Net loss 17049 17049

DOter comprehensive loss ttet of tax benefit of

$396 70 570

Treasury stock at cost

Balance at December 31 .11310 89025010 $890 $588215 1098/b t940 698006 $2t443 675593

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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WESTERN REFINING INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
In thousands

Year Ended December 31

13038

138621

3260

9739

15867

5857

16778
1484

50402

57080

42719
39972

96706
2712

27356

134456

78095
4318

73777

299552

52788

145981

6119

6870

7091

9047

4701

9410

343

128403
2784

24281

41896
97325

4269
262

140841

115854
493

115361

747183

925693
170442

10000
11740

599

30407

4927
79817

74890

113611

9340

4789

10890

7711

14115

1308

194277

173136

21915
45020

336964
13547

7487

285575

222288

1734

220554

13000

230000
22391
8182

1196

274760

209748
289565

79817

51134
96499

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated finanŁial statements

2010 2109 2008

$17049 $350621 64197

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Goodwill impairment losses

Other impairment losses

Depreciation and amortization

Reserve for doubtful accounts

Amortization of loan fees

Amortization of original issue discount

Write-off of unamortized loan fees

Stock based compensation expense

Deferred income taxes

Gain loss from the disposal of assets

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Postretirement and other non-current liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from the sale of assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Additions to long term debt

Payments on long-term debt

Common stock offering

Revolving credit facility net

Deferred financing costs

Dividends paid

Repurchases of common stock

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Income taxes refunded

Interest paid excluding amounts capitalized

Non-cash investing and financing activities

Reduction of long-term debt for original issue discounts and deferred financing costs

Equity component of convertible notes net of deferred taxes of $22.6 million and issuance

costs of $2.0 million

Accrued
capital expenditures

13000

50000
12657

75657

14978
74890

59912

$49827 7201
135063 129812

68267

36281

332 13673
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In thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net income loss $07049 $350621 64197

Other comprehensive income loss items

Benefit plans

Actuarial gain loss 4272 2793 18673

Reclassification of gain loss to income 15 144 813

Pension plan termination adjustment 3321 25071

Other comprehensive income loss before tax 966 28008 17860

Income tax 396 10372 6910

Other comprehensive income loss net of tax 570 17636 10950

Comprehensive income loss $07619 $332985 53247

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financialstatements
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Organization and Basis of Presentation

The Company or Western may he used to refer to Western Refining Inc and unless the context otherwise

requires its subsidiaries Any references to the Company as of datc prior to Septeniber 16 2005 the date of

Western Refining Inc.s formation are to Western Refining Company L.P Western Refining LP On May 31

2007 the Company coniplcted the acquisition of Giant Industries Inc Giant Any references to the Company

prior to this date exclude the operations of Giant

The Company is an independent crude oil refiner and marketer of refined products and also operates service

stations and convenience stores The Company owns and currently operates two refineries In addition to the

refinery in El Paso Texas the Company also owns and opetates refinery near Gallup in the Four Corners region of

Northern New Mexico Prior to September 2010 the Company operated refinery near Yorktown Virginia and

until November 2009 the Company also operated refinery near Bloomfield New Mexico The Company

temporarily suspended refining operations at the Yorktown facility in September 2010 and indefinitely suspended

refining operations at the Bloomfield refinery in November 2009 The Company continues to operate both facilities

as product distribution terminals The Companys primary operating areas encompass West Texas Arizona New

Mexico Utah Colorado and the Mid Atlantic region In addition to the refineries the Company also owns and

operates stand alone refined product-distribution terminals in Bloomfield New Mexico Albuquerque New

Mexico and Yorktown Virginia as well as asphalt terminals in Phoenix and Tucson Arizona Albuquerque

and El Paso As of December 31 2010 the Conipany also owned and operated 150 retail service stations and

convenience stores in Arizona Colorado and New Mexico fleet of crude oil and finished product truck

transports and wholesale petroleum products distributor that operates in Arizona California Colorado Nevada

New Mexico Texas and Utah

The Companys operations include three business segments the refining group the wholesale group and the

retail group Prior to the Giant acquisition the Company operated as one business segment See Note Segment

Information for further discussion of the Companys business segments

Demand for gasoline is generally higher during the summer months than during the winter months In addition

higher volumes of ethanol are blended to the gasoline produced in the Southwest region during the winter months

thereby increasing the supply of gasoline This combination of decreased demand and increased supply during the

winter months can lower gasoline prices As result the Companys operating results for the first and fourth

calendar quarters are generally lower than those for the second and third calendar quarters of each year The effects

of seasonal demand foi gasoline are partially offset by increased demand during the winter months for diesel fuel in

the Southwest and heating oil in the Northeast Throughout 2009 however refining margins were extremely

volatile and the Companys results of operations do not reflect these seasonal trends

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles GAAP for financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-K and

Article 10 of Regulation

Summary of Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

Western Refining Inc was formed on September 16 2005 as holding company prior to its initial public

offering On May 31 2007 the Company acquired 100% of Giants outstanding shares The accompanying

consolidated financial statements reflect the operations of Giant and its subsidiaries In connection with the

Companys initial public offering in January 2006 pursuant to contribution agreement reorganization of entities

under common control was consummated whereby the Conipany became the indirect owner of Western Refining

LP and all of its refinery assets All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated for all periods

presented
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Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of investments in money market accounts The Company considers all highly liquid

investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents There were no cash

equivalents as of December 31 2010 and $5.4 million in cash equivalents as of December 31 2009 included in the

Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are due from diverse customer base including companies in the petroleum industry

railroads airlines and the federal government and is stated net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts as

determined by historical experience and adjusted for economic uncertainties or known trends Credit is extended

based on an evaluation of the customers financial condition In addition portion of the sales at the Companys

service stations are on credit terms generally through major credit card companies Past due or delinquency status of

the Companys trade accounts receivable are generally based on contractual arrangcments with The Companys

customers

Uncollectible accounts receivable are charged against the allowance for doubtful accounts when all reasonable

efforts to collect the amounts due have been exhausted Reserves for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables

were $3.9 million $1.6 million and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively The remaining reserves for doubtful accounts at December 31 2008 of $10.0 million related to various

notes receivable and other non-trade receivables Additions deductions and balances for allowances for doubtful

accounts for the three years ended December 31 2010 are presented below

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Trade receivables

Balance at January $1571 2516 1079

Additions 3260 4400 2.015

Reductions 935 5345 578

Balance at December 31 3896 1571 2516

Other receivables

Balance at January 9971 2646

Additions 1719 7325

Reductions
______ 11690

Balance at December 31 9971

Total allowance for uncollectible accounts $3896 1571 $12487

Inventories

Crude oil refined product and other feedstock and blendstock inventories are carried at the lower of cost or

market Cost is determined principally under the last-in first-out LIFO valuation method to reflect better

matching of costs and revenues Costs include both direct and indirect expenditures incurred in bringing an item or

product to its existing condition and location but not unusual/non-recurring costs or research and development

costs Ending inventory costs in excess of market value are written down to net realizable market values and charged

to cost of products sold in the period recorded In subsequent periods new lower of cost or market determination is

made based upon current circumstances The Company determines market value inventory adjustments by

evaluating crude oil refined products and other inventories on an aggregate basis by gebgraphic region
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Retail refined product fuel inventory values are determined using the first-in first-out FIFO inventory

valuation method Retail nierchandise inventory value is determined under the retail inventory method Wholesale

finished product lubricants and related inventories are determined using the FIFO inventory valuation method

Finished product inventories originate from either the Companys refineries or from third-party purchases

Other Cu rrent Assets

Other current assets primarily consist of materials and chemicals inventories income taxes receivable and

prepaid futures margin deposits and
spare parts inventories

Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment are stated at cost The Company capitali7es interest on expenditures
for capital

projects in process greater than one year and greater than $5 million until such projects are ready for their intended

use

Depreciation is provided on the straight line method at rates based upon the estimated useful lives of the

various classes of depreciable assets The lives used in computing depreciation for such assets are as follows

Refinery facilities and related equipment 25 years

Pipelines terminals and transportation equipment 20 years

Wholesale facilities and related equipment 20 years

Retail facilities and related equipment 30 years

Other 10 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the

improvements estimated useful life

Expenditures for periodic maintenance and repair costs including major turnaround expenses are expensed

when incurred Such expenses are reported in direct operating expenses in the Companys Consolidated Statements

of Operations

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price cost over the fair value of the net assets acquired and is

carried at cost The Company tests goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level annually In addition

goodwill of that reporting unit is tested for impairment if any events or circumstances arise during quarter that

indicates goodwill of reporting unit might be inipaired The reporting unit or units used to evaluate and measure

goodwill for impairment are determined primarily from the manner in which the business is managed reporting

unit is an operating segment or component that is one level below an operating segment Within its refining

segment the Company has determined that it has three reporting units for
purposes

of assigning goodwill and

testing for impairment The Companys wholesale and retail segments are considered reporting units for purposes of

assigning goodwill and testing for impairment The Companys goodwill was assigned to two of the three refining

reporting units and to the Companys wholesale and retail reporting units The Company did not amortize goodwill

for financial reporting purposes

Intangible assets net consist of both amortizable intangible assets net of accumulated amortization and

intangible assets with indefinite lives These intangible assets are primarily comprised of licenses permits and

rights-of-way related to the Companys refining operations The Company amortizes its intangible assets such as

rights of-way licenses and permits over their estimated economic useful lives unless the economic useful lives of

the assets are indefinite If an intangible assets economic useful life is determined to be indefinite then that asset is

not amortized The Company considers factors such as the assets history its plans for that asset and the market for

products associated with the asset when the intangible asset is acquired The Company considers these same factors
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when reviewing the economic useful lives of its existing intangible assets as well The Company evaluates the

remaining useful lives of its intangible assets with indelinite lives at least annually If events or circumstances no

longer support an indefinite useful life the intangible asset is tested for impairment and prospectively amortized

over its remaining useful life

Both amortizable intangible assets and intangible assets with indefinite lives must be tested for recoverability

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of those assets may not be

recoverable Amortizable intangible assets are not recoverable if their carrying amount exceeds the sum of the

undiscounted cash flows expected to result from their use and eventual disposition If an amortizable intangible

asset is not recoverable an impairment loss is recognized iii an aniount by which its carrying amount exceeds its fair

value generally based on discounted estimated net cash flows

In order to test amortizable intangible assets for recoverability management must make estimates of projected

cash flows related to the asset being evaluated which include but are not limited to assumptions about the use or

disposition of the asset its estimated remaining life and future expenditures necessary to mainlain its existing

service potential In order to determine fair value management must make certain estimates and assumptions

including among other things an assessment of market conditions projected volumes margins cash flows

investment rates interest/equity yates
and growth rates that could significantly impact the fair value of the asset

being tested for impairment

The risk of other intangible asset impairment losses may increase to the extent the Companys results of

operations or cash flows decline Impairment losses may result in material noncash writedown of other

intangible assets Furthermore impairment losses could have material adverse effect on the Companys results of

operations and shareholders equity

Other Assets

Other assets consist primarily of loan origination fees and various other assets that are related to the general

operation of the Company and are stated at cost Amorti7ation is pros ided on straight line basis over the term of

the agreement which approxi mates the eft ective interest method

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews the carrying values of its long lived assets for possible impairment svhenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets to be held and used may not be recoverable

long-lived asset is not recoverable if its carrying amount exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to

result from its use and eventual disposition long lived asset is not recos erable an impairment loss is recognized

in an amount by which its carrying amount exceeds its fair value

In order to test long lived assets for recoverability management must make estimates of projected cash flows

related to the asset being evaluated which include but are not limited to assuniptions about the use or disposition of

the asset its estimated remaining life and future expenditures necessary to maintain its existing service potential In

order to determine fair value management must make certain estimates and assumptions including among other

things an assessment of market conditions projected volumes margins cash flows investment rates interest/

equity rates and growth rates that could significantly impact the fair value of the asset being tested for inipairment

The risk of long-lived asset impairment losses may increase to the extent the Companys results of operations

or cash flows decline Impairment losses may result in material noncash write down of longlived assets or

intangible assets Furthermore impairment losses could have material effect on the Companys results of

operations and shareholders equity

For assets to be disposed of the Company reports long lived assets at the lower of carrying amount or fair value

less cost to sell
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Revenue Recognition

Revenues for products sold are recorded upon delivery of the products to customers which is the point at which

title is transferred the customer has the assumed risk of loss and when payment has been received or collection is

reasonably assured Transportation shipping and handling costs incurred are included in cost of products sold

Excise and other taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are not included in

revenues

Cost Classifications

Refining cost of products sold includes cost of crude oil other feedstocks blendstocks the costs of purchased

finished products and transportation and distribution costs Wholesale cost of products sold includes the cost of fuel

and lubricants transportation and distribution costs and service parts and labor Retail cost of products sold

includes costs for motor fuels and for merchandise Motor fuel cost of products sold represents net cost for

purchased fuel Net cost of purchased fuel excludes transportation and motor fuel taxes Merchandise cost of

products sold includes merchandise purchases net of merchandise rebates and inventory shrinkage

Refining direct operating expenses include direct costs of labor maintenance materials and services chem
icals and catalysts natural gas utilitie and other direct operating expenses Wholesale direct operating expenses

include direct costs of labor transportation expense maintenance materials and services utilities and other direct

operating expenses Retail direct operating expenses include direct costs of labor maintenance materials and

services outside services bank charges rent expense utilities and other direct operating expenses Direct

operating expenses also include insurance expense and property taxes

Maintenance Turnaround Expense

Refinery process units require periodic maintenance and repairs that are commonly referred to as

turnarounds The required frequency of the maintenance varies by unit but generally is every two to six years

depending on the processing unit involved Turnaround costs are expensed as incurred

Stock-Based Compensation

The cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments granted under the

Western Refining Long-Term .Incentive Plan and 2010 Incentive Plan of Western Refining Inc is measured based

on the grant date fair value of the award Ihe lair value ol each share of restricted stock awarded was measured

based on the market price at closing as of the measurement date and is amortized on straight line basis over the

respective vesting periods

As of December 31 2010 there were 2438147 shares of restricted stock outstanding Although ownership of

the shares does not transfer to the recipients until the shares have vested recipients have voting and dividend rights

on these shares from the date of grant See Note 17 Stock-Based Compensation

Financial Instruments and Fair Value

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk primarily consist of

accounts receivable Credit risk is minimized as result of the credit quality of the Companys customer base No

customer accounted for more than 10% of the Companys consolidated net sales in 2010 The carrying amounts of

cash equivalents accounts receivable accounts payable accrued liabilities and amounts outstanding under the

Companys Revolving Credit Agreement approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities

The Company enters into crude oil forward contracts to facilitate the supply of crude oil to the refinery These

contracts qualify for the normal purchases and normal sales exception because the Conpany physically receives

and delivers the crude oil under the contracts and when the Company enters into these ccmtracts the quantities are
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expected to be used or sold over reasonable period of time in the normal course of business These transactions are

reflected in cost of products sold in the period iii which delivery of the crude oil takes place

In addition the Company maintains refined products pricing strategy which includes the use of refined

product futures swap contracts or options to minimize fluctuations in earnings caused by the volatility of refined

product prices The estimated fair values of refined product futures swap contracts and options are based on quoted

market prices and generally have maturities of three months or less These transactions historically have not

qualified for hedge accounting and accordingly these instruments are marked to market at each period end and are

included in other current assets or other current liabilities Gains and losses related to these instruments are included

in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within cost of products sold

The Company does not believe that there is significant credit risk associated with the Companys derivative

instruments which are transacted through counterparties meeting established collateral and credit criteria Gen

erally the Company does not require collateral from counterparties

See Note Fair Value Measurement Note 13 Long-Tenn Debt Note 15 Retirement Plans and Note 16

Crude Oil and Refined Product Risk Management for further fair value disclosures

Pension and Other Postretirement Obligations

Pension and other postretirement plan expenses and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are

affected by the market value of plan assets estimates of the expected return on plan assets and assumed discount

rates and demographic data

Pension and other postretirement plan expenses and liabilities are determined based on actuarial valuations

Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions including discount rates future compensation increases expected

return on plan assets health care cost trends and demographic data Changes in our actuarial assumptions are

primarily influenced by factors outside of our control and can have significant effect on our pension and other

postretirement liabilities and costs defined benefit postretirement plan sponsor must recognize in its

statement of financial position an asset for plans overfunded status or liability for the plans underfunded status

measure the plans assets and obligations that determine its funded status as of the end of the employers fiscal

year and recognize as component of other comprehensive income the changes in the funded status of the plan

that arise during the
year but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost See Note 15 Retire went

Plans

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company recognizes the fair value of liability for an asset retirement obligation ARO in the period in

which it is incurred if reasonable estimate of fair value can be made The associated asset retirement costs are

capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset The increase in the ARO due to the passage of time

is recorded as an operating expense accretion expense See Note 12 Asset Retirement Obligations

Environmental and Other Loss ontingencies

The Company records liabilities for loss contingencies including environmental remediation costs when such

losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated Environmental costs are expensed if they relate to an existing

condition caused by past operations with no future economic benefit Estimates of projected environmental costs

are made based upon internal and third party assessments of contamination available remediation technology and

environmental regulations Legal costs associated with environmental remediation are included as part of the

estimated liability Loss contingency accruals including those for environmental rernediation are subject to revision

as further information develops or circumstances change and such accruals can take into account the legal liability

of other parties Recoveries of environmental remediation costs from other parties are recorded as assets when the

Company deems their receipt probable See Note 21 Contingencies
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As result uf purchase accounting related to the Giant acquisition the majority of the Companys environ

mental obligations are recorded on discounted basis Where the available inforniation is sufficient to estimate the

amount of liability that estimate is used Where the information is only sufficient to establish range of probable

liability and no point within the range is niore likcly than another thc lower cnd of the range is used

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized to reflect temporary differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for financial reporting

purposes and income tax purposes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected

to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences arc expected to be recovered or settlcd

The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of change in tax rates is recognized in inconie in the period that

includes the enactment datc The Company classifies interest to be paid on an underpaynient of income taxes and

any related penalties as income tax expense

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingcnt

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of resenues and expenscs

during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates

Reclassifications

Cost of products sold for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 includes $2 1.7 million in economic

hedging losses and $1 1.4 million in economic hedging gains respectively previously rcported as gain loss from

derivative activities under other income expense in the 2009 and 2008 Consolidated Statements of Operations

These prior year reclassifications were made to conform to the current presentation Inclusion of these aniounts in

cost of products sold for the period provides better matching of costs to revenues than the Companys previous

presentation as all related derivative trading activity is for the purpose of reducing the Companys exposure to crude

oil other feedstock and refined product price risk Cost of products sold for the year ended December 31 2010

includes $9.4 million in economic hedging losses

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time new accounting pronounccments are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board

or other standard setting bodies that may have an impact on the Companys accounting and reporting The Company
believes that such recently issued accounting pronouncements and other authoritative guidance for which the

effective date is in the future either will not have an impact on its accounting or reporting or that such impact will not

be material to its financial position results of operations and cash flows when implemented

Segment Information

The Company is organized into three operating segments based on manufacturing and marketing criteria and

the nature of their products and services their production processes
and their types of customers These segments

are the refining group the wholesale group and the retail group See Note 22 Concentration of Risk for

discussion on significant customers description of each segment and its principal products follows

Refining Group The Companys refining group currently operates two refineries one in El Paso Texas the

El Paso refinery and one near Gallup New Mexico the Gallup refinery The refining group also operates

crude oil transportation and gathering pipeline system in New Mexico an asphalt plant inEl Paso three stand alone

refined product distribution terminals and four asphalt terminals The two refineries make various grades of
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gasoline diesel fuel and other products from crude oil other feedstocks and blending components The Company

purchases crude oil other feedstocks and blcnding components from various suppliers Thc Company also acquircs

refined products through exchange agreements and from various third-party suppliers The Company sells these

products through its own service stations its own wholesale group independent wholesalers and retailers

commercial accounts and sales and exchanges with major oil companies

The economic sIms down that began in 2008 and continued into 2010 has reduced demand for refined products

thereby putting significant pressure on refined product margins Beginning iii the second quarter of 2009 price

differentials between sour and heavy crude oil and light sweet crude oil narrowed significantly Narrow heavy sour

crude oil differentials negatively impacted the iesults of operations for the Yorktown refinety Due to these

economic conditions at December 31 2009 the Company performed an impairment analysis of its Yorktown long-

lived and intangible assets This analysis indicated that the December 31 2009 carrying value of the Yorktown long-

lived assets was recoverable Continuing losses due to narrow heavy light crude oil differentials poor coking

economics changes in Yorktown eruue oil purchase contract terms and potentially significant regulatory capital

spending requirements caused the Company to temporarily suspend its Yorktown refining operations during the

third quarter of 2010 Accordingly the Company revised its cash flow forecasts used in its analysis for long-lived

asset impairment at the Yorktown refinery to reflect these changes in operations at the Yorktown facility as of

June 30 2010 The revised cash flows uAed in the Companys June 30 2010 impairment analysis assumes that

refining operations will be temporarily suspended and that the Yorktown facility will be operated as refined

product terminal in the near term and that restart activities will begin no later than the middle of 2013 The

Companys revised forecast includes estimates and assumptions that require considerable judgment and are based

on the Companys historical production volumes and throughputs industry analysts forecasts of refining margins

and heavy light crude oil difTerendals financial forecasts and industry trends and conditions The cash flow model

assumes an $86.00 average cost per barrel of crude oil and that the heavy light crude oil differentials realized at

Yorktown will return to historical levels of between $6.50 and $7.00 per barrel within the next two to three years

Increases in the average cost per barrel of crude oil without corresponding increase in the heavy light crude oil

differential could negatively impact the forecasted cash flows The Companys forecast also assumes sustained

gross refining mm gins and throughputs similar to historical levels achieved at the Yorktown refinery in 2008 with an

average per barrel margin of $8.70 and an annual average throughput of 69800 barrels per day Based on the

analysis the Company determined that the undiscounted forecasted cash flows exceeded the carrying amount of its

Yorktown long-lived and intangible assets as of June 30 2010 No significant changes have occurred since the

Company performed its analysis that would require it to revise its June 30 2010 impairment analysis

Due to the uncertainty of various assumptions used the potential for future impairment remains The longer the

period of dormancy of the refining equipment the more problematic restart of reliable refining operations can

become The Company currently anticipates six to nine month pre-restart maintenance period will be required

before the Yorktown refinery can be restarted at an estimated cost of at least $50.0 million which includes the cost

of maintenance turnaround If it becomes apparent to management in the future that the Company will not restart

the refining operations or if its future cash flow forecasts change significantly an indication of potential

impairment could exist at that time Impairments related to Yorktown could have material impact on the

Companys results of operations The carrying value of the long lived assets related to refining operations that were

temporarily idled could be subject to impairment upon change in managements plans to restart refinery

operations within three years The carrying value of total long-lived and intangible assets at Yorktown as of

December 31 2tiltJ was $07b.5 million of which $412.4 million are related to Yorktown refining assets

In the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company announced its plans to indefinitely suspend the refining operations

at its Bloomfield refinery and maintain the site as product distribution terminal and crude oil storage facility

Accordingly the Company tested the Bloomfield refinery long lived assets and certain intangible assets for

recoverability and determined that $41.8 million and $11.0 million in related refinery fixed and intangible assets

respectively were inipaired During the fourth quarter of 2010 the Company recorded an additional impairment

charge of $9.1 million resulting from its fouith quarter 2010 analysis of specific assets that the Company had
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previously planned to relocate from the Bloomfield facility to the Gallup refinery Based on sustainable operational

iinpiovements at the Gallup iefinery during 2010 that were beyond what management had anticipated at the time of

the Bloomfield refinery idling the Company has determined that one of the three assets set aside for relocation to

Gallup was no longer required to attain the Companys desired levels of production Impairment losses of

$9.1 million and $52.8 million related to Bloomfield long-lived assets and certain intangible assets are included

under other impairment losses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2010

and 2009 respectively The Company currently plans to relocate and place the remaining Bloomfield refining assets

with net book value of $12.4 million at December 31 2010 into service at the Gallup refinery during the

maintenance turnaround scheduled for 2012

During the third quarter of 2010 the Company permanently closed its product distribution terminal in

Flagstaff Arizona The Company completed an impairment analysis of the Flagstaff terminal long-lived assets and

determined from this analysis that the assets were fully impaired Accordingly an impairment charge of $3.8 million

related to the Flagstaff long lived assets is included in other impairment losses in the Consolidated Statements of

Operations for the year ended December 31 2010

Wholesale Group The Companys wholesale group includes several lubricant and bulk petroleum distri

bution plants unmanned fleet fueling operations bulk lubricant terminal facility and fleet of refined product and

lubricant delivery trucks The wholesale group distributes commercial wholesale petroleum products primarily in

Arizona California Colorado Nevada New Mexico Texas and Utah The Companys wholesale group purchases

petroleum fuels and lubricants from suppliers and from the refining group

Retail Group The Companys retail group operates service stations that include convenience stores or

kiosks The service stations sell various grades of gasoline diesel fuel general merchandise and beverage and food

products to the general public The Companys wholesale group supplies the gasoline and diesel fuel that the retail

group sells The Company purchases general merchandise and beverage and food products from various suppliers

At December 31 2010 the Companys retail group operated 150 service stations including one non-fuel

convenience store in Arizona New Mexico and Colorado

Segment Accounting Principles Operating income for each segment consists of net revenues less cost of

products sold direct operating expenses selling general and administrative expenses maintenance turnaround

expense and depreciation and amortization Cost of products sold reflects current costs adjusted where appro

priate for LIFO and lower of cost or market LCM inventory adjustments Intersegment revenues are reported at

prices that approximate market

Operations that are not included in any of the three segments mentioned above are included in the category

Other These operations consist primarily of corporate staff operations and other items not considered to be related

to the normal business operations of the other segments Other items of income and expense not specifically related

to the other segments including income taxes are not allocated to operating segments

The total assets of each segment consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents net property plant and

equipment inventories net accounts receivable and other assets directly associated with the individual segments

operations Included in the total assets of the corporate operations are cash and cash equivalents various accounts

receivable net of reserve for doubtful accounts property plant and equipment and other long-term assets

The Company temporarily suspended its Yorktown refinery operations in September 2010 No impairment

charges resulted from the suspension of refinery operations Severance and other costs of $7.0 million were incurred

related to this temporary suspension of operations There were no significant terminated contract costs incurred All

costs have either been paid or accrued at December 31 2010 These severance and other costs have been included in

direct operating expenses and selling general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of

Operations for the year ended December 31 2010 The Company also ceased operating its refined product

distribution terminal located in Flagstaff Arizona The Companys impairment analysis resulted in impairment
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charges that have been included in other impairment losses in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of

Operations
for the year ended December 31 2010

During the second quarter of 2009 in performing its annual impairment analysis the Company determined

that the entire balance of its goodwill of $299.6 million that was reported under four of its six reporting units was

impaired Related impairment charges have been reported under goodwill impairment loss in the accompanying

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31 2009

Disclosures regarding the Companys reportable segments with reconciliations to consolidated totals for the

three years ended December 31 2010 are presented below

Year Ended December 31 2010

Refining Group3 Wholesale Group2 Retail Group Other Consolidated

In thousands

Net sales to external customers $5327570 $1942527 $694956 $7965053

Intersegment revenues1 2742549 528059 23413

Operating income loss before

impairment losses 132322 20726 16358 50933 118473

Other impairment losses 12832 206 13038

Operating income loss after

impairment losses 119490 20726 16358 $51139 105435

Other income expense net 148561

Loss before income taxes 43126

Depreciation and amortization 118661 5069 10245 4646 138621

Capital expenditures 71751 726 4940 678 78095

Total assets at December 31
2010 2253882 163929 155999 54336 2628146

Intersegment revenues of $3294.0 million have been eliminated in consolidation

Wholesale group fuel sales volumes included 113.0 million gallons sold to the Retail group that in prior years

were sold to the Retail group by the Refining group The
average

sales price for these gallons was $2.64 per

gallon

Included in refining assets are $12.4 million in long-lived assets currently located at the Bloomfield facility that

the Company intends to relocate and place into service at the Gallup refinery The Company currently plans to

place these assets in service during the scheduled 2012 maintenance turnaround Also included in refining

assets are $472.4 million in long lived and intangible assets that the Company has temporarily idled at the

Yorktown facility See related discussion above Unforeseen circumstances could alter the Companys planned

time lines or prevent full utilization of these assets in the future As such risk of partial or full impairment

exists
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Year Ended December 31 2009

Net sales to external customers

Intersegment revenues

Operating income loss before

impairment losses

Goodwill inipairment losses

Other impairment losses2

Operating loss after impairment

losses

Other income expense net

Loss before income taxes

Depreciation and amortixati on

Capital expenditures

Total assets at December 31 2009

143.240

230.712

52788

Wholesale Group Retail Group

In thousands

51 .440493 $610007

223.904 19931

Intersegment res enues of S2.095.0 million have been eliminated in consolidation

During the fourth quarter of 2009 as result of the indefinite suspension of refining operations at the

Bloomfield refiners the Company determined that $52.8 million of long lived assets were impaired

Year Ended tecemher 31 2008

Wholesale Group Retail Group Other Consolidated

In thousands

$793466 $10725581

44731

14122 $58004 199296

114.875

84421

8.479 3.868 113.611

7865 6.790 222288

Refining Grouf

$4756868

1.85 1207

10.530

1.230

Other Consolidated

$6807368

$55902 113.310

299552

52.788

15.442

27.6 10

140.260 30.700 12.168 55.902 239.030

152174

391.204

l25.57 5.616 9.820 5.008 145.981

110.172 864 3411 1.407 115.854

2.386.751 154.518 158.987 124.398 2.824.654

Net sales to external customers

Intersegment revenues

Operating income loss

Other income expense net

Income before income taxes

Depreciation and amOrti7ation

Capital expenditures

Total assets excluding goodwill at

December 2008

Goodwill

Total assets at December 2008

Refining Group

$7988657

2466945

221.083

95.713

201931

$2354105

230.7 12

S2.5 84.8 17

51.943.458

336.083

22.095

5551

5.702

142879

1.230

184.109

Intersegment revenues of $2.847.8 million have been eliminated in consolidation

$165950

27610

$193560

$1 14306

$114306

2777.240

299552

3076.792
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The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 are

presented below

Refining Group Wholesale Group Retail Group Total

In thousands

Balances at January 2008 248343 23599 27610 299552

Transfers between groups 17631 17631
_______ ________

Balances at Deceniber 31 2008 230.712 41230 27610 299552

Impairment losses 230712 41230 27610 299552

Balances at December 31 2009

The assets and results of operations of fleet of trucks previously reported under the refining group were

transferred to the wholesale group during the second quarter of 2008 In connection with this transfer $17.6 million

of goodwill was transferred from the refining group to the wholesale group The Company believes these operations

are more consistent with the functions of the wholesale group The results of operations for this fleet of trucks for all

years presented were reported in the results of the wholesale segment

Fair Value Measurement

On January 2008 the Company adopted the accounting and reporting provisions for its financial assets and

liabilities that require enhanced disclosures about assets and liabilities measured at fair value On January 2009

the Company adopted these provisions for its nonfinancial assets and liabilities The adoption of these standards did

not have material effect on the Companys financial condition or results of operations and had no impact on

methodologies used by the Company in measuring the fair value of its assets and liabilities

The Company utilizes the market approach to measure fair value for its financial assets and liabilities The

market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or

comparable assets or liabilities

The Company uses fair value hierarchy that is intended to increase consistency and comparability in fair

value measurements and related disclosures The fair value hierarchy is based on inputs to valuation techniques that

are used to measure fair value that are either observable or unobservable Observable inputs reflect market

participants assumptions for useJn pricing an asset or liability based on market data obtained from independent

sources while unobservable inputs reflect reporting entitys pricing based upon their own market assumptions The

fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels

Level Inputs are quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market quoted

prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active inputs

other than quoted prices that are observable and market corroborated inputs which are

derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data

Level Inputs are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or

value drivers are unobservable and cannot be corroborated by market data or other

entity specific inputs
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For cash trade receivables and accounts payable the fair value approximated carrying value at December 31

2010 The following table represents the Companys assets measured at fair value on recurring basis as of

December 31 2010 and the basis for that measurement

Carrying Value at

December 31 2010

Carrying Value at

December 31 2009

Fair Value Measurement at

December 31 2010 Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant

Markets for Other

Identical Assets Observable

or Liabilities Inputs

Level Level

In thousands

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

Level

Financial assets

Money market accounts

Financial liabilities

Derivative contracts 1510 1510

There have been no transfers between assets or liabilities whose fair value is determined through the use of

quoted prices in active markets Level and those determined through the use of significant other observable

inputs Level

During the third and fourth quarters of 2010 and the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company impaired certain

long-lived assets from its Bloomfield refinery and Flagstaff terminal The impainnent was determined as the excess

of the carrying values of the respective assets over fair value Fair value was determined using unobservable inputs

Level The carrying value of the assets impaired during 2010 prior to impairment was $14.2 million and

$1.2 million after impairment The carrying value of the assets impaired during 2009 was $73.9 million prior to

impairment and $22.1 million after impairment

Inventories

Inventories were as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Refined productsl $189994 $145813

Crude oil and other raw materials 152155 252860

Lubricants 11456 12738

Convenience store merchandise 12068 ________

Inventories $365673
________

Financial liabilities

Derivative contracts $1173

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant

Markets for Other Significant

Identical Assets Observable Unobservable

or Liabilities Inputs Inputs

Level Level Level

In thousands

$1173

Fair Value Measurement at

December 31 2009 Using

$5408 $5408

11342

$422753

92



WESTERN REFINING INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Inclttdec $1 11 million and $1 17 million nf inventnry valued using tile RhO valuatinn methnd at December 31

2010 and 2009 respectively

The Company values its crude oil other raw materials and asphalt inventories at the losser of cost or market

under the LIFO valuation method Other than refined products inventories held by the Companys retail and

wholesale groups refined products inventories are valued under the LIFO valuation method Lubricants and

convenience store merchandise are valued under the FIFO valuation method

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 refined products valued under the LIFO method and crude oil and other

raw materials totaled 5.7 million barrels and 6.3 million barrels respectively At December 31 2010 the excess of

the current cost of these crude oil refined product and other feedstock and blendstock inventories over LIFO cost

was $173.5 million At December 31 2009 the excess of the current cost of these crude oil refined product and

other feedstock and blendstock inventories over LIFO cost was $126.4 million

The net effect of the change in the LCM reseive to value the Companys Yorktown inventories to net realizable

market values on the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations and the net effect of inventory reductions

that resulted in the liquidation of applicable LIFO inventory levels are summarized in the table below

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except

per share amount

Change in LCM reserve

Operating incnme lnss $61II5 6l.tt5

Net income loss 33992 46388

Earnings loss per diluted share 0.43 0.68

Liquidation of LIFO layers

Operating income loss $16886 9.366 166.937

Net income loss 6675 5219 50.899

Earnings loss per diluted share 0.08 0.07 0.75

Average LIFO cost per barrel of the Companys refined products and crude oil and other raw materials

inventories as of December 31 2010 and 2009 is shown below

December 31

2010 2009

As erage Average

LlFO LIFO

Cost Per Cost Per

Barrels LIFO Cost Barrel Barrels I.IFO Cost Barrel

In thousands except cost per barrel

Refined products 2574 8180.031 $69.94 2.135 $135087 $63.27

Crude oil and other 3115 152.155 48.85 4194 221374 52.78

5689 $332186 58.39 6329 $356461 56.32
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Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses were as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Prepaid crude oil and other raw materials inventories $56257 $11407

Prepaid insurance and other 15678 17809

Prepaid expenses $71935 $29216

Other Current Assets

Other current assets were as follows

Materials and chemicals inventories

Derivative activities receivable

Income taxes receivable and prepaid

Spare parts inventories

Other

Other current assets

Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment were as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

$1733803

$1712295

91149

94485

185359

183681

20856

20537

94894

81337

2126061 2092335

437907

324435

$1688154

$1767900

Depreciation expense was $130.6 million $137.7 million and $105.3 million for the
years

ended Decem

ber 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Intangible Assets

The Company has policy to test goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if indications of

impairment exist Various indications of possible goodwill impairment prompted the Company to perform goodwill

impairment analyses at December 31 2008 and March 31 2009 Management determined that no such impairment

existed as of those dates The Company performed its 2009 annual impairment test as of June 30 2009 Performance

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

$38591 $31988

3173 3778

1456 42685

747 781

319 508

$44286 $79740

Refinery facilities and equipment

Pipelines terminals and transportation equipment

Retail and wholesale facilities and related equipment

Other

Construction in progress

Accumulated depreciation

Property plant and equipment net
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of the test is two-step process Step of the impairment test compares the fair values of the applicable reporting

units with their aggregate carrying values including goodwill If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds the

reporting units fair value the Company performs Step of the goodwill impairment test to determine the amount of

impairment loss Step of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of the affected reporting

units goodwill against the carrying value of that goodwill

The Companys impairment testing of its goodwill in Step is based on the estimated fair value of its reporting

units This estimated fair value is determined based on discounted expected future cash flows supported by various

other market based valuation methods including market capitalization earnings before interest expense tax

expense depreciation and amortization EBITDA multiples and refining complexity barrels The discounted

cash flow model is sensitive to changes in future cash flow forecasts and the discount rate used The market

capitalization model is sensitive to changes in the Companys traded stock price The EBITDA and complexity

barrel models are sensitive to changes in recent historical results of operations within the refining industry The

Company compares and contrasts the results of the various valuation models to determine if impairment exists at the

end of reporting period The estimates and assumptions used in determining fair value of each reporting unit

require considerable judgment and were based on historical experience financial forecasts and industry trends and

conditions

From the first to the second quarter of 2009 there was decline in margins within the refining industry as well

as downward change in industry analysts forecasts for the remainder of 2009 and 2010 This along with other

negative financial forecasts released by independent refiners during the latter part of the second quarter of 2009

contributed to declines in common stock trading prices within the independent refining sector including declines in

the Companys common stock trading price As result the Companys equity market capitalization fell below the

net book value of the Companys assets Through the filing date of the Companys second quarter of 2009

Form l0-Q and through the end of the fourth quarter of 2009 the trading price of the Companys stock had

experienced further reductions

The Company completed Step of the impairment test during the second quarter of 2009 and concluded that

impairment existed The Company finalized its Step analysis during the third quarter of 2009 maintaining that the

Companys prior quarters assumptions and forecasts had not significantly changed Consistent with the preliminary

Step analysis completed during the second quarter of 2009 the Company concluded that all of its goodwill was

impaired The resulting non-cash charge of $299.6 million was reported in the Companys second quarter of 2009

results of operations There werno such impairment charges in the years ended December 31 2010 or 2008

summary of intangible assets is presented in the table below

December 3i 20i0 December 3i 2009
Weighted

Gross Net Gross Net Average

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying Amortization

value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value Period Years

in thousands

Amortizable assets1

Licenses and permits $39151 $00698 $28453 $39151 7717 $31434 9.6

Customer relationships 6300 1.305 4995 6300 885 5415 11.9

Rights-of way 6525 1267 5258 4203 905 3298 6.5

Other 1360 670 690 1149 652 497 7.8

53336 13940 39396 50803 10159 40644

Unamortizable assets

Trademarks 4800 4800 5300 5300

Liquor licenses 15749 15749 15749 _______ 15749

Intangible assets net $73885 $0390 $59945 $71852 $l0l59 $61693
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During the fnurth quarter of 2009 as result of the indefinite suspension of refining operations at the

Bloomfield refinery the Company recorded an $11.0 million impairment of refining licenses and technology

permits

Intangible asset amortization
expense

for the three years
ended December 31 2010 was $4.0 million

$4.6 million and $4.8 million respectively based upon estimates of useful lives ranging from to 15
years

Estimated amortization expense for the next five fiscal
years

is as follows in thousands

2011 $4651

2012 4626

2013 4342

2014 4151

2015 3673

10 Other Assets Net of Amortization

Other assets net of amortization were as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Unamortized loan fees $38930 $35841

Othei 15414 15062

Other assets net of amortization $54344 $50903

11 Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities were as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Excise taxes 39086 34898

Payroll and related costs 28987 35293

Professional fees and other 21661 22480

Property taxes 11323 10536

Environmental reserve 10565 8024

Short-term pension obligation 7084 3015

Interest 3672 4323

Accrued liabilities $122378 $118569

12 Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company determines the estimated fair value of its AROs based on the estimated current cost escalated to

an inflation rate and discounted at credit adjusted risk free rate This liability is capitalized as part of the cost of the

related asset and amortized using the straight-line method The liability accretes until the Company settles the

liability The legally restricted assets that are set aside for
purposes

of settling AkO liabilities were $0.4 million as

of December 31 2010 and are included in other assets net in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets These

assets are set aside to fund costs associated with the closure of certain solid waste management facilities
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The Company has identified the following AROs

Landfills Pursuant to Virginia law the two solid waste management facilities at the Yorktown refinery

must satisfy closure and post-closure care and financial responsibility requirements

Crude Pipelines The Companys right-of-way agreements generally require that pipeline properties be

returned to their original condition when the agreements are no longer in effect This means that the pipeline

surface facilities must be dismantled and removed and certain site reclamation performed The Company does

not believe these right of-way agreements will require it to remove the underground pipe upon taking the

pipeline permanently out of service Regulatory requirements however may mandate that such out of service

underground pipe be purged at the time the pipelines are taken permanently out of service

Storage Tanks The Company has legal obligation under applicable law to remove or close in place

certain underground and aboveground storage tanks both on owned property and leased property once they

are taken out of service Under some lease arrangements the Company has also committed to restore the leased

property to its original condition

Othei The Company identified certain refinery piping and heaters as conditional ARO since it has the

legal obligation to properly remove or dispose of materials that contain asbestos that surround certain refinery

piping and heaters

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount of the Companys AROs

for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Liability beginning of period $5326 $4991

Liabilities incurred 33

Liabilities settled 229 10
Accretion expense 355 345

Liability end of period $5485 $5326

13 Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt was as follows

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

11.25% Senior Secured Notes due 2017 net of unamortized discount of

$24619 and $26943 respectively 300382 298057

Floating Rate Senior Secured Notes due 2014 net of unamortized

discount of $16822 and $20467 respectively 258177 254533

5.75% Senior Convertible Notes due 2014 net of conversion feature of

$46285 and $56183 respectively 169165 159267

Term Loan due 2014 341807 354807

Revolving Credit Agreement due 2015
_________ 50000

Total long-term debt 1069531 1116664

Current portion of long-term debt 63000 63000

Long-term debt net of current portion $1006531 $1053664
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Amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Agreement are included in the current portion of long-term

debt Estimated mandatory principal prepayments of $50.0 million related to the annual excess cash flows

requirements under the Term Loan Credit Agreement Term Loan are included in the current portion of

long-term debt at December 31 2010 These prepayments are scheduled to be made by the end of the first quarter of

2011

Interest expense and other financing costs were as follows

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Contractual interest

11.25% Senior Secured Notes 36563 20211

Floating Senior Secured Notes 29973 670
5.75% Senior Convertible Notes 12388 6848

Term loan 37611 66459 89757

Revolving Credit Agreement 5036 835 7414

121571 111023 97171

Amortization of original issuance discount

11.25% Senior Secured Notes 2324 861

Floating Senior Secured Notes 3645 1533

5.75% Senior Convertible Notes 9898 4697 ________

15867 7091 ________

Other interest expense 13359 9622 14966

Capitalized interest 4248 6415 9935

$146549 $121321 $102202

Senior Secured Notes In June 2009 the Company issued two tranches of Senior Secured Notes under an

indenture dated June 12 2009 The first tranche consisted of $325.0 million in aggregate principal amount of

11.25% Senior Secured Notes the Fixed Rate Notes The second tranche consisted of $275.0 million Senior

Secured Floating Rate Notes the Floating Rate Notes and together with the Fixed Rate Notes the Senior

Secured Notes The Fixed Rate Notes pay interest semi-annually in cash in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of

each year at rate of 11.25% per annum and will mature on June 15 2017 The Fixed Rate Notes may be redeemed

by the Company at the Companys option beginning on June 15 2013 through June 14 2014 at premium of

5.625% from June 15 2014 through June 14 2015 at premium of 2.813% and at par thereafter As of

December 31 2010 the fair value of the Fixed Rate Notes was $347.8 million

The Floating Rate Notes pay interest quarterly at per annum rate reset quarterly equal to three-month

LIBOR subject to LIBOR floor of 3.25% plus 7.50% and will mature on June 15 2014 The interest rate on the

Floating Rate Notes as of December 31 2010 was 10.75% The Floating Rate Notes may be redeemed by the

Company at the Companys option beginning on December 15 2011 through Ji.ne 14 2012 at premium of 5.0%

from June 15 2012 through June 14 2013 at premium of 3.0% and at premium of 1.0% thereafter The fair value

of the Floating Rate Notes was $291.5 million at December 31 2010 The Company is amortizing the original issue

discounts using the effective interest rate method over the life of the notes The combined proceeds from the

issuance and sale of the Senior Secured Notes were used to repay portion of the outstanding indebtedness under

the Term Loan Proceeds from the issuance of the Fixed Rate Notes were $290.7 million net of an original issue

discount of $27.8 million and underwriting discounts of $6.5 million Proceeds from the issuance of the Floating
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Rate Notes were $247.5 million net of original issue discount of $22.0 million and underwriting discounts of

$5.5 million The Company paid $2.1 million in other financing costs related to the Senior Secured Notes in 2009

The Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed by all of the Companys domestic restrictcd subsidiaries in existence

on the date the Senior Secured Notes were issued The Senior Secured Notcs will also be guaranteed by all future

wholly-owned domestic restricted subsidiaries and by any restricted subsidiary that guarantees any of the

Companys indebtedness under credit facilities that are secured by lien on the collateral securing the Senior

Secured Notes The Senior Secured Notes are also secured on first priority basis equally and ratably with the

Companys Term Loan and any future other pan passu secured obligation by the collateral securing the Term Loan

which consists of the Companys fixed assets and on second priority basis equally and ratably with the Term

Loan and
any

future other pan passu secured obligation by the collateral securing the Revolving Credit Agreement

which consists of the Companys cash and cash equivalents trade accounts receivables and inventory

The indenture governing the Senior Secured Notes contains covenants that limit the Companys and most of

its subsidiaries ability to among other things pay dividends or make other distributions in respect of their

capital stock or make other restricted payments ii make certain investments iii sell certain assets iv incur

additional debt or issue certain preferred shares create liens on certain assets to secure debt vi consolidate

merge sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of their assets vii restrict dividends or other payments

from restricted subsidiaries and viii enter into certain transactions with their affiliates These covenants are

subject to number of important limitations and exceptions The indenture governing the Senior Secured Notes also

provides for events of default which if any of them occur would permit or require the principal premium if any

and interest on all then outstanding Senior Secured Notes to be due and payable immediately

The Company may issue additional notes from time to time pursuant to the indenture governing the Senior

Secured Notes

Convertible Senior Notes The Company issued and sold $215.5 million in aggregate principal amount of its

5.75% Senior Convertible Notes due 2014 the Convertible Senior Notes during June and July 2009 The

Convertible Senior Notes are unsecured and pay interest semi annually in arrears at rate of 5.75% per year

beginning on December 15 2009 The Convertible Senior Notes will mature on June 15 2014 The initial

conversion rate for the Convertible Senior Notes is 92.5926 shares of common stock per $1000 principal amount of

Convertible Senior Notes equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $10.80 per share of common

stock In lieu of delivery of shares of common stock in satisfaction of the Companys obligation upon conversion of

the Convertible Senior Notes the Company may elect to settle conversions entirely in cash or by net share

settlement Proceeds from the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes of $209.0 million net of underwriting

discounts of $6.5 million were used to repay portion of outstanding indebtedness under the Term Loan Issuers of

convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion including partial cash settlement are

required to separately account for the liability and equity conversion feature components of the instruments in

manner reflective of the issuers nonconvertible debt borrowing rate The borrowing rate used by the Company to

determine the liability and equity components of the Convertible Senior Notes was 13.75% The Company paid

$0.5 million in other financing costs related to the Convertible Senior Notes in 2009 The Company valued the

conversion feature at June 30 2009 at $60.9 million and recorded additional paid in capital of $36.3 million net of

deferred income taxes of $22.6 million and transaction costs of $2.0 million related to the equity portion of this

convertible debt The discount on the Convertible Senior Notes is amortized using the effective interest method

through maturity on June 15 2014 As of December 31 2010 the fair value of the Convertible Senior Notes was

$275.5 million and the if-converted value is less than its principal amount

Term Loan Credit Agreement The Term Loan has maturity date of May 30 2014 The Term Loan is

secured on first priority basis together with the Senior Secured Notes and any future other pan passu secured

obligations by the Companys fixed assets and on second priority basis togethef with the Senior Secured Notes

and any future other pan passu secured obligations by the collateral securing the Revolvng Credit Agreement

which consists of the Companys cash and cash equivalents trade accounts receivable and inventory The Term
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Loan provides for principal payments on quarterly basis of $13.0 million annually until March 31 2014 with the

remaining balance due on the maturity date The Company made principal payments on the Term Loan of

$13.0 million in 2010 $925.7 million in 2009 primarily from the net proceeds of the debt and common stock

offerings in June and July 2009 and $13.0 million during 2008 Since 2009 interest rates under the Term Loan are

equal to LIBOR subject to floor of 3.25% plus 7.50% The average interest rates under the Term Loan for 2010

and 2009 were 10.75% and 8.67% respectively As of December 31 2010 the interest rate under the Term Loan

was 10.75% The Company amended the Term Loan during the second and fourth quarters of 2009 in connection

with the new debt offerings and to modify certain financial covenants To effect these amendments the Company

paid $3.4 million in amendment fees As result of the partial paydown of the Term Loan in June 2009 the

Company expensed $9.0 million during the second quarter of 2009 to write off portion of the unamortized loan

fees related to the Term Loan At December 31 2010 the fair value of the Term Loan was $346.9 million

Revolving Credit Agreement On December 23 2010 the Company completed an amendment to the

Revolving Credit Agreement resulting in among other items the extension of the maturity of portion of the

commitment thereunder to January 2015 The amended Revolving Credit Agreement included commitments of

$800.0 million composed of $145.0 million tranche that matures on May 31 2012 and $655.0 million tranche

that matures on January 2015 The Revolving Credit Agreement is secured on first priority basis by certain cash

and cash equivalents trade accounts receivable and inventory and on second priority basis by the collateral

securing the Term Loan the Senior Secured Notes and any future other pan passu secured obligations which

consist of the Companys fixed assets The Revolving Credit Agreement can be used to finance working capital and

capital expenditures refinance existing indebtedness of the Company and its subsidiaries and for other general

corporate purposes and also provides for letters of credit and swing line loans The Revolving Credit Agreement is

an asset based facility with the borrowing capacity primarily dependent on the Companys eligible receivables and

inventory Interest rates for the $145.0 million tranche vary based on the Companys consolidated leverage ratio and

range
from 3.75% to 4.50% over LIBOR or 2.75% to 3.50% over the Base Rate as defined in the Revolving Credit

Agreement Interest rates for the $655.0 million tranche vary based on the Companys excess availability of the

Revolving Credit Agreement and range from 3.00% to 3.75% over LIBOR or 2.00% to 2.75% over the Base Rate

As of December 31 2010 the gross availability under the Revolving Credit Agreement was $624.0 million As of

December 31 2010 the Company had net availability under the Revolving Credit Agreement of $335.6 million due

to $288.4 million in letters of credit outstanding The average
interest rates under the Revolving Credit Agreement

for 2010 and 2009 were 6.15% and 5.20% respectively At December 31 2010 there were no outstanding

hnrrnwings under the Revnlving Credit Agreement Amnng nther amendments the 2011 amendment replaced

financial maintenance covenants with fixed charge coverage ratio covenant that applies only when unused

availability falls below specified level The Company incurred $12.7 million in fees related to the Revolving

Credit Agreement amendment in 2010 The Company also amended the Revolving Credit Agreement during the

second and fourth quarters of 2009 in connection with the new debt offerings and to modify certain of the financial

covenants The Conipany incurred $5.6 million in fees related to these amendments

As result of the 2009 amendment the Companys Revolving Credit Agreement required structure

mandating that all receipts be swept daily to reduce borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Agreement

This arrangement combined with the existence of material adverse change clause in the Revolving Credit

Agreement require outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement to be classified as current

liability As result of the 2010 amendment going forward the cash dominion requirement will only be in effect if

the excess availability under the Revolving Credit Agreement falls below certain thresholds ranging from 15.0% to

17.5% of the Borrowing Base

Gnarantos the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Agreement The Term Loan and the Revolving Credit

Agreement together the Agreements are guaranteed on joint and several basis subsidiaries of Western

Refining Inc No amounts have been recorded for these guarantees
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Certain Covenants The Agreements contain certain covenants including limitations on debt investments

and dividends The Term Loan contains financial covenants relating to minimum interest coverage and maximum

leverage and for certain periods in 2010 through September 30 2010 minimum EBITDA The Company was in

compliance with all applicable covenants set forth in the Term Loan at December 31 2010 The following table sets

forth the financial covenant requirements for minimum consolidated interest coverage as defined therein and

maximum consolidated leverage as defined therein under the Term Loan by quarter

Minimum Maximum

Consolidated Consolidated

Interest Coverage Leverage
Ratio Ratio

December 31 2010 and March 31 2011 1.50 to 1.00 5.25 to 1.00

June 30 2011 and thereafter 2.00 to 1.00 4.50 to 1.00

Letters of Credit

The Revolving Credit Agreement provides for the issuance of letters of credit The Company issues and

cancels letters of credit on periodic basis depending upon its needs At December 31 2010 there were

$288.4 million of irrevocable letters of credit outstanding primarily issued to crude oil suppliers under the

Revolving Credit Agreement

14 Income Taxes

The following is an analysis of the Companys consolidated income tax expense benefit for the three years

ended December 31 2010

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Current

Federal 7554 20387 4744

State 1036 2395 1365

Total current 8590 22782 6109

Deferred

Federal 15297 53704 16627

State 2190 9661 2512

Total deferred 17487 63365 14115

Provision for income taxes $26077 40583 $20224

The Company received income tax refunds of $49.8 million $7.2 million and $51.1 million for the three years

ended December 31 2010 The following is reconciliation of total income tax expense benefit to income taxes
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computed by applying the 35% statutory federal income tax rate to income loss before income tax expense

benefit for the three years ended December 31 2010

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Tax computed at the federal statutory rate $05094 $036921 $29547

State income taxes net of federal tax benefit 5588 6261 476
Goodwill impairment loss 104843

Federal tax credit for production of ultra low sulfur diesel 4747 4601 6787

Other net 648 2357 2060

Total income tax expense benefit $26077 40583 $20224

The effective tax rate for 2010 was 60.5% as compared to the federal statutory rate of 35% The effective tax

rate was higher primarily because of the federal income tax credit available to small business refiners that produce

ultra low sulfur diesel fuel

The effective tax rate for 2009 was 44.3% excluding the effect of the non-deductible goodwill impairment of

$299.6 million as compared to the federal statutory rate of 35% The effective tax rate was higher primarily due to

the federal income tax credit available to small business refiners related to the production of ultra low sulfur diesel

fuel

The effective tax rate for 200X was 2451% as compared to the federal
statutory rate of 35% The effective tax

rate was lower primarily due to the federal income tax credit available to small business refiners related to the

production of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel

The Company adopted the provisions related to accounting for uncertainties in income taxes These provisions

clarify the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements As result of the Giant

acquisition on May 31 2007 the Company recorded liability of $5.2 million for unrecognized tax benefits of

which $0.5 million would affect the Companys effective tax rate if recognized

The Company is currently under examination by the Internal Revenue Service IRS for tax years ended

December 31 2007 and December 31 2008 The Company concluded the 2006 and short period 2007 exam for

legacy Giant with no material changes The Company will continue to work with the IRS to expedite the conclusion

of the 2007 and 2008 examinations The Company does not believe the results of these examinations will have

material adverse effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations upon conclusion While the

Company does not believe the results of these examinations will have material adverse effect on the Companys
financial position or results of operations the timing and results of any final determination remain uncertain

The Company had no unrecognized tax benefits for 2010 and recognized no interest or penalties for 2010
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The following is reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits for the three years ended December 31 2010

December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year 5898 5165

Increases decreases related to current year tax positions

Increases decreases related to prior year tax positions 3930

Decreases related to settlements with taxing authorities 5898
Decreases resulting from the expiration of the statute of

limitations 3197

Unrecngni7ed tax henefits at end of year 5X9X

Based on the results of the examination of the Companys 2005 federal income tax returnthe Companys
uncertain tax positions were settled favorably Accordingly $6.3 million in estimated liabilities related to the

Companys uncertain tax positions were reversed during the third quarter of 2009 including $0.5 million that

affected the Companys effective tax rate and $0.4 million for interest and penalties As of December 31 2009 the

Company had no unrecognized tax benefits

The Company classifies interest to be paid on an underpayment of income taxes and any related penalties as

income tax expense The Company recognized no interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions for the three

years ended December 31 2010 The tax years 2006-2010 remain open to examination by the major tax

jurisdictions to which the Company is subject U.S Federal Texas Virginia Maryland New Mexico Arizona

and California
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The tax effects of significant temporary differences representing deferred income tax assets and liabilities were

as follows

As of December 31

2010 2009

Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net

In tbousands except cost per barrel

Current deferred taxes

Inventories 58934 58934 50625 50625

Stock-based compensation 1576 1576 1176 1176

Other current net 1571 1571 3798 3798

Current deferred taxes 58.934 58.929 4.974 50.625 45.651

Noncurrent deferred taxes

Property plant and

equipment 444218 444218 438939 438939

Intangible assets 9829 9829 10382 10382

Pension obligations 4536 4536

Postretirement obligations 1721 1721 3405 3405

Debt discount 17375 17375 20883 20883

Environmental and retirement

obligations 3.32 3.32 8.324 8.324

Other noncurrent net 5766 5766 5023 5023

Net operating loss and tax

credit carryforwards 99322 99322 57568
_________

57568

Noncurrent deferred taxes 104364 465656 361292 73833 465181 391348

Net deferred taxes $104369 $524590 $420221 $78807 $515806 $436999
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At December31 2010 the Company had the following credits and net operating loss NOL carryforwards

Type of Credit Gross Amount Tax Effected Amount Expiration

tIn thousands

Alternative minimum tax credit $35469 No expiration

General business credit carryforwards 21521 2028 2030

Total credits
_________

56990

Federal NOL carryforwards 52067 18.223 2029 2030

State NOL carryforwards

Arizona and New Mexico 7926 539 2013

Arizona and New Mexico 45XXX 2169 2014

Arizona and New Mexico 28820 1389 2015

Virginia and Maryland 14401 562 2023

Virginia and Maryland 636 25 2024

Virginia and Maryland 34729 1.386 2026

Virginia and Maryland 59277 2468 2027

Virginia and Maryland 91.878 3752 2028

Virginia and Maryland 154.526 6.401 2029

Virginia and Maryland 130559 5418 2030

Total state NOL carryforwards 568640 24109

Total credits and NOL carryforwards $620707 $99322

Deferred tax assets should be reduced by valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or

all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized The realization of deferred tax assets can be affected by among

other things future company performance and market conditions In making the determination of whether or not

valuation allowance was required the Company considered all available positive and negative evidence and made

certain assumptions The Company performed an analysis of the reversal of deferred tax liabilities and then

considered the overall business environment historical earnings and the outlook for future years The Company

performed this analysis as of December 31 2010 and determined that there was sufficient positive evidence to

conclude that it is more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will be realized The Company assesses the need

for deferred tax asset valuation allowance on quarterly basis

15 Retirement Plaus

The Company fully recognizes the obligations associated with its single-employer defined benefit pension

retiree healthcare and other postretirement plans in its financial statements

Pensions

In connection with the negotiation of collective bargaining agreement covering employees of the El Paso

refinery during the second quarter of 2009 the Company terminated the define benefit plan covering certain

El Paso refinery employees Regulatory approval of this termination was received during the first quarter of 2010

No changes to the Companys proposed plan of termination were required Through December 2010 the Company
had distributed $21.7 million $4.2 million in 2010 and $17.5 million in 2009 from plan assets to plan participants

as result of the termination agreement Distributions made were in accordance ith the termination agreement

The Company transferred $2.5 million from plan assets to third-party annuity The wmination resulted in

reductions to the related pension obligation of $5.6 million and $24.3 million and to other comprehensive loss
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before income taxes of $0.6 million and $25.1 million in the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

respectively

Through December 31 2010 the Company had distributed $12.8 million from plan assets to plan participants

as result of the temporary idling of Yorktown retining operations and resultant termination of several participants

of the Yorktown cash balance plan The termination resulted in increases to the related pension obligation of

$1.4 million and to other comprehensive loss before income taxes of $1 .1 million

The following tables set forth significant information about the Companys pension plans for certain El Paso

and Yorktown refinery employees The reconciliation of the benefit obligation plan assets funded status and

significant assumptions are based upon an annual measurement date of December 31

As of December 31

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year

Company contribution

Actual return on plan assets

Benefits paid

Termination benefits paid

Fair value nf plan assets at end of year

Current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities

Unfunded status recognized in the consolidated balance sheets

Accumulated benefit obligation

2010 2009

In thousands

28186 66122

1802 2476

1221 2415

27 653

19460 17463

4435 17982

553 6729
181

1042 _______

14743 28186

$15973 24820

10640 4786

533 4483

27 653

19460 17463

7f59 15973

7084 3015

9198

7084 $02213

$14743

26666

Benefit obligation at beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Benefits paid

Termination benefits paid

Actuarial gain loss

Plan amendments

Curtailment

Settlement

Benefit obligation at end of year
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Year Ended December 31

2011 2009 2005

In thousands

Net periodic benefit cost includes

Service cost $1802 2476 4030

Interest cost 1221 2415 3283

Expected return on assets 1436 2609 1984

Recognized net actuarial loss 156 814

Recognized settlement income expense 4407 1793

Recognized curtailment gain loss 1006 1508

Net periodic benefit cost 4993 2723 6143

Pre-tax unrecognized net loss included in accumulated other

comprehensive loss at beginning of year 3123 30150 $12544

Net actuarial gain loss 4296 26871 18420

Recognition of gain loss due to settlement 3773
Amortization of net actuarial gain loss 156 814

Pre-tax unrecognized net loss included in accumulated other

comprehensive loss at end of year 3641 3123 $30150

Year Ended December 31

20101 2009 2008

Weighted average assumptions used to determine

benefit obligations at December 31

Discount rate 4.63% 5.37% 5.78%

Rate of compensation increase 3.50 3.50 3.50

Weighted average assumptions used to determine

net periodic benefit cost

Discount rate 5.25 5.80 6.30

Expected long-term return on assets2 8.50 8.50 7.15

Rate of compensation increase 3.50 3.50 3.39

Weighted average assumptions used to determine the expected benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost

in 2010 are for the Yorktown pension plan only

All benefit plan assets for the Yorktown pension plan have been moved into cash equivalents and the

Companys expected long-term rate of retum on assets has been lowered to 1.9%

The following benefit payments in thousands which reflect future service are expected to be paid in the

years
indicated

2011 $7833

2012 707

2013 793

2014 813

2015 758

2016-2020 3192
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Postretirement Obligations

The following tables set forth significant information about the Companys retiree medical plans for certain

El Paso and Yorktown employees Unlike the pension plans the Company is not required to fund the retiree medical

plans on an annual basis Based on an annual measurement date of December 31 and discount rates of 5.57% and

5.92% at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively to determine the benefit obligation the components of the

postretirement obligation were

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 8486 8396

Service cost 490 511

Interest cost 493 442

Benefits paid 81 42
Actuarial gain loss 720 821
Curtailment gain 6038

Benefit obligation at end of year 4070 8486

Unfunded status $4070 $8486

Current liabilities 161 78
Noncurrent liabilities 3909 8.408

Unfunded status recognized in the consolidated balance sheets $4070 $8486

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Net periodic benefit cost includes

Service cost $490 $511 $416

Interest cost 493 442 456

Amortization of net actuarial gain loss 20 11

Net periodic benefit cost $963 942 871

Pre-tax unrecognized net gain included in accumulated other

comprehensive gain at beginning of year $859 49 $302

Net actuarial gain loss 24 821 252

Recognition of curtailment gain 453

Amortization of net actuarial gain loss 20 11

Pre-tax unrecognized net gain included in accumulated other

comprehensive gain at end of year $4l0 $859 49
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The weighted average discount rates used to determine net periodic benefit costs were 5.92% 5.75% and

6.55% for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The following benefit payments in thousands are expected to be

paid in the year indicated

2011 166

2012 171

2013 189

2014 209

2015 228

2016-2020 1324

The health care cost trend rate for the plan covering El Paso employees for 2010 and future years is capped at

4.0% The health care cost trend rate for the plan covering Yorktown employees for 2010 is 8.0% trending to 4.5% in

2015 1%-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate for both plans will have the following effect

1%-points

Increase1 Decrease

In thousands

Effect on total service cost and interest cost 55 72
Effect on accumulated benefit obligation 121 399

There is no impact for 1% point increase in the El Paso plan because the plan covers up to 4% increase pci

year Any increase in health care costs in excess of 4% is absorbed by the participant

The following tables present the fair values of the assets of our pension plans as of December 31 2010 and

2009 by level of the fair value hierarchy Assets categorized in Level of the hierarchy are measured at fair value

using market approach based on quotations from national securities exchanges Assets categorized in Level of

the hierarchy are measured at net asset value as practical expedient for fair value As noted above our other

postretirement benefit plans are funded on pay-as-you-go basis and have no assets

Fair Value Measurement Using

Significant

Other Significant

Total as of Quoted Prices in Observable Unobservable

December 31 Active Markets Inputs Inputs

2010 Level Level Level

In thousands

Cash and cash equivalents $7657 $7657

Significant

Other Significant

Total as of Quoted Prices in Observable Unobservable

December 31 Active Markets Inputs Inputs

2009 Level Level Level

tIn thousands

Mutual funds

Growth equity 3967 3967

Bonds 10564 10564

Cash and cash equivalents 1435 1435

$15966 $1435 $14531
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Defined Contribution Plans

The Company sponsors 40 1k defined contribution plan that resulted from the merger of legacy Western and

Giant 401k defined contribution plans effective January 2009 Under the merged plan participants may
contribute percentage of their eligible compensation to the plan and invest in various investment options The

Company will match participant contributions to the merged plan subject to certain limitations and per participant

maximum contribution For each 1% of eligible compensation contributed by the participant throughout the year

ended December 31 2009 the Company matched 2% up to maximum of 8% of eligible compensation provided

the participant had minimum of one year of service with the Company Beginning January 2010 for each 1% of

eligible compensation contributed by the participant the Company matched up to maximum of 4% of eligible

compensation provided the participant had minimum of one year of service with the Company The Company

expensed $6.2 million in connection with this plan for the year ended December 31 2010 For the predecessor plans

the Company expensed $8.9 million and $9.1 million for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively

Prior to the merger of the plans the legacy Western plan provided for match of 8% of the participants eligible

compensation provided the Western participant had contributed minimum of 2% of their eligible compensation

The legacy Giant plan provided for match of the employees contributions up to 8% of eligible compensation at

to ratio of the percentage of eligible compensation contributed by the Giant employee Both plans had one year

minimum service requirements

16 Crude Oil and Refined Product Risk Management

The Company enters into crude oil forward contracts to facilitate the supply of crude oil to the refineries

During 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company entered into forward fixed price contracts to physically receive and

deliver crude oil which qualify as normal purchases and normal sales and are exempt from derivative reporting

requirements

The Company also uses crude oil and refined products futures swap contracts or options to mitigate the

change in value for portion of its volumes subject to market prices Under refined products swap contract the

Company agrees to buy or sell an amount equal to fixed price times set number of barrels and to buy or sell in

return an amount equal to specified variable price times the same amount of barrels The physical volumes are not

exchanged and these contract are net settled with cash The Company elected not to pursue hedge accounting

treatment for these instruments for financial accounting purposes the contract fair value is reflected on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets and the related net gain or loss is recorded within cost of products sold in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets Level are

considered to determine the fair values for the
purpose

of marking to market the derivative instruments at each

period end

At December 31 2010 the Company had open commodity derivative instruments consisting of crude oil

futures and finished products price swaps on 1023000 barrels primarily to protect the value of certain crude oil

finished product and blendstock inventories for the first quarter of 2011 The Company recognized $9.4 million

within cost of products sold of net realized and unrealized losses from derivative activities during 2010 The fair

value of the outstanding contracts at December 31 2010 was net unrealized loss of $1.2 million of which

$1.0 million were unrealized gains and $2.2 million were unrealized losses The company recognized $21.7 million

within cost of products sold of net realized and unrealized losses from derivative activities during 2009 The fair

value of the outstanding contracts at December 31 2009 was net unrealized loss of $1.5 million of which

$0.8 million were unrealized gains and $2.3 million were unrealized losses The Company did not record an

unrealized gain or loss on open positions at December 31 2008 since the fair valtie equaled the trade price on these

swaps During 2008 the Company recognized an $11.4 million net gain from
derivptive contracts in cost of

products sold
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17 Stock-Based Compensation

In January 2006 1772041 shares of restricted stock having an aggregate fair value of $30.1 million at the

measurement date were granted to employees of Western Refining LP that participated in deferred compensation

plan prior to the initial public offering The vesting of such restricted shares occurred over two year period and

ended in the first quarter of 2008 Additional shares of restricted stock have been granted to other employees and

outside directors of the Company These shares generally vest ratably over three-year period Although ownership

of the shares does not transfer to the recipients until the shares have vested recipients have voting and nonforfeitable

dividend rights on these shares from the date of grant The fair value of each share of restricted stock awarded was

measured based on the market price as of the measurement date and will be amortized on straight-line basis over

the respective vesting periods

In January 2009 the Company adopted the provisions related to specific accounting requirements for realized

income tax benefits from dividends realized income tax benefit from dividends or dividend equivalents that are

paid to employees holding equity classified nonvested shares equity-classified nonvested share units or equity-

classified outstanding share options and charged to retained earnings should be recognized as an increase to

additional paid-in capital The amount recognized in additional paid-in capital for the realized income tax benefit

from dividends on those awards should be included in the pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb tax

deficiencies on share-based payment awards The adoption of these provisions did not have an impact on the

Companys financial position or results of operations during 2010 and 2009

The Company recorded stock compensation expense of $5.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 of

which $0.6 million was included in direct operating expenses and $5.3 million in selling general and admin

istrative expenses The tax deficiency related to the shares that vested during the year ended December 312010 was

$1.1 million using statutory blended rate of 37.54% The aggregate fair value at the grant date of the shares that

vested during the year ended December 31 2010 was $4.8 million The related aggregate intrinsic value of these

shares was $1.9 million at the vesting date

The Company recorded stock compensation expense of $4.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 of

which $1.1 million was included in direct operating expenses and $3.6 million in selling general and admin

istrative expenses The tax deficiency related to the shares that vested during the year ended December 31 2009

was $1.1 million using statutory blended rate of 37.17% The aggregate fair value at the grant date of the shares

that vested during the year ended December 31 2009 was $5.1 million The related aggregate intrinsic value of

these shares was $3.0 million at the vesting date

The Company recorded stock compensation expense of $7.7 million for the year ended December 31 2008 of

which $1.3 million was included in direct operating expenses and $6.4 million in selling general and admin

istrative expenses The tax deficiency related to the shares that vested during the year ended December 31 2008

was $1.7 million using statutory blended rate of 37.17% The aggregate fair value at the grant date of the shares

that vested during the year ended December 31 2008 was $6.7 million The related aggregate intrinsic value of

these shares was $4.7 million at the vesting date

As of December 31 2010 there were 2438147 shares of restricted stock outstanding with an aggregate
fair

value at grant date of $16.4 million and an aggregate intrinsic value of $25.8 million The compensation cost of

nonvested awards not recognized as of December 31 2010 was $12.2 million which will be recognized over
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weighted average period of approximately 2.25 years
The following table summarizes the Companys restricted

stock activity for the three years ended December 31 2010

Weighted Average

Grant Date

Number of Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at December 31 2007 506562 $23.36

Awards granted 410826 13.56

Awards vested 321862 20.74

Awards forfeited 1266 32.36

Nonvested at December 31 2008 594260 18.55

Awards granted 509210 10.39

Awards vested 261723 19.54

Awards forfeited 47068 23.12

Nonvested at December 31 2009 794679 12.72

Awards granted 2072797 5.81

Awards vested 336293 14.35

Awards forfeited 93036 10.00

Nonvested at December 31 2010 2438147 6.73

In January 2006 the Companys Board of Directors and shareholders authorized the issuance of up to

5000000 shares of common stock under the Western Refining 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2006 LTIP At

December 31 2010 there were 77984 shares of common stock reserved for future grants under the 2006 LTIP On

April 72010 the Companys Board of Directors authorized the issuance of up to 3850000 shares of common stock

under the 2010 Incentive Plan of Western Refining 2010 Incentive Plan The 2010 Incentive Plan was approved

by the Companys shareholders on May 25 2010 At December 31 2010 there were 3751859 shares of common

stock reserved for future grants under the 2010 Incentive Plan

18 Stockholders Equity

On January 24 2006 the Company completed an initial public offering of 18750000 shares of its common

stock at an aggregate offering price of $318.8 million The Company received approximately $297.2 million in net

proceeds from the initial public offering

On June 10 2009 the Company issued an additional 20000000 shares of its common stock par
value $0.01

per share at an aggregate offering price of $180.0 million The net proceeds of this issuance were $170.4 million net

of underwriting discounts of $9.0 million and $0.6 million in issuance costs related to this offering In addition

during June and July 2009 the Company issued and sold $215.5 million in Convertible Senior Notes and recorded

additional paid-in capital of $36.3 million net of deferred income taxes of $22.6 million and transaction costs of

$2.0 million related tu the equity portiun of this convertible debt The proceeds of these issuances were used to

repay portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the Companys Term .Loan

The Company repurchased 51103 and 80668 shares of its common stock to cover payroll withholding taxes

for certain employees pursuant to the vesting of restricted shares awarded under the Western Refining Long-Term

Incentive Plan in 2009 and 2008 respectively The aggregate cost paid for these shares was $0.6 million and

$1.2 million for 2009 and 2008 respectively The Company recorded these repurchases as treasury stock There

were no such repurchases for the year ended December 31 2010
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19 Earnings Per Share

On January 2009 the Company adopted the provisions related to the accounting treatment of certain

participating securities for the purpose of determining earnings per share These provisions address unvested share-

based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents and states that they are

participating securities and should be included in the computation of earnings per
share pursuant to the two-class

method As discussed in Note 17 Stock-Based Compensation the Company has granted shares of restricted stock to

certain employees and outside directors of the Company Although ownership of these shares does not transfer to the

recipients until the shares have vested recipients have voting and nonforfeitable dividend rights on these shares

from the date of grant As result of the adoption of the provisions related to participating securities the Company

applied the two-class method to determine its earnings per
share for all periods presented The Companys

Convertible Senior Notes although potentially dilutive were not included in the Companys computation of diluted

luss per share fur the year ended December 31 2010

The computation of basic and diluted earnings per
share under the two-class method is presented below

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per share data

Allocation of earnings losses

Net income loss $07049 $350621 $64197

Distributed earnings 8182
Income allocated to participating securities 467

Undistributed income loss available to common
shareholders $07049 $350621 $55548

Weighted average number of commons shares outstanding

Basic and dilutive number of common shares outstanding 88204 79163 67715

Basic earnings loss per common share

Distributed earnings per share 0.12

Undistributed earnings loss per share 0.19 4.43 0.82

Earnings loss per common share 0.19 4.43 0.94

Diluted earnings loss per common share

Distributed earnings per share 0.12

Undistributed earnings loss per share 0.19 4.43 0.82

Diluted earnings loss per common share 0.19 4.43 0.94

The following table reflects potentially dilutive securities that were excluded from the diluted earnings loss

per common share calculation as the effect of including such shares would have been antidilutive

Year Ended

December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Common equivalent shares from Convertible Senior Notes 19949 19949

Restricted stock 179 20
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20 Related Party Transactions

Effective May 2009 the non-exclusive aircraft lease with an entity controlled by the Companys majority

stocltholder was terminated by the Company and as result it no longer operates private aircraft The hourly rental

payment was $1775 per flight hour and the Company was responsible for all operating and maintenance costs of the

aircraft Personal use of the aircraft by certain officers of the Company was reimbursed to the Company at the

highest rate allowed by the Federal Aviation Administration for non-charter operator In addition the Company

had policy requiring that its officers deposit in advance of any personal use of the aircraft an amount equal to three

months of anticipated expenses for the use of the aircraft The following table summarizes the total costs incurred

for the lease of the aircraft for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008

Year Ended

December 31

2009 2008

In thousands

Lease payments 181 601

Operating and maintenance expenses 456 1313

Reimbursed by officers 321 561

Total costs $316 $1353

The Company sells refined products to Transmountain Oil Company L.C Transmountain refined

products distributor in the El Paso area An entity controlled by the Companys majority stockholder acquired

61.1% interest in Transmountain on June 30 2004 and acquired the remaining interest in February 2008 On

November 18 2008 Transmountain was sold to another entity and is no longer related party to the Company All

accounts receivable were assumed by the third party on that date Sales to Transmountain for the period from

January through November 18 2008 were $80.9 million

The Company had entered into lease agreement with Transmountain pursuant to which Transmountain

leased certain office space from the Company The lease commenced on December 2005 for period of ten years

and contained two five-year renewal options The lease was assumed by third party as of November 18 2008 and

was subsequently terminated in March 2009 Rental payments received from Transmountain were less than

$0.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008

21 Contingencies

Environmental Matters

Like other petroleum refiners the Companys operations are subject to extensive and periodically changing

federal and state environmental regulations governing air emissions wastewater discharges and solid and

hazardous waste management activities The Companys policy is to accrue environmental and clean-up related

costs of non capital nature when it is probable that liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably

estimated Such estimates may be subject to revision in the future as regulations and other conditions change

Periodically the Company receives communications from various federal state and local governmental

authorities asserting violations of environmental laws and/or regulations These governmental entities may also

propose or assess fines or require corrective action for these asserted violations The Company intends to respond in

timely manner to all such communications and to take appropriate corrective action The Company does not

anticipate that any such matters currently asserted will have material adverse impact on its financial condition

results of operations or cash flows

Environmental remediation accruals are recorded in the current and long-term sections of the Companys
Consolidated Balance Sheets according to their nature As of December 31 2010 the company had environmental

liability accruals of $18.3 million of which $10.6 million is in accrued liabilities as current liability These
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liabilities have been recorded using an inflation factor of 2.7% and discount rate of 7.1% Environmental liabilities

of $1.3 million accrued at December 31 2010 have not been discounted As of December 31 2009 the Company

had environmental liability accruals of $28.6 million of which $8.0 million was in accrued liabilities as current

liability As of December 31 2010 the unescalated undiscounted environmental reserve related to these liabilities

totaled $23.0 million leaving $5.0 million to be accreted over time

The table below summarizes the Companys environmental liability accruals

December 31 Increase December 31
2009 Decrease Payments 2010

In thousands

Discounted liabilities $27249 $916 $9399 $16934

Undiscounted liabilities 1339 523 542 1320

Total environmental liabilities $28588 $393 $9941 $18254

The following table summarizes the Companys estimated undiscounted cash flows for accrued remediation

liabilities for each of the next five years and in the aggregate thereafter in thousands

2011 $11095

2012 969

2013 632

2014 633

2015 632

2016 and thereafter 9327

El Paso Refinery

The groundwater and certain solid waste management units and other areas at and adjacent to the El Paso

refinery have been impacted by prior spills releases and discharges of petroleum or hazardous substances and are

currently undergoing remediation by the Company and Chevron Products Company Chevron pursuant to

certain agreed administrative orders with the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality TCEQ Pursuant to

the Companys purchase of the north side of the El Paso refinery from Chevron Chevron retained responsibility to

remediate their solid waste management units in accordance with its Resource Conservation Recovery Act

RCRA permit which Chevron has fulfilled Chevron also retained liability for and control of certain

groundwater remediation responsibilities which are ongoing

In May 2000 the Company entered into an Agreed Order with the Texas Natural Resources Conservation

Commission now known as the TCEQ for remediation of the south side of the El Paso refinery property In August

2000 the Company purchased Pollution and Legal Liability and Clean Up Cost Cap Insurance policy at cost of

$10.3 million which was expensed in 2000 The policy is non-cancelable and covers environmental clean-up costs

related to contamination that occurred prior to December 31 1999 including the costs of the Agreed Order

activities The insurance provider assumed responsibility for all environmental clean-up costs related to the Agreed

Order up to $20 million In addition under settlement agreement with the Company subsidiary of Chevron is

obligated to pay 60% of any Agreed Order environmental clean-up costs that would otherwise have been covered

under the policy but that exceed the $20 million threshold Under the policy environmental costs outside the scope

of the Agreed Order are covered up to $20 million and require payment by the Company of deductible of

$0.1 million per incident as well as any costs that exceed the covered limits of the insurance policy

The U.S Environmental Protection Agency EPA has embarked on Petroleum Refinery Enforcement

Initiative EPA Initiative whereby it is investigating industry-wide noncompliande with certain Clean Air Act

rules The EPA Initiative has resulted in many refiners entering into consent decrees typically requiring penalties

and substantial capital expenditures for additional air pollution control equipment Since December 2003 the
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Company has been voluntarily discussing settlement pursuant to the EPA Initiative related to the El Paso refinery

Negotiations with the EPA regarding this Initiative have focused exclusively on air emission programs The

Company does not expect these negotiations to result in any soil or groundwater remediation or clean-up

requirements In May 2008 the EPA and the Company agreed on the basic EPA Initiative requirements related

to the Fluid Catalytic Cracking Unit FCCU and heaters and boilers that the Company expects will ultimately be

incorporated into final settlement agreement between the Company and the EPA Based on current negotiations

and information the Company estimates the total capital expenditures necessary to address the EPA Initiative issues

would be approximately $60.0 million of which $38.8 million has already been expended $15.2 million for the

installation of flare gas recovery system that was completed in 2007 and $23.6 million for nitrogen oxides

NOx emission controls on heaters and boilers was expended in 2008 and 2009 The Company estimates

remaining expenditures of approximately $21.2 million for the NOx emission controls on heaters and boilers from

2011 through 2013 This amount is included in the Companys estimated capital expenditures
for regulatory

projects and could change depending upon the actual final settlement reached The Company anticipates meeting

the EPA Initiative NOx requirements for the FCCU using catalyst additives and therefore does not expect additional

capital expenditures related to the EPA Initiative NOx requirements for the FCCU

The Company received proposed draft settlement agreement from the EPA in April 2009 In August 2009 the

EPA demanded penalties of $1.5 million As of December 31 2010 the Company had accrued $1.5 million related

to this matter As of February 25 2011 final settlement between the Company and the EPA relating to this matter

is still pending

In March 2008 the TCEQ notified the Company that it would present the Company with proposed Agreed

Order regarding six excess air emission incidents that occurred at the El Paso refinery during 2007 and early 2008

While at this time it is not known precisely how or when the Agreed Order may affect the Company the Company

may be required to implement corrective action under the Agreed Order and may be assessed penalties The

Company does not expect any penalties or corrective action requested to have material adverse effect on its

business financial condition or results of operations or that any penalties assessed or increased costs associated

with the corrective action will be material

In 2004 and 2005 the El Paso refinery applied for and was issued Texas Flexible Permit by the TCEQ
Flexible Permits program under which the refinery continues to operate Established in 1994 under the Texas Clean

Air Act the program grants operational flexibility to industrial facilities and permits the allocation of emissions on

facility-wide basis in exchange for emissions reduction and controlling previously unregulated grandfathered

emission sources The TCEQ submitted its Flexible Permits Program rules to the EPA for approval in 1994 and has

administered the program for 16 years with the EPAs full knowledge In May 2010 the El Paso refinery received

request from the EPA pursuant to Section 114 of the Clean Air Act seeking information about the refinerys air

permits The Company responded to the EPAs request in June 2010 Also in June 2010 the EPA disapproved the

TCEQ Flexible Permits Program In July 2010 the Texas Attomey General filed legal challenge to the EPAs

disapproval in federal appeals court asking for reconsideration Although the Company believes its Texas Flexible

Permit is federally enforceable the Company agreed in December 2010 to submit within one year an application to

TCEQ for permit amendment to obtain State Implementation Plan or SIP approved state air quality permit to

address concerns raised by the EPA about all flexible permits Sufficient time has not elapsed for the Company to

reasonably estimate any potential impact of these regulatory developments in the Texas air permits program

In September 2010 the Company received notice of intent to sue uqder the Clean Air Act from several

environmental groups While not entirely clear the notice apparently contends that the Companys El Paso refinery

is not operating under valid permit or permits because the EPA has disapproved the TCEQ Flexible Permits

program and that the Companys El Paso refinery may have exceeded certain emission limitations under these same

permits The Company disputes these claims and maintains its El Paso refinefy is properly operating and has not

exceeded emissions limitations under the validly issued TCEQ permits The Company intends to defend itself

accordingly
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Four Corners Refineries

Four Corners 2005 Consent Agreements In July 2005 as part of the EPA Initiative Giant reached an

administrative settlement with the New Mexico Environment Department NMED and the EPA in the form of

consent agreements that resolved certain alleged violations of air quality regulations at the Gallup and Bloomfield

refineries in the Four Corners area of New Mexico the 2005 NMED Agreement In January 2009 the Company

and the NMED agreed to an amendment of the 2005 administrative settlement with the NMED the 2009 NMED
Amendment which altered certain deadlines and allowed for alternative air pollution controls

In November 2009 the Company indefinitely suspended refining operations at the Bloomfield refinery The

Company currently operates the site as products distribution terminal and crude storage facility Bloomfield

continues to use some of the refinery equipment to support the terminal and to store crude for the Gallup refinery

The Company has begun negotiations with the NMED to revise the 200Q NMED Aniendment to reflect the

indefinite suspension

Based on current information and the 2009 NMED Amendment and favorably negotiating revision to reflect

the indefinite suspension of refining operations at the Bloomfield facility the Company estimates $1 7.6 million

total remaining capital expenditures will be required pursuant to the 2009 NMED Amendment Through 2010 the

Company has expended $5.9 million and expects to spend the remaining $11 .7 million during 2011 and 2012 These

capital expenditures will primarily be for installation of emission controls on the heaters boilers and FCCU and for

reducing sulfur in fuel gas to reduce emissions of sulfur dioxide NOx and particulate matter from the refineries

The 2009 NMED Amendment also provided for $2.4 million penalty The Company completed payment of the

penalty between November 2009 and September 2010 to fund Supplemental Environmental Project SEP The

Company does not expect implementation of the requirements in the 2005 NMED Agreement and the associated

2009 NMED Amendment will result in any soil or groundwater remediation or clean-up costs

Bloomfield 2007 NMED Remediation Order In July 2007 the Company received final administrative

compliance order from the NMED alleging that releases of contaminants and hazardous substances that have

occurred at the Bloomfield refinery over the course of its operation prior to June 2007 have resulted in soil and

groundwater contamination Among other things the order requires the Company to

investigate and determine the nature and extent of such releases of contaminants and hazardous substances

perform interim remediation measures or continue interim measures already begun to mitigate any

potential threats to human -health or the environment from such releases

identify and evaluate alternatives for corrective measures to clean up any contaminants and hazardous

substances released at the refinery and prevent or mitigate their migration at or from the site

implement any corrective measures that may be approved by the NMED

develop investigation work plans over period of approximately four years and

implement corrective measures pursuant to the investigation

The order recognizes that prior work satisfactorily completed may fulfill some of the foregoing requirements

In that regard the Company has already put in place some remediation measures with the approval of the NMED
and New Mexico Oil Conservation Division

Based on current information the Company estimates remaining undiscounted cost of $3.3 million for

implementing the investigation and interim measures of the order At December 31 2010 the Company had

liability of $2.5 million relating to the investigation and interim measures of the final order implementation costs

As of December 31 2010 the Company had expended $2.3 million to implement the order

Gallup 2007 Resource onservationol Recovery Act RCRA Inspection In September 2007 the Gallup

refinery was inspected jointly by the EPA and the NMED the Gallup 2007 RCRA Inspection to determine
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compliance with the EPAs hazardous waste regulations promulgated pursuant to the RCRA The Company reached

final settlement with the agencies in August 2009 and paid penalty of $0.7 million in October 2009 The

Company does not expect implementation of the requirements in the final settlement will result in any soil or

groundwater remediation or clean-up costs Based on current inforniation the Company estimates capital expen

ditures of approximately $15.4 million to upgrade the wastewater treatment plant at the Gallup refinery pursuant to

the requirements of the final settlement Through 2010 the Company has expended $4.2 million on the upgrade of

the wastewater treatment plan and expects to spend the remaining $11.2 million during 2011 and 2012 In April

2010 the Company submitted to the NMED for approval plan with the design and construction schedule to

upgrade the wastewater treatment plant The Company negotiated with the NMED and the EPA regarding

modifications to the plan issued by the NMED in its May 2010 approval letter which resulted in September

2010 modification to the August 2009 final settlement establishing May 2010 deadline for start up of the upgraded

wastewater treatment plant

Yorktown Refinery

Yorktown 1991 and 2006 Orders Giant and subsidiary company assumed certain liabilities and obligations

in connection with the 2002 urchasº of the Yorktown refinery from BP Corporation North America Inc and BP

Products North America Inc collectively BP and BP agreed to indemnify Giant for certain costs During 2007

BP disputed indemnification for certain costs In the related lawsuit styled Western Refining Yorktown Inc f/k/a

Giant Yorktown Inc BP Corporation North America Inc and BP Products North America Inc all claims and

counterclaims were voluntarily dismissed with prejudice in 2009 by mutual agreement of the parties

In August 2006 Giant agreed to the terms of the final administrative consent order pursuant to which Giant

would implement clean-up plan for the refinery Following the acquisition of Giant the Company completed the

first phase of the soil clean-up plan and negotiated revisions with the EPA for the remainder of the soil clean up

plan The Company anticipates completing the soil clean-up in 2011 The EPA issued an approval in January 2010

that allowed the Company to begin implementing its revised soil clean up plan during the second quarter of 2010

The January 2010 EPA approval and prior EPA approval in 2008 allowed adjustments to the cost estimates for the

groundwater monitoring plan and reductions to the Companys estimate of total remediation expenditures

The Company currently estimates that total remediation expenditures associated with the EPA order are

approximately $39.1 millioir Through December 2010 the Company has expended $22.7 million related to the

EPA order The Company currently anticipates further expenditures of$16.0 million primarily during 2011 with the

remainder over the next 29 years ending in 2040

Yorktown 2002 Amended Consent Decree In May 2002 Giant acquired the Yorktown refinery and assumed

certain environmental obligations including responsibilities under consent decree among various parties covering

many locations the Consent Decree entered in August 2001 under the EPA Initiative Parties to the Consent

Decree include the United States BP Exploration and Oil Co Amoco Oil Company and Atlantic Richfield

Company As applicable to the Yorktown refinery the Consent Decree required among other things reduction of

NOx sulfur dioxide and particulate matter emissions and upgrades to the refinerys leak detection and repair

program The Company does not expect implementation of the Consent Decree requirements will result in any
soil

ur groundwater remediatiun ur clean-up requirements Pursuant to the Cunsent Decree and priur tu May 31 2007

Giant had installed new sour water stripper and sulfur recovery unit with tail gas treating unit and an electrostatic

precipitator on the FCCU and had begun using sulfur dioxide emissions reducing catalyst additives in the FCCU
The Company believes additional capital expenditures will be required to complete implementation of the Consent

Decree requirements The current estimate of $5.0 million could differ significantly from what is required when

refining operations are resumed The Company does not expect completing the requirements of the Consent Decree

will result in material increased operating costs nor does it expect the completion of these requirements to have

material effect on its business financial condition or results of operations
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Yorktown EPA EPCRA Potential Enforcement Notice In January 2010 the EPA issued the Yorktown

refinery notice In show cause why the EPA should not hring an enforcement action pursuant to the notification

requirements under the Emergency Planning and Community Right to-Know Act related to two separate flaring

events that occurred in 2007 prior to the Companys acquisition of Giant The Company reached settlement with

the EPA for this enforcement notice for $0.2 million which was paid prior to December 31 2010

Legal Matters

Over the last several years lawsuits have been filed in numerous states alleging that methyl tertiary butyl ether

MTBE high octane blendstock used by many refiners in producing specially formulated gasoline has

contaminated water supplies and/or damaged natural resources subsidiary of the Company Western Refining

Yorktown Inc Western Yorktown is currently defendant in lawsuit brought by the State of New Jersey

alleging damage to the State of New Jerseys natural resources Western Yorktown denies these allegations and

intends to defend itself accordingly

Owners of small hotel in Aitec New Mexico filed lawsuit in San Juan County New Mexico alleging

migration of underground gasoline onto their property from underground storage tanks located on convenience

store property across the street which is owned by subsidiary of the Company Plaintiffs claim component of the

gasoline MTBE has contaminated their property as result of this release The Trial Court granted summary

judgment against Plaintiffs and dismissed all claims related to the alleged 1992 release On appeal by Plaintiffs to

the New Mexico Court of Appeals the Court reversed and reinstated certain of its claims but only to the extent they

relate to releases that occurred after January 1999

lawsuit has been filed in the Federal Disti ict Court for the Distiict of New Mexico by certain Plaintiffs who

allege the Bureau of Indian Affairs BIA acted improperly in approving certain rights of-way on land allotted to

the individual Plaintiffs by the Navajo Nation Arizona New Mexico and Utah Navajo Nation The lawsuit

names the Company and numerous other defendants Right of-Way Defendants and seeks imposition of

constructive trust and asserts these Right-of-Way Defendants are in trespass on the Allottees lands The Court

dismissed Plaintiffs claims in this matter Plaintiffs then attempted to re-file these claims with the Department of

Interior which also dismissed Plaintiffs claims Plaintiffs are now attempting to appeal this dismissal within the

Department of Interior The Company disputes these claims and will defend itself accordingly

In February 2009 subsidiaries of the Company Western Refining Pipeline Co Western Pipeline and

Western Refining Southwest Inc çWestern Southwest filed Compliant at the FERC against TEPPCO Crude

Pipeline LLC TEPPCO Pipeline and TEPPCO Crude Oil LLC TEPPCO Crude and collectively

TEPPCO asserting violations of the Interstate Commerce Act and breaches of contracts between the parties

including that TEPPCO Pipeline had wrongfully seized crude oil belonging to Western Southwest and wrongfully

taken pipeline capacity lease payments from Western Pipeline in cumulative amount in excess of $5 million After

filing this Complaint Western Pipeline and Western Southwest gave TEPPCO Pipeline and TEPPCO Crude

notification of termination of pipeline capacity lease agreements and crude oil purchase agreement with TEPPCO

Pipeline and TEPPCO Crude FERC dismissed the Complaint on the basis that it does not havejurisdiction Western

Pipeline and Western Southwest requested the FERC to reconsider its dismissal and the FERC has denied this

request for reconsideration Western Pipeline and Western Southwest have appealed the FERCs mling to the

United States Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals After the initial FERC dismissal TEPPCO Pipeline and TEPPCO

Crude filed lawsuit against Western Pipeline and Western Southwest in the Midland Texas District Court which

alleges breach of contract and seeks damages in excess of $16.4 million Western Pipeline and Western Southwest

believe their termination of the contracts was appropriate and believe that TEPPCO owes Western compensation for

the crude oil that TEPPCO wrongfully seized Western intends to defend itself against TEPPCOs claims

accordingly

In January 2011 13 current/former employees of the Companys Yorktown facility aserted that the elim

ination of temporary annuity supplement under the Companys cash balance plan was not permitted by the
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Employee Retirement Income Security Act ERISA These employees have filed an administrative claim with

the administrator of the Companys cash balance plan which is currently under review by the administrator These

same 13 employees have also filed charge of discrimination with the Norfolk Virginia Area Office of the Equal

Employment Opportunity Commission asserting that the above mentioned benefit changes to the cash balance plan

and the substitution of scverance benefits in lieu of retiree medical benefits which the Company made prior to the

shutdown of Yorktown facilities violated the Age Discrimination in Employment Act The Company does not think

there is any merit to this assertion and will defend itself accordingly

In July 2010 subsidiaries of the Company Western Southwest and Western Refining Company L.P were

sued in bankruptcy preference actions brought by the bankruptcy Litigation Trustee Trustee for former

customer of these subsidiaries These subsidiaries have reached an agreement to amicably resolve these preference

actions with the Trustee and the Company expects these claims to be voluntarily dismissed in the immediate future

Regarding the claims asserted against the Conipany referenced above potentially applicable factual and legal

issues have not been resolved the Company has yet to determine if liability is probable and the Company cannot

reasonably estimate the amount of any loss associated with these matters Accordingly the Company has not

recorded liability for these pending lawsuits

Union Matters

As of February 25 2011 the Company employed approximately 2950 people approximately 380 of whom

were covered by collective bargaining agreements Subject to Memorandum of Understanding dated August 23

2010 between Western Refining Yorktown Inc and the local union representing the covered Yorktown refinery

employees the collective bargaining agreement at the Yorktown refinery was terminated in connection with the

temporary suspension of refining activities at the Yorktown facility If the Company restarts refining operations at

the Yorktown facility prior to March 15 2012 the collective bargaining agreement for covered Yorktown

employees will be reinstated All separated covered employees have recall rights if the Company restarts Yorktown

refining operations prior to March 16 2012 In 2008 the Company successfully negotiated collective bargaining

agreements covering employees at the Gallup and Bloomfield refineries that expire in 2011 and 2012 respectively

Although the collective bargaining agreement remains in force the covered employees at the Bloomfield refinery

were terminated in connection with the indefinite suspension of refining operations at the Bloomfield refinery

during November 2009 The Company also successfully negotiated new collective bargaining agreement covering

employees at the El Paso refinery renewing the collective bargaining agreement that expired in April 2009 The

collective bargaining agreement covering the El Paso refinery employees expires in April 2012 While all of the

collective bargaining agreements contain no strike provisions those provisions are not effective in the event that

an agreement expires Accordingly the Company may not be able to prevent strike or work stoppage in the future

and any such work stoppage could have material adverse affect on the Companys business financial condition

and results of operations

Other Matters

The Company is party to various other claims and legal actions arising in the normal course of business The

Company believes that the resolution of these matters will not have material adverse effect on its financial

condition results of operations or cash flows

22 Concentration of Risk

Significant Customers

The Company sells variety of refined products to diverse customer base No qustomer
accounted for more

than 10% of consolidated net sales during the three years ended December 31 2010
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Sales by Product

All sales were domestic sales in the United States except for sales of gasoline and diesel fuel for export into

Mexico The sales for export were to PMI Trading Limited an affiliate of Petroleos Mexicanos the Mexican state-

owned oil company and accounted for approximately 8.3% 8.5% and 8.3% of consolidated sales during the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

The following table summarizes the percentages of all refined product sales to total sales for the three years

ended December 31 2010

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Refined products

Gasoline 54.8% 56.5% 48.1%

Diesel fuel 31.0 29.4 37.5

Jet fuel 4.3 3.5 4.4

Asphalt 1.7 1.9 0.8

Other 33 33 15

95.5 95.0 96.3

Lubricants 1.2 1.6 1.5

Merchandise and other 3.3 3.4 2.2

Total lOft0% lOft 0% lOft 0%

23 Operating Leases and Other Commitments

The Company has commitments under various operating leases with initial terms greater than one year for

buildings warehouses card locks barges railcars and other facilities These leases have terms that will expire on

various dates through 2030

The Company expects that in the normal course of business these leases will be renewed or replaced by other

leases Certain of the Companys lease agreements provide for the fair value purchase of the leased asset at the end

of lease Rent expense for operating-leases that provide for periodic rent escalations or rent holidays over the term of

the lease is recognized on straight line basis

In the normal course of business the Company also has long-term commitments to purchase services such as

natural gas electricity water and transportation services for use by its refineries at market-based rates The

Company also is party to various refined product and cmde oil supply and exchange agreements

In June 2005 Western Refining LP entered into sulfuric acid regeneration and sulfur gas processing

agreement with E.I du Pont de Nemours DuPont Under the agreement Western Refining LP has long-term

commitment to purchase services for use by its El Paso refinery In exchange for this commitment DuPont agreed to

design construct and operate two sulfuric acid regeneration plants on property leased from the Company at the

El Paso refinery In November 2008 the Company began processing all sulfur gas from the north side of the El Paso

refinery at the DuPont facility In January 20u9 the Company began processing all sulfur gas from the south side of

the El Paso refinery at the DuPont facility The annual commitment for these serviceswill range from $14.0 million

to $16.0 million per year over the next 20 years Prior to this agreement Western Refining LP incurred direct

operating expenses related to sulfuric acid regeneration under short-term agreement

In August 2005 Western Refining LP entered into throughput and distributibn agreement and associated

storage agreement with Magellan Pipeline Company L.P Under these agreements Western RQfining LP has long

term commitment that began in February 2006 to provide for the transportation and storage of alkylate and other
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refined products from the Gulf Coast to the Companys El Paso refinery via the Magellan South System pipeline

Western Refining LP is committed to pay $2.6 milliun per quarter through the end uf the agreement in February

2011

As result of the Giant acquisition subsidiary of the Company is party to ten-year lease agreement for an

administrative office building in Scottsdale Arizona that ends in 2013 During 2008 the Company entered into an

agreement to subleasc portion of this property for $0.3 million annually from February 15 2009 through

October 31 2013 The rental payments for this property have been included as part of our estimated rental payments

in the table below

In November 2007 subsidiary of the Company entered into ten
year

lease agreement for an office space in

downtown El Paso The building will serve as the Companys headquarters In December 2007 subsidiary of the

Company entered into an eleven-year lease agreement for an office building in Tempe Arizona The building

centralized the Companys operational and administrative offices in the Phoenix area

The following are the Companys annual minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases that

have lease terms of one year or more in thousands

2011 $16059

2012 13025

2013 10693

2014 9045

2015 7270

2016 and thereafter 38413

Total rental expense was $15.7 million $16.1 million and $17.0 million for the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Contingent rentals and subleases were not significant in any year

24 Quarterly Financial Information Unaudited

Demand for gasoline is generally higher during the summer months than during the winter months In addition

higher volumes of ethanol are blended to the gasoline produced in the Southwest region during the winter months

thereby increasing the suppl of gasoline This combination of decreased demand and increased supply during the

winter months can lower gasoline prices As result the Companys operating results for the first and fourth

calendar quarters are generally lower than those for the second and third calendar quarters of each year The effects

of seasonal demand for gasoline are partially offset by increased demand during the winter months for diesel fuel in

the Southwest and heating oil in the Northeast During 2010 the volatility in crude oil prices and refining margins

also contributed to the variability of the Companys results of operations for the four calendar quarters

During the latter part of March 2010 the Company reversed $14.7 million related to its accrued bonus estimate

for 2009 This revision of the Companys 2009 bonus estimate reduced direct operating expenses exclusive of

depreciation and amortization and selling general and administrative
expenses reported for the three months

ended March 31 2010 by $8.5 million and $6.2 million respectively During the fourth quarter of 2009 we

recovered lOb million from various third parties related to environmental costs recorded during 2009 and prior

years These recoveries are included in direct operating expenses reported for the three months ended December 31

2009 Additionally during the third quarter of 2009 we decreased our property tax expense estimate by $5.5 million

resulting from revised El Paso property appraisal rolls for 2006 through 2008 The revision to the property appraisal

rolls also resulted in refund of $2.9 million from various taxing authoritiqs further reducing our property tax

expense for total decrease of $8.4 million for the quarter ended September 30 2009 We also recorded fourth

quarter 2009 legal settlement charge of $20.0 million which was included in other income expense net
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Year Ended December 31 2010

Quarter

First Second Third Fourth

Unaudited

In thousands except for share data

Net sales $1915395 $2145337 $2038296 $1866025

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation

and amortization 1765461 1906941 1807411 1676154

Direct operating expenses exclusive of

depreciation and amortization 106980 113968 116982 106601

Selling general and administrative
expenses 16501 21072 24031 22571

Other impairment losses 3963 9075

Maintenance turnaround expense 23286

Depreciation and amortization 34282 34759 35253 34327

Total operating costs and
expenses 1946510 2076740 1987640 1848728

Operating income loss 31.115 68597 50656 17297

Other income expense

Interest income 30 136 151 124

Interest expense and other financing costs 36774 37295 37099 35381

Amortization of loan fees 2414 2420 2453 2452
Other income expense net 294 4213 712 2655

Income loss before income taxes 70567 33231 11967 17757

Provision for income taxes 39878 18878 5108 10185

Net income loss 30689 14353 6859 7572

Basic earnings loss per common share 0.35 0.16 0.08 0.09

Diluted earnings loss per common share 0.35 0.16 0.08 0.09
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WESTERN REFINING INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Year Ended December 31 2009

Quarter

First Second Third Fourth

Unaudited
tn thousands except for share data

Net sales $1368198 $1583545 $1896273 $1959352

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of products sold exclusive of depreciation

and amortization 1047831 1368380 1699399 1828518

Direct operating expenses exclusive of

depreciation and amortization 133538 123940 116717 111969

Selling general and administrative expenses 35018 27160 23725 23794

Goodwill impairment losses 299552

Other impairment losses 52788

Maintenance turnaround expense 104 3218 1031 3735

Depreciation and amortization 34240 40417 34725 36599

Total operating costs and expenses 1250731 1862667 1875597 2057403

Operating income loss 117467 279122 20676 98051

Other income expense

Interest income 143 37 17 51

Interest expense and other financing costs 27055 27968 33024 33274

Amortization of loan fees 1554 1483 1795 2038
Write-off of unamortized loan fees 9047
Other income expense net 922 3711 39 19778

Income loss before income taxes 89923 313872 14165 153090

Provision for income taxes 30995 6555 9383 55640

Net income loss 58928 307317 4782 97450

Basic earnings loss per common share 0.26 4.24 0.05 11

Diluted earnings loss per common share 0.86 4.24 0.05 1.11
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Item Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer

after evaluating the effectiveness of the Companys disclosure controls and procedures as defined in the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e as of December 31 2010 the Evaluation Date
concluded that as of the Evaluation Date our disclosure controls and procedures were effective

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Included herein under the caption

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting on page 71 of this report

Changes in internal control over financial reporting There were no changes in our internal control over

financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31 2010 that materially affected or are

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Certain information required in this Part III is incorporated by reference to Western Refining Inc.s Definitive

Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within

120 days after the end of the fiscal
year

covered by this report

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information contained in Western

Refining Inc.s 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement under the headings Election of Directors and Executive

Compensation and Other Information

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information contained in Western

Refining Inc.s 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading Executive Compensation and Other

Information

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the infortnation contained in Western

Refining Inc.s 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial

Owners and Management
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Number of

securities

remaining available

Number of for future issuance

cecurities to be under equity

issued upon Weighted average compensation plans

exercise of exercise price of excluding

outstanding outstanding securities

options warrants options warrants reflected in column

Plan Category and rights and rights

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders 3829843

Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders

Total 3829843

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information contained in Western

Refining Inc.s 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information contained in Western

Refining Inc.s 2010 Definitive Proxy Statement under the heading Proposal Ratification of Independent

Auditor

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements

See Index to Financial Statements included in Item

The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated by reference herein

Number Exhibit Title

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 26 2006 by and among Western Refining Inc New

Acquisition Corporation and Giant Industries Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 28 2006

2.2 Amendment No to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated November 12 2006 by and among
Western Refining Inc New Acquisition Corporation and Giant Industries Inc incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

November 13 2006

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 24 2006

3.2 Bylaws of the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 24 2006

4.1 Specimen of Company Common Stock Certificate incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on December 2005 SEC File

No 333-128629
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Number Exhibit Title

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement dated January 24 2006 by and between the Company and each of the

stockholders listed on the signature pages
thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 25 2006 SEC File

No 001-32721

4.3 Indenture dated June 10 2009 between Western Refining Inc and The Bank of New York Mellon

Trust Company N.A as trustee incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 2009

4.4 Supplemental Indenture dated June 10 2009 between Western Refining Inc and The Bank of New York

Mellon Trust Company N.A as trustee incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 10 2009

4.5 Form of Convertible Senior Note included in Exhibit 4.4

4.6 Indenture dated June 12 2009 among Western Refining Inc the Guarantors named therein and The

Bank of New York Mellon Trnst Company N.A as trnstee paying agent registrar and transfer agent

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form filed on

June 15 2009

4.7 Form of 11.25% Senior Secured Note included in Exhibit 4.6

4.8 Form of Senior Secured Floating Rate Note included in Exhibit 4.6

10.lt Employment Agreement dated January 24 2006 by and between Western Refining GP LLC and Paul

Foster incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on Janudry 25 2006 SEC File No 001 32721

l0.l.lt First Amendment to the Employment Agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.1 dated December 28 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.1 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 2007 SEC File No 001-32721

l0.1.2t Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.1 dated December 31
2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10 filed

with the SEC on March 2007 SEC File No 001-32721

0.2t Employment Agreement dated January 24 2006 by and between Western Refining GP LLC and Jeff

Stevens incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on January 25 2006 SEC File No 001-32721

10.2.lt First Amendment to the Employment Agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.2 dated December 28 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 2007 SEC File No 001-32721

10.2.2t Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.2 dated December 31
2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.2 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed

with the SEC on March 13 2007 SEC File No 001-32721

l0.3t Employment Agreement dated January 24 2006 by and between Western Refining GP LLC and Scott

Weaver incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the SEC on January 25 2006 SEC File No 001-32721

l0.3.lt First Amendment to the Employment Agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.3 dated December 28 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 2007 SEC File No 001-32721

03.2t Letter of Termination of Employment Agreement dated December 31 2007 between Western Refining

GP LLC and Scott Weaver incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.2 to the Companys Annual

Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 29 2008

10.4t Employment Agreement dated January 24 2006 by and between Western Refining GP LLC and Gary

Dalke incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Companys Current Report on Form filed

with the SEC on January 25 2006 SEC File No 001-32721

lO.4.lt First Amendment to the Employment Agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.4 dated December 31 2008

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4.1 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 13 2007 SEC File No 001-32721
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Number Exhibit Title

lOSt Employment Agreement dated January 24 2006 by and between Western Refining GP LLC and

Lowry Barfield incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 25 2006 SEC File No 001-32721

10.5.lt First Amendment to the Employment Agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.5 dated December 31 2008

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.1 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 13 2007 SEC File No 001-32721

10.6 Term Loan Credit Agreement dated May 31 2007 among Western Refining Inc Bank of America

N.A as administrative agent and the lenders party thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2007 SEC File

No 001-32721

10.6.1 First Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of June 30 2008 by and among Western

Refining Inc the lenders party thereto and Bank of America N.A as the Administrative Agent

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on July 2008

10.0.2 Second Amendment to term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of May 29 2009 among the Company as

Borrower the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America N.A as Administrative

Agent amending that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement dated May 31 2007 as amended by the

First Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of June 30 2008 incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on May 29 2009

10.6.3 Third Amendment to the Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of November 24 2009 among the

Company as Borrower the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America N.A as

Administrative Agent amending that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement dated May 31 2007 as

amended by the First Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of June 30 2008 and the

Second Amendment to the Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of May 29 2009 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on November 24 2009

10.7 Revolving Credit Agreement dated May 31 2007 among Western Refining Inc Bank of America

N.A as administrative agent swing line lender and LIC issuer and the lenders party thereto

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on June 2007 SEC File No 001-32721

10.7.1 First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 30 2008 by and among Western

Refining Inc the lenders party thereto and Bank of America N.A as the Administrative Agent Swing

Line Lender L/C Issuer and Lender incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 2008

10.7.2 Second Amendment to the Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of May 29 2009 among the Company
as Borrower the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America N.A as Administrative

Agent Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer amending that certain Revolving Credit Agreement dated

May 31 2007 as amended by the First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 30
2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 29 2009

10.7.3 Third Amendment to the Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of November 24 2009 among the

Company as Borrower the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America N.A as

Administrative Agent Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer amending that certain Revolving Credit

Agreement dated May 31 2007 as amended by the First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement

dated as of June 30 2008 and the Second Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of

May 292009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 24 2009
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Number Exhibit Title

10.7.4 Fourth Amendment to the Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of February 18 2010 among the

Company as Borrowei the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America NA as

Administrative Agent Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer amending that certain Revolving Credit

Agreement dated May 31 2007 as amended by the First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement

dated as of June 30 2008 the Second Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of May 29
2009 and the Third Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of November 24 2009

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.4 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 12 2010 SEC File No 00 1-32721

10.7.5 Fifth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of December 23 2010 among the Company
as Borrower the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America N.A as Administrative

Agent Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer amending that certain Revolving Credit Agreement dated

May 31 2007 as amended by the First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 30
2008 the Second Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of May 29 2009 and the Third

Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of November 24 2009 and the Fourth

Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated February 18 2010 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form filed with the SEC on December 28 2010

SEC File No 001-32721

10.8 L/C Credit Agreement dated as of June 30 2008 among Western Refining Inc Bank of America N.A
as Administrative Agent and L/C Issuer and the lenders party thereto incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on July 2008

0.9t Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and each director and officer of the

Company party thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Companys Current Report on

Form filed with the SEC on January 25 2006 SEC File No 001-32721

10.10 Operating Agreement dated May 1993 by and between Western Refining LP and Chevron U.S.A

Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Companys Registration Statement on

Form S-hA filed with the SEC on November 2005 SEC File No 333-128629

10.11 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated May 29 2003 by and among Chevron U.S.A Inc Chevron Pipe

Line Company Western Refining LP and Kaston Pipeline Company L.R incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.11 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on

November 2005 SEC File No 333-128629

10.12 Lease Agreement dated October 242005 by and between Western Refining LP and Transmountain Oil

Company L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Companys Registration Statement on

Form I/A filed with the SEC on November 2005 SEC File No 333-128629

10.14t RHC Holdings L.E Long-Term Unit Equity Appreciation Rights Plan dated August 25 2003

incorporated by rØTerence to Exhibit 10.13 to the Companys Registration Statement on

Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on November 2005 SEC File No 333-128629

10.1St RHC Holdings L.P Long-Term Equity Appreciation Rights Award dated August 25 2003 by and

between Gary Dalke and RHC Holdings L.P incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on November 2005 SEC File

No 333 128629

10.16t Long-Term Equity Appreciation Rights Award Amendment Agreement dated November 2005 by

and between Gary Dalke RHC Holdings L.P the Company and Western Refining LP incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1/A filed with the

SEC on December 2005 SEC File No 333 128629

10.1 7t Long-Term Equity Appreciation Rights Award Second Amendment Agreement dated December 31
2005 by and between Gary Dalke the Company and Western Refining LP incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.24 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on

January 2006 SEC File No 333-128629

10.1 8t Long Term Equity Appreciation Rights Awards Third Amendment Agreement dated December 22

2006 by and between Gary Dalke the Company and Western Refining LP incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.16 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 2007
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Number Exhibit Title

10.19t Western Refining Long-Term Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 24 2006

10.19.lt First Amendment to the Western Refining Long Term Incentive Plan referred to in Exhibit 10.19 dated

December 2007 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19.1 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 13 2009 SEC File No 001-32721

lO.19.2t Second Amendment to the Western Refining Long-Term Incentive Plan referred to in Exhibit 10.19

dated November 20 2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19.2 to the Companys Annual

Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 13 2009 SEC File No 001-32721

10.20t Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on December 2005 SEC
File No 333-128629

lO.21t Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form S-hA filed with the SEC on December 2005 SEC File

No 333-128629

10.22 Letter Agreement dated June 24 2005 by and between Western Refining Company L.P and Ascarate

Group LLP incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Companys Registration Statement on

Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on November 2005 SEC File No 333-128629

10.23 Promissory Note dated June 24 2005 by Ascarate Group LLP in favor of Western Refining LP

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form I/A

filed with the SEC on November 2005 SEC File No 333-128629

10.24t Summary of Compensation for Non Employee Directors incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to

the Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on November 2005 SEC
File No 333-128629

10.25 Form of Time Share Agreement dated November 20 2004 by and between Western Refining LP and

the persons parties thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-hA filed with the SEC on December 2005 SEC File No 333-128629

10.26 Consulting and Non-Competition Agreement dated August 26 2006 by and between the Company and

Fred Holliger incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 28 2006

10.26.1 Amendment No to the Consulting and Non-Competition Agreement dated November 12 2006 by

and between Western Refining Inc and Fred Holliger incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to

the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 13 2006

10.27t Employment agreement effective August 28 2006 made by and between Western Refining GP LLC

and Mark Smithjincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 16 2006

10.27.1 First Amendment to the Employment Agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.27 dated December 31 2008

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27.1 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 31 2009 SEC File No 001-32721

10.28 Non-Exclusive Aircraft Lease Agreement dated October 2006 by and between Western Refining LP

and Franklin Mountain Assets LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 14 2006

10.29t Employment agreement dated November 2008 made by and between Western Refining GP LLC and

Mark Cox incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on

Form lO-Q filed with the SEC on November 2008

10 30t Empinyment agreement dated November 2002 made by and between Western Refining GP LLC and

William Jewell incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Quarterly Report on

Form l0-Q filed with the SEC on November 2008

l0.31t Employment agreement dated March 2010 made by and between Western Refining GP LLC and

Jeffrey Beyersdorfer incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 12 2010 SEC File No 001-32721
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10.32t Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement between the Company and Participant under the 2010

Incentive Plan of Western Refining Inc

10.33ff Form of Western Refining Inc Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement between the Company and

Participant under the 2010 Incentive Plan nf Western Refining Inc

10.34t 2010 Incentive Plan of Western Refining Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 27 2010

12.1 Statements of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

21.1 List of Subsidiaries incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 29 2008 SEC File No 001-32721

23.1 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP dated March 2011

31.1 Certification Statement of Chief Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification Statement of Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes Oxley Act of 20U2

32.1 Certification Statement of Chief Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification Statement of Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

All financial statement schedules are omitted because the required information is not present or is not

present
in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule or because the information required is

included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto

The Companys 2010 Annual Report is available upon request Stockholders of the Company may obtain

copy of any exhibits to this Form 10-K at charge of $0.10 per page Requests should be made to Investor

Relations Western Refining Inc 123 Mills Ave Suite 200 El Paso Texas 79901
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authori7ed

WESTERN REFINING INC

Signature Title

Is JEFF STEVENS Chief Executive Officer and President March 2011

Jeff Stevens

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title

Is JEFF STFVENS

Jeff Stevens

Chief Executive Officer President and

Director Principal Executive Officer

March 2011

Is GARY DALKE

Gary Dalke

Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

March 2011

Is PAUL FOSTER Executive Chairman and Director March 2011

Paul Foster

Is Scorr WEAVER

Scott Weaver

Vice President and Director March 2011

Is WILLIAM JEwELL

William Jewell

Chief Accounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

March 2011

Is CARIN BARTH Director March 2011

Carin Barth

Ralph Schmidt

Director

Director

Director

Director

March 2011

March 2011

March 2011

March 2011

Date

Date

Is FREDERICK FRANCIS

Frederick Francis

Is BRIAN HOGAN

Brian Hogan

Is WILLIAM SANDERS

William Sanders

Is RALPH SCHMIDT
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DIRECTORS

Paul Foster Chairman of the Bnard Western Refining Inc

Jeff Stevens President and Chief Executive Officer Western Refining Inc

Carin Barth President LB
Capital

Inc

Frederick Francis Executive Chairman Bank of the West El Paso

Brian Hogan President Hogan Truck Leasing Inc

William Sanders Chairman Strategic Management Partners

and Strategic
Growth

Banhing
LLC

Ralph Schmidt Former Chief Operating Officer Retired Western Refining Inc

Scott Weaver Vice President Assistant Treasurer and Assistant Secretary

Western Refining Inc

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Paul Foster Executive Chairman

Jeff Stevens President and Chief Executive Officer

Mark Smith President-Refining and
Marheting

Lowry Barfield Senior Vice President-Legal General Counsel and Secretary

Jeffrey Beyersdorfer Senior Vice President Treasurer Director of Investor Relations

Gary Dalke Chief Financial Officer

William Jewel Chief Accounting Officer

Scott Weaver Vice President Assistant Treasurer and Assistant Secretary

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

West em Refining Inc

123 West Mills Avenue Suite 200

El Paso Teoas 79901

Telephone f915 534-1400

wnr.com

TRANSFER AGENT REGISTRAR

FOR COMMON STOCK

American Stock Transfer Trust Company

Postal Address

59 Maiden Lane

Plaaa Level

New York New York 10038

TRANSFER AGENT OVERNIGHT ADDRESS

Operations Center

5201 15th Avenue

Brooklyn New York 11219

Telephone f800 937-5449

Facsimile f718 236-2641

amstock.com



Corporate Headquarters

Western Refining Inc

123 West Mills Avenue Suite 200
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS INC

2010 ANNUAL REPORT



Dear Shareholders

2010 was very significant year
.for Merit Medical

Systems Inc Merit continued its growth in difficult

environment by introducing new products expanding

geographically
and completing strategic acquisitions

Highlights include

Opening an office in Beijing China

Hitting record revenues of $296.8 million

Introducing several new innovative products

Completing the acquisition of

BioSphere Medical Inc

The introduction of the Merit Laureate

Hydrophilic Guide Wire the ASAPTM Thrombus

Aspiration Catheter and the EN Snare Endovascular

Snare System establish three new technologies that will

provide growth and platform for new products in

the future


